## **Flagship Report**

## Twenty years of UK governance programmes in Nigeria

## Achievements, challenges, lessons and implications for future support

Laure-Hélène Piron, Clare Cummings, Gareth Williams, Helen Derbyshire and Sierd Hadley

October 2021

















Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

How to cite: Piron, L.-H., Cummings, C., Williams, G., Derbyshire, H. and Hadley, S. (2021) Twenty years of UK Governance Programmes in Nigeria: Achievements, challenges, lessons and implications for future support. ODI report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/en/publications/ twenty-years-of-uk-governance-programmes-in-nigeria-achievements-challenges-lessons-andimplications-for-future-support)

Cover photography: All rights reserved: PERL

## Acknowledgements

#### About this publication

This Flagship report is the outcome of a collective effort. The research team was led by Laure-Hélène Piron, lead author of the synthesis report and co-author of the Jigawa case study together with Suwaiba Said Ahmad. Synthesis co-authors include Clare Cummings, who prepared the literature review and wrote the Kaduna and Kano case studies in collaboration with Sunny Kulutuye; Gareth Williams, who researched the Yobe case study with Imrana Alhaji Buba and led the analysis of outcomes indicators; Helen Derbyshire, who led the analysis of UK governance, health and education programme interventions and approaches, as well as social development dimensions; and Sierd Hadley, who prepared a background paper on fiscal federalism and provided advice on public financial management and aid data. Tobechukwu Nneli was the project manager and provided valuable research assistance. Michael Mbate analysed quantitative data. Tom Aston provided advice on research and evaluation methods, in particular the realist synthesis methodology.

The project benefited from wise steering and advice from Myani Bukar, LEAP National Team Leader, Kathryn Nwajiaku-Dahou, Director, ODI Politics and Governance Programme, and Alina Rocha Menocal, LEAP Programme Director and Flagship peer reviewer. Earlier ODI/ LEAP contributors to the research project shaped the original concept, research methods and questions; we would like to recognise Katherine Bain, Tim Kelsall, Andrew Lawson, Marcus Manuel and Bryn Welham.

The research team would also like to thank PERL delivery teams and members of the PERL Research Advisory Panel who were interviewed, facilitated access to documentation and state stakeholders and who took part in validation sessions.

The authors appreciated very helpful guidance and feedback from the External Advisory Group: Oladipupo Adamolekun, Patricia Donli, Rosie McGee, Graham Teskey and Leni Wild.

The research project would not have taken place without the support and useful feedback from Sonya Maldar, Chris Okeke and Sam Waldock, FCDO Nigeria.

The project has benefited from communications and publication support from Paola Abis, Hannah Bass, Emma Carter, Deborah Eade, Aaron Griffiths, Sara Hussain, Marcus Langley, Onyinye Okakwu, Jessica Rennoldson, and Nick Martin from Youbiquity.

This report is dedicated to the memory of Florence Piron.

## Contents

Acknowledgements / i

Display items / iii

Acronyms/Glossary / iv

Executive summary / viii

- 1 Introduction / 1
- 2 Theory of change: how can governance interventions affect governance, health and education outcomes? / 4
  - 2.1 Governance and the service delivery chain / 4
  - 2.2 Identifying causal mechanism / 6
  - 2.3 Which governance processes did UK programmes target? / 11

#### 3 The evolving Nigerian contexts (2000–2020) / 14

- 3.1 The Nigerian federal context / 14
- 3.2 Fiscal federalism and service delivery responsibilities / 17
- 3.3 Northern Nigeria: common contextual factors / 20
- 3.4 Summary of contextual factors / 23

4 Governance, health and education interventions and programmes (2000–2020) / 25

- 4.1 Trends in international assistance to Nigeria / 25
- 4.2 Overview of UK programming in Nigeria / 27
- 4.3 Three generations of governance programmes / 28

#### 5 What outcomes have been achieved in the four states? / 33

- 5.1 Core governance outcomes / 35
- 5.2 Health and education intermediate outcomes / 36
- 5.3 Health and education final outcomes / 38
- 5.4 Which groups have benefited from these outcomes? / 39

#### 6 How have UK governance programmes contributed to outcomes? / 40

- 6.1 How have governance interventions contributed to governance outcomes? / 41
- 6.2 How have governance interventions contributed to health and education outcomes? / 47
- 6.3 For whom have there been improvements? / 55
- 6.4 Which combinations of factors affected outcomes? / 56
- 7 UK governance programmes' ways of working / 61
  - 7.1 Thinking and working politically / 62

- 7.2 Governance and sector programmes working together / 69
- 7.3 Gender and social inclusion, and federal-state linkages / 72

## 8 Conclusions, lessons and recommendations / 74

- 8.1 Conclusions and lessons / 74
- 8.2 Recommendations / 78

Bibliography / 82

Appendix 1 List of Interviewees / 98

## Display items

#### Boxes

Box 1 Research questions / 2
Box 2 What is a political settlement? / 17
Box 3 UK governance programmes in case-study states / 31
Box 4 UK health and education programmes in case studies / 32
Box 5 Incentives through the State Fiscal Transparency Accountability and Sustainability (SFTAS)
Program for Results / 43
Box 6 Understanding increases in state health and education budgets from a fiscal perspective / 49
Box 7 What does thinking and working politically (TWP) mean? / 62
Box 8 Thinking and working politically: evolution and evaluation of approaches / 63
Box 9 Illustrations of causal mechanisms from the case studies / 66
Box 10 Evolution of approaches / 70

#### Tables

Table 1 Mechanisms motivating state-level stakeholders / 9

 Table 2 Socioeconomic indicators / 22

**Table 3** Presidents and State Governors (1999–present) / 23

Table 4 Summary of contextual factors in the analysis / 24

Table 5 Key trends for intermediate outcomes in core governance / 35

Table 6 Key trends for intermediate outcomes in health and education sector governance / 37

**Table 7** Key trends for health and education outcomes / 38

Table 8 Percentage of scored indicators with sustained improvements or good performance / 39

Table 9 Illustrations of causal mechanisms from the case studies / 57

## Figures

Figure 1 Nigeria: service delivery chain / 6

Figure 2 Context, interventions, mechanisms and outcomes combinations / 8

Figure 3 Focus of UK governance and sector governance interventions / 13

Figure 4 Nigeria World Governance Indicators 2000–2019 / 16

Figure 5 Nigeria and four-case study states / 20

Figure 6 Aid and general government revenues 2002–2017 / 27

Figure 7 Timeline of UK aid to Nigeria by state and sector / 28

## Acronyms/Glossary

ANPP	All Nigeria Peoples Party						
APC	All Progressives Congress						
APP	All Peoples Party						
ARC	Accountable, Responsive and Capable government pillar (PERL)						
ASC	Annual School Census						
BESDA	Better Education Services for All						
BHCPF	Basic Healthcare Provision Fund						
С	Context						
CBDD	Capacity Building for Democracy and Development						
СВО	Community-Based Organisation						
CIA	Constituency Influencing Assessment						
CSO	Civil Society Organisation						
CUBE	Capacity Building for Universal Basic Education						
DFID	UK Department for International Development						
DHS	Demographic and Health Survey						
DoC	Drivers of Change						
ECP	Engaged Citizens pillar (PERL)						
E&A	Empowerment and Accountability						
EDOREN	Education, Data, Research and Evaluation in Nigeria						
ESSPIN	Education Sector Support Programme in Nigeria						
FCBPE	Free and Compulsory Basic and Post-Basic Education						
FCDO	UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office						
GA	Government Assessment						
GDP	Gross Domestic Product						
GEP	Girls Education Programme						
GNI	Gross National Income						
HRM	Human Resources Management						
I	Intervention						
IGR	Internally Generated Revenue						
IMEP	Independent Monitoring and Evaluation Project						

**ISWAP** Islamic State West Africa Province

KADMAM Kaduna Maternal Accountability Mechanism

 $\textbf{KADBEAM} \textbf{K} aduna \ \textbf{State Basic Education Accountability Mechanism}$ 

LEAP	Learning, Evidence and Advocacy Partnership (PERL)					
LGA	Local Government Area					
М	Mechanism					
MDA	Ministries, Departments and Agencies					
MNCH	Maternal Newborn and Child Health Programme					
MSC	Most Significant Change study (PERL)					
MTEF	Medium Term Expenditure Framework					
MTSS	Medium Term Sector Strategy					
M4D	Mobilising for Development					
NENTAD	North East Nigeria Transition to Development					
NSBTS	Nigerian States Budget Transparency Survey					
0	Outcome					
ODA	Official Development Assistance					
PATHS	Partnership for Transforming Health Systems					
PbR	Payment by Results					
PCR	Project Completion Report					
PDP	People's Democratic Party					
PEA	Political Economy Analysis					
PEFA	Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability					
PERL	Partnership to Engage, Reform and Learn					
РНС	Primary Health Care					
PFM	Public Financial Management					
PLANE	Partnership for Learning for All in Nigerian Education					
PRRINN-	<b>MNCH</b> Partnership for Reviving Routine Immunisation in NorthernNigeria–Maternal Newborn and Child Health					
PMP	Project Monitoring Partnership					
PHCUOR	Primary Healthcare Under One Roof					
PSM	Public Sector Management					
PWD	People with Disabilities					
SAVI	State Accountability and Voice Initiative					
CEAT	Solf Evaluation Accordment Tool					

**SEAT** Self Evaluation Assessment Tool

SHoA State House of Assembly

SIP Sector Investment Plan

- **SLGP** State and Local Government Programme
- **SLP** State Level Programme
- **SOML** Saving One Million Lives
- **SPARC** State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability

SPHCDA/BState Primary Health Care Development Agency/Board

- SUBEB State Universal Basic Education Board
- TA (Flagship) Team Assessment
- **TDP** Teacher Development Programme

ToC Theory of Change

- **TWP** Thinking and Working Politically
- **UBE** Universal Basic Education
- **UBEC** Universal Basic Education Commission
- **UBE-IF** Universal Basic Education Investment Fund
- UK United Kingdom
- W4H Women for Health

## Executive summary

This Flagship report analyses 20 years of governance programmes in Nigeria funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) and the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) in the North-western states of **Jigawa** (since 2001), **Kano** (since 2005) and **Kaduna** (since 2006), as well as the North-eastern state of **Yobe** (since 2011).

The report's **main research question** is whether, how, under what conditions and for whom UK-funded state-level governance programmes in Nigeria have contributed to sustained changes in governance, and related changes in health and education.

Chapter 2 presents the **methodology**, which combines realist synthesis with process-tracing. The research aims to identify the **contextual factors** and **causal mechanisms** that help to explain how UK **governance interventions** can contribute to **improving governance**, **health and education outcomes** by influencing the service delivery chain that connects the Nigerian federal, state and local governments to frontline service providers and to users of health and education services.

Chapter 3 sets out the **context** for UK interventions, both at the federal level and in the four Northern states. Nigeria's competitive clientelist political settlements explain both the power of State Governors and the constraints they face. **Kaduna and Kano** are large states of national influence; they are more populated, urban, richer and more politically competitive than poor and rural **Jigawa and Yobe**. Chapter 4 presents more detailed information on UK development assistance in Nigeria. The UK has been the largest bilateral donor to health, education and governance from 2002 to 2018. Three generations of governance programmes have included the State and Local Government Programme (SLGP, 2001–2008); the State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability (SPARC) and State Accountability and Voice Initiative (SAVI), both 2008-2016; and the Partnership to Engage, Reform and Learn (PERL, 2016–2023). These programmes have supported core governance interventions: public financial management (PFM); public sector management (PSM); and empowerment and accountability (E&A), supporting citizens to influence State Government decision-making and hold the authorities to account. They also addressed health and education sector governance, operating alongside much larger UK health and education programmes.

Chapter 5 analyses how **governance, health and education outcomes have evolved over 20 years** in the four states, separating intermediate outcomes (steps along the service delivery chain) and final health and education outcomes. The research found that there had been sustainable improvements in a number of core governance and sector governance dimensions, as well as a general improvement across most health and education services (except immunisation).

Jigawa, which benefited from the longest period of support, showed the most improvements, not only in core governance but also in health and education governance, while **Yobe**, with both a shorter period of support and affected by conflict, achieved fewer sustained changes and most were restricted to core governance. **Kaduna** achieved the second-highest number of governance improvements after Jigawa, with a significant reform drive in the post-2015 period, building on some of the past UK initiatives. By contrast, **Kano** achieved the most health and education final outcomes improvements without many governance improvements.

Chapter 6 analyses the **contribution of UK governance programmes** to governance, health and education outcomes in the four states. Chapter 7 summarises **the ways in which UK governance programmes have operated**, and the challenges they have faced, while chapter 8 draws the **main conclusions** and sets out recommendations.

How can governance reforms come about and be sustained over time?

Over 20 years, UK governance programmes have contributed to demonstrable and sustainable institutional changes in some important dimensions of governance and service delivery. The evidence identifies a mix of partial and firm contribution of UK governance interventions to improvements in core governance outcomes.

Political economy contextual factors, and programmes' ability to understand and make use of them through 'causal mechanisms' to support change, are the most important determinants of whether and how external governance programmes were likely to influence core governance or service delivery processes. The level of political competition emerged as the main factor to understand reform prospects. The respective role of other mechanisms, based on financial, bureaucratic or state-society incentives, and the programmes' ability to respond to them, varied.

UK governance programmes clearly **contributed to institutional transformations** which explain sustained improvements, especially by creating new dynamics between citizens' representatives, the bureaucracy and politicians. **Most progress** on outcome indicators was made when there were elements of **E&A**, that is, participation, transparency and accountability. By contrast, PSM, budget execution and parliamentary oversight showed less progress.

UK governance programmes were explicitly designed to ensure **collaboration between supply- and demand-side interventions**. They avoided confrontational advocacy strategies, and instead developed coalitions between politicians, officials, sector professionals, citizens groups and media. The main lesson is to never focus solely on reform internal to government systems without considering how participation, transparency and accountability will also be promoted.

Governance programmes **fall short on gender and inclusion** when they focus only on systems and processes, and do not consider different service users from the outset. Programmes could have been more explicit in their strategy about which citizens their civil society partners represent, their relative political power and how their advocacy may generate change for different social groups.

How do governance reforms contribute to service delivery improvements?

The research can only evidence **association** (rather than a firm or partial contribution)

between general core governance interventions and sector governance improvements, with PFM and E&A much better evidenced than PSM factors. Improving funding flows and accountability are necessary conditions for services to be delivered. A plausible connection can be made with UK PFM and E&A interventions which strengthened these 'upstream' core systems, which, as a result improved 'downstream' health and education services.

**Targeted 'downstream' interventions** by UK governance programmes provide stronger **evidence of their contributions to service delivery.** There was strong evidence when they supported processes to address specific barriers to health or education (such as funding reaching health facilities or schools; trained teachers or nurses staying in post or improving health or education accountability committees at the local or state level) and when they also collaborated with relevant UK health and education programmes.

The contrasting experience of Kano with Jigawa, Kaduna and Yobe is that **service delivery can improve, over the short to medium term, in the absence of improved governance**, but that long-term, sustained improvements in service delivery probably do require core governance reform. How have UK programmes' ways of working contributed to governance, health and education outcomes?

UK governance programmes have been at the forefront of seeking to understand the political economy of their contexts, use regular **political economy analysis** (PEA), and work in **politically smart and adaptive ways.** This ability to 'think and working politically' (TWP) is the main reason why programmes were able to contribute to the outcomes documented by the research. DFID/FCDO has also encouraged **close collaboration** between its governance, health and education programmes.

Programmes therefore need the capacity to work in TWP ways. In recent years, UK government development policies and processes, and the incentives they create for programme management and delivery, are increasingly preventing UK governance programmes in Nigeria from operating in this way. The 'authorising environment' has become increasingly constraining, for instance in demands to demonstrate short-term results and associated contract-management tools such as Payment by Results. FCDO incentives might be preventing their programmes from achieving their full potential. Drastic cuts in the aid budget, organisational restructuring, and changes in UK policy priorities in 2021 indicate that this trend is unlikely to be reversed in the near future.

The report concludes with the following recommendations:

#### To international development partners:

- Invest for the long term 10 to 20 years combining support for both state and nonstate actors.
- 2. Ensure programmes have the strategic-level mandate, managerial capacity and frontline staff skills to pursue politically savvy opportunities.
- 3. Take PEA to the next level by unpacking causal mechanisms, understanding incentives and designing interventions to make change happen.
- 4. Give governance programmes the ability to flex between core governance and service delivery issues.
- 5. Incentivise greater collaboration between governance and sector programmes.
- 6. Incentivise greater attention to gender, and to social inclusion beyond disability issues, in governance programming.

#### To FCDO:

 Empower and resource FCDO teams to enable TWP programmes, ensuring decision-making by country teams to respond to local priorities.

- 8. Re-imagine TWP for FCDO Nigeria, giving implementers the space to operate in TWP ways.
- 9. Incentivise stronger collaboration between PERL, Lafiya (health programme) and the Partnership for Learning for All in Nigerian Education.
- 10. Invest in impact data analysis.

## To partner governments in Nigeria and beyond:

- 11. Explicitly set out the objectives for which you would like to receive assistance.
- 12. Use TWP principles to decide how development partners can support your political objectives and the scope for politically-feasible and mutually-beneficial collaboration.
- 13. Invest in the coordination of development partners.

#### To non-state partners in Nigeria and beyond:

- 14. Join coalitions to achieve your priorities.
- 15. Select development partners which can strengthen your skills, not just fund your activities.

## 1 Introduction

Following the death of General Abacha in 1998 and Nigeria's transition to a new 'democratic dispensation' marked by elections in 1999, the UK re-engaged with Nigeria and significantly increased its official development assistance (ODA).

Over a 20-year period, the UK became the second largest bilateral donor to Nigeria, including the largest in the governance, health and education sectors. In particular, the UK Department for International Development (DFID) and, since September 2020, the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) have invested continuously in governance reforms in four Nigerian states which had low levels of human development: the North-western states of Jigawa (since 2001), Kano (since 2005) and Kaduna (since 2006), as well as the North-eastern state of Yobe (since 2011), which has been affected by insurgency. The overarching objective of the UK governance investment has been to improve the effectiveness of State Government spending and, in doing so, enable Nigerian State Governments to deliver improved and sustainable education and health outcomes for their populations.

This uninterrupted and consistent UK support therefore provides a unique opportunity to analyse the contribution of UK governance assistance to state-level governance, health and education processes and outcomes, and to analyse the relationship between 'core' governance, 'sector' governance, and health and education service delivery. This research project aims to identify the contextual factors and causal mechanisms that can explain how UK governance interventions can contribute to improving governance processes as well as health and education outcomes. On that basis, it identifies lessons and implications for governance programming.

The overall research question is 'whether, how, under what conditions and for whom have UK-funded state-level governance programmes in Nigeria contributed to sustained changes in governance and related changes in health and education in the Northern States of Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe since 2000?' It has been researched through four sub-questions (see Box 1).

A comprehensive study of Nigeria's 'drivers of change' in 2003 enabled DFID Nigeria to experiment with approaches that challenged the received development orthodoxy. As a result, three generations of UK governance programmes have sought to be both politically smart and adaptive (also known as 'thinking and working politically' – TWP). The research has therefore focused not only on *what* support the UK has provided, but also *how* UK programmes have facilitated their partners' agendas, both in State Governments and beyond.

This research covers three sets of findings which will be of interest to policy-makers, researchers and development partners beyond FCDO Nigeria:

- 1. How can governance reforms come about and be sustained over time?
- 2. How do governance reforms contribute to service delivery improvements?
- 3. What are the ways in which programmes operate and reform processes are managed that are most likely to contribute to sustained governance and service delivery improvements?

## Box 1 Research questions

#### **Overall research question**

Whether, how, under what conditions and for whom have UK-funded state-level governance programmes in Nigeria contributed to sustained changes in governance and related changes in health and education in the Northern States of Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe since 2000?

#### 1. What were the facilitating and disabling contextual conditions in the four states?

a. What have been the key contextual conditions, of which governance systems, at which level (international, federal, state or local), which enabled the mechanisms to work and in what way?

## 2. What outcomes in governance, health and education can be evidenced and for whom in the four states?

- a. What have been the outcomes in governance (public financial management (PFM), public sector management (PSM), and empowerment and accountability (E&A))?
- b. What have been the outcomes in terms of health and education systems?
- c. What have been the outcomes in terms of health and education services?
- d. Which specific groups have benefited or been excluded from these outcomes?
- e. How sustainable have the governance changes, and related education and health changes, been within these states, in what way and for whom?
- 3. What are the main mechanisms through which UK-funded programmes have contributed to changes in governance, and related health and education changes in the four states?
  - a. What are the main mechanisms through which governance interventions generate changes in core governance systems?
  - b. What are the main mechanisms by which these core governance systems generate related changes in education systems and services, and in health systems and services?
  - c. In which ways have contextual conditions interacted with the operation of the mechanisms?
  - d. How do the interactions between contextual conditions and mechanisms affect the outcomes that are generated?

## 4. How have UK-funded programmes' interventions and ways of working contributed to changes in governance, health and education service delivery?

- a. What are the PFM, PSM and E&A interventions (inputs, outputs and ways of working) delivered by these governance programmes and governance components of sector programmes in the four states since 2000?
- b. How have the programmes' ways of working evolved over time?
- c. How (and whether) have they followed thinking and working politically (TWP) principles by adapting to changing context and ensuring a 'good fit' with the political economy?
- d. How have UK-funded programme management structures and processes supported or undermined effective working practices?
- e. How have UK government incentives supported or undermined effective working practices?

This research project was undertaken by the Learning, Evidence and Advocacy Partnership (LEAP) pillar of the Partnership to Engage, Reform and Learn (PERL) which constitutes the third generation of UK governance programmes in Nigeria. The research team members are not directly involved in PERL state-level activities but have benefited from collaboration with each of the four PERL state-level delivery teams, as well as from access to PERL's database of monitoring reports and financial information.

The research has unfortunately taken place under COVID-19 restrictions in Nigeria and the UK, which prevented primary data collection in the four states. The research is therefore mostly based on secondary data generated by the UK programmes themselves and interviews with the staff of present and past UK-funded governance, health and education programmes. Additional qualitative data was collected by three Nigerian researchers who interviewed Nigerian state-level stakeholders (by phone/video, with a few in-person interviews in Yobe). These interviews aimed to triangulate some of the most significant findings from the document and data review, but it should be noted that most of these stakeholders themselves have been closely associated with UK programmes in the four states, in view of the duration of UK programmes. Within PERL, LEAP plays an external function of research and evidence challenge, such as critically reviewing Most Significant Change studies (MSCs) produced by the programme and commissioning independent research; the Flagship has been approached in the same spirit and is published as an ODI study to reflect its research independence.

## The project adopted a tailor-made approach, combining 'realist synthesis' and 'process

**tracing' methods** to analyse existing data through a new lens, with a view to contributing to the growing evidence base on governance reforms as well as the field of politically smart programming.

The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 explains the 'realist synthesis' methodology and the mid-level theory of change (ToC) which has framed the research.
- Chapter 3 sets out the main contextual factors at the national level and in the four case study states which have contributed to the governance, health and education outcomes.
- Chapter 4 presents more detailed information on UK development assistance to Nigeria and the three generations of UK governance programmes.
- Chapter 5 analyses how governance, health and education outcomes have evolved over 20 years in the four states, separating intermediate outcomes (steps along the service-delivery chain) and final health and education outcomes.
- Chapter 6 sets out the main findings. It analyses the contribution of UK governance programmes to governance, health and education outcomes in the four states, and aims to answer the overall research question.
- Chapter 7 summarises the ways in which UK governance programmes have been managed to enable not only governance but also health and education outcomes, and the challenges they have faced.
- Chapter 8 draws the main conclusions and implications, and sets out recommendations addressed to development assistance providers (including the UK government) as well as to their partner governments and non-state actors in Nigeria and beyond.

The documents reviewed are in the bibliography and the list of interviewees is in Appendix 1. The summary findings of the Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe case studies are presented in Annex 1.

The details behind the outcome data set out in Chapter 5 is explained in Annex 2.

## 2 Theory of change: how can governance interventions affect governance, health and education outcomes?

This chapter is theoretical. It explains how the research has defined governance and analysed the links between governance, health and education outcomes. It begins by presenting a simplified 'service delivery' chain (2.1) and explains how different combinations of contextual factors, interventions and causal mechanisms have the potential to influence different outcomes at different points in the chain (2.2). It concludes by presenting the 26 governance, health and education indicators along the service delivery chain that the research has tracked over 20 years in the four states, which correspond to the main areas of successive UK governance programmes' interventions (2.3) and the list of causal mechanisms that were developed and tested during the research process (2.4).

## 2.1 Governance and the service delivery chain

According to DFID's 2019 Governance Position Paper, 'governance is about the use of power, authority and how a country manages its affairs'. The paper considers that open, inclusive and accountable governance is valuable in itself but also that governance determines progress on economic growth, stability and inclusive outcomes.

To assess how UK-funded governance programmes contributed to changes in governance, health and education in Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe, the research team developed a 'mid-level' ToC (in the middle – neither a ToC for specific UK programmes nor an overarching theory of how change happens across Nigeria or individual states). It describes how different types of UK-funded interventions, in different contexts, would be likely to 'fire' specific causal mechanisms and thereby contribute to governance and service delivery outcomes.

The main assumption is that governance interventions can contribute to improvements in health and education because they influence the 'service delivery chain' that connects the Nigerian federal, state and local governments to frontline service providers (e.g. primary schools, local health facilities) and to service users (the girls and boys, women and men who benefit from education and health services). Governance interventions can aim to influence (i) how **money** flows through the system (through public financial management – PFM – initiatives); (ii) how ministries, departments and agencies (MDAs) are organised and how staff such as public servants, teachers or nurses are recruited, trained, deployed and motivated to ensure services are provided (through public sector management -PSM – initiatives); and (iii) citizens' expectations about services the state should provide, and how citizens (as individuals or organised in groups, such as community-based organisations (CBOs), media organisations or State House of Assemblies (SHoAs)) can participate in decision-making and hold government officials to account (through empowerment and accountability - E&A initiatives). Figure 1 illustrates this chain, which is influenced by wider factors (such as social norms, conflict and violence, international oil prices, etc).

The research makes a distinction between (i) 'core' governance and (ii) 'sector'

**governance.** While the latter refers to how the health and education sectors function and their key actors (e.g. health ministry, teacher training centres or private pharmacies), the former refers to central MDAs (e.g. ministry of finance, auditor general) and policy, planning, budget, law-making processes as well as internal and

external accountability processes which influence all sectors.

The key questions are *whether* and *how* these core processes influence sectors and thereby contribute to improved services, and for *whom*. Core governance, health and education service delivery chains are different across Nigerian states but share some core characteristics. Figure 1 Nigeria: service delivery chain



## 2.2 Identifying causal mechanisms

The research is inspired by a 'realist synthesis' method, which offers a structured way of analysing change in Nigeria over a 20-year timeframe. It 'is an approach to reviewing research evidence on complex social interventions, which provides an explanatory analysis of how and why they work (or don't work) in particular contexts or settings' (Pawson et al., 2004: iv). The underlying assumption is that most programmes of reform or social change work only in limited circumstances. Because programmes are 'complex interventions introduced into complex social systems' (Pawson, 2013), no intervention works in the same way for everyone all the time, but will have very different effects on different people in different contexts (Wong et al., 2016). Realist synthesis requires the identification of contextual factors, interventions, and causal mechanisms, and the analysis of how they were combined and interacted to contribute to certain outcomes.

#### Core governance and service delivery outcomes depend on a number of contextual

**factors.** Each Nigerian state is influenced by global or federal factors (e.g. oil prices, federal budget) as well as its own particular political economy and institutional context (contextual factors – which are reviewed in Chapter 3). Core governance and sector processes in turn also depend on the behaviour of specific actors (individuals, organisations, groups/networks) who operate in response to a range of incentives, institutions, interests and ideas.

Development interventions can aim to influence institutions as well as the behaviour of key actors. Examples of governance interventions include: motivating public servants to adopt more efficient ways of managing state resources; improving the ability of civil society organisations (CSOs) to monitor clinics or school constructions; creating new spaces where parents can give their views on the quality of education; or providing legislators with evidence and policy options that are useful when passing new laws or monitoring budget implementation. Such interventions can influence the governance, health and education service delivery chain by providing new *resources* and *opportunities* which, depending on contextual factors, can influence changes in *reasonings* and *behaviours* of key actors. This is what the research refers to as 'causal mechanisms' in reference to realist synthesis approaches (Pawson and Tilley, 1997; Westhorp et al., 2014).

By activating (or 'firing' in realist synthesis language) relevant causal mechanisms, development interventions aim to contribute to different outcomes along the service delivery chain. An intermediate outcome could be an improved way of preparing the state budget based on policy goals and evidence (core governance intermediate outcome); which could lead to a more realistic and gendersensitive health or education sector budget (sector governance intermediate outcome); which could enable better trained nurses or teachers to work at clinics and schools (service delivery intermediate outcome); which eventually could contribute to fewer deaths of mothers in childbirth or more girls who are able to read and write (health and education final outcomes).

Figure 2 summarises how context (C), interventions (I), causal mechanisms (M) and intermediary outcomes (O) interact to deliver higher-level outcomes along the service delivery chain.



**Figure 2** Context, interventions, mechanisms and outcomes combinations

Table 1 summarises the main 'causal mechanisms' that were identified during the course of the research process. A longlist was developed in the early ToC preparation phase, based on a literature review (Cummings, 2020) and the team's existing knowledge of UK programmes. An iterative process has been followed: these mechanisms were tested against the case-study evidence, with new ones added and others updated in the first draft report, and further revised in response to feedback.

## Table 1 Mechanisms motivating state-level stakeholders

Incentives	Causal mechanisms				
<b>Political incentives</b> They apply to Governors, Commissioners, SHoA	The 'personal political credit-claiming' mechanism incentivises politicians to support some targeted initiatives or wider reforms <i>because</i> they would lead to visible, concrete benefits which could be credited to individual politicians.				
members, other politicians as well as powerful actors (e.g. Emirs) who can initiate or block major reforms or routine	The 'political constituency' mechanism incentivises politicians to support targeted initiatives or wider reforms <i>because</i> they calculate that responsiveness to targeted (social or geographical) constituencies is critical to their re-election or continued popularity.				
activities.	The 'broader-based political legitimacy' mechanism incentivises politicians to support more broadly based initiatives or wider reforms (e.g. more accessible service provision or more transparent policy processes) <i>because</i> these would lead to consolidating power through gaining trust among a wider section of society or realising a broader political vision (e.g. state-building, modernisation, peace).				
	The 'low political cost' mechanism is the counterpart to the positive mechanisms described above. State Governments collaborate with development partners towards achieving policy objectives (such as participation and transparency, maternal health or primary education) <i>because</i> not being seen to collaborate and not improving access to these services would be too damaging: it could lead to unpopularity while the initiatives have low political cost (in terms of diverting resources away from patronage networks). In other words, initiatives or reforms demanded by communities or external actors are permissible as long as they are non-threatening and do not undermine politicians' power base.				
<b>Financial incentives</b> They apply mostly to politicians and to bureaucrats who will benefit from the use of these funds. (Internally	<b>The 'accessing federal funds' mechanism</b> incentivises politicians and bureaucrats to adopt new laws and/or implement new processes to meet federal requirements <i>because</i> these initiatives allow them to access federal government funding. Domestication of federal laws at state level or State Governments providing matching funds are examples (though laws can be passed but not implemented) where mechanisms can be 'fired' by UK programme interventions (e.g. technical assistance to meet the requirements).				
generated revenue was not within the scope of the research.)	The 'accessing international funds' mechanism incentivises politicians and bureaucrats to adopt new laws and/or implement new processes to meet internationally set requirements <i>because</i> these initiatives allow them to access international funding to deliver their state-level agenda. UK programmes can 'fire' this mechanism, for example through support to government-led donor coordination (to access donor funds) or meeting programme conditions (e.g. meet Open Government Partnership criteria to access World Bank funds).				

possess a minimum level of

skills, to be motivated by

these mechanisms.

# IncentivesCausal mechanismsBureaucratic incentivesThe 'politico-bureaucratic reform ownership' mechanism incentivises bureaucratsThey do not operateto design and implement targeted or ambitious initiatives or reforms because they<br/>are motivated to deliver their self-identified priorities. UK governance programmes<br/>stimulate this mechanism by the way in which they operate, such as facilitative<br/>approaches to support self-assessments.be given the political<br/>space and resources, andThe 'early adopters' or 'state-building' mechanisms incentivise bureaucrats to<br/>design and implement self-identified priorities.

The 'early adopters' or 'state-building' mechanisms incentivise bureaucrats to design and implement ambitious initiatives or system-wide reforms *because* they are motivated to see their state transformed, for example to be the first to innovate or to catch up with a more developed state. UK programmes can stimulate this mechanism, for example by providing opportunities for technical innovations or by supporting peer review or sharing examples between states.

**The 'new skills and awareness' mechanism** is relevant for all UK programme interventions, whether working with state or non-state partners. In contexts where politicians have given the state civil service some autonomy (or SHoA members gain some independence from the executive), the provision of UK technical support and training can incentivise new practices *because* they respond to individual and organisational appetite for change among programme partners, and enable them to realise the powers they could gain by making use of their roles.

**The 'routinisation' mechanism** encourages the adoption and institutionalisation of new ways of working as they become part of the expected process of government. Government officials are motivated to follow improved policy, planning, budget cycle (or other newly introduced systems) *because* they learn to expect periodic revision, and the process is routinised ('periodically revised'). In other words, stakeholders adopt shared norms, which enable government officials to introduce significant improvements to bureaucratic processes that contribute to outcomes.

#### Incentives

#### Causal mechanisms

## State-society relations incentives

These mechanisms can be effective only if there is a minimum of civic and political space for engagement between citizens and governments on policy issues directly or via elected officials, media, CSOs or other organised interests. The 'new public spaces and processes' mechanism is a form of institutionalised constructive engagement. Government and societal/political representatives (e.g. civil society groups, private sector, SHoA members as elected representatives) identify and act on areas of shared interests and mutual benefits because newly created spaces or processes (e.g. transparent budgets, formal consultations) which are repeatedly used, over time, generate trust in each other's intentions.

The 'personal networking' or 'insider' mechanism is another form of constructive engagement. Government and societal representatives identify and act on areas of shared interests and mutual benefits because personal relationships and private meetings can be used to put pressure on politicians more discreetly or convincingly than in public spaces or transparent processes. Such mechanisms would be more commonly used to pursue narrowly targeted interests but as part of UK programmes would be (eventually) associated with public measures.

**The 'eyes and ears' mechanism** enables non-state actors to influence government policy and practice through external monitoring and communication. If CSOs have the skills and mandate to assess performance, monitor government spending or implementation of commitments, and if there are communication channels (e.g. radio phone-in programmes or personal access to officials), citizens can influence State Governors, SHoAs or ministries (e.g. to release funds or improve in specific areas of service delivery) because their willingness to assess performance and the consistency of this monitoring and reporting back convinces Governors (and/or others with power) that they need to keep their promises, for example for electoral calculations.

**'Eyes and ears, with voice and teeth'** refers to a type of diagonal accountability mechanism, where citizens, CSOs and the media, working with state organisations can incentivise behaviour because the monitoring ('eyes and ears') and communication on the issue ('voice') is combined with credible action ('teeth').

**'The naming and shaming' mechanism** is a less constructive form of public pressure which can be associated with more powerful sanction. Organised or represented citizens (through CSOs, media, private-sector bodies, individual SHoA members) can influence State Governors, SHoAs or ministries through different forms of public shaming: a Governor's personal reputation (and in a politically competitive environment the fear of not being re-elected), a State Government's reputation (e.g. social norms would demand that the needs of girls and women be respected), potential loss of aid (financial damage), or potential disruption to relationship with key political funders/backers.

## 2.3 Which governance processes did UK programmes target?

The research has narrowed the range of steps in the service delivery chain it has examined to correspond to the broad areas of continuous UK core governance and sector governance interventions since 2000. The service delivery chain describes how resources (financial, managerial, public expectations, etc) for service delivery are mobilised, deployed, managed and monitored. The functioning of the chain depends on core governance processes relating to PFM, PSM and E&A to mirror the shared scope of the UK programmes under review. The research has examined (i) whether/how governance interventions (PFM, PSM, E&A) generate changes in governance; and (ii) whether/how these governance changes generate improved education and health outcomes. These are separate hypotheses since some changes in governance may not result in improved health or education outcomes. In addition, mechanisms may succeed or fail at different stages in different contexts (Westhorp et al., 2014: 163). An important distinction is between governance reforms that are 'upstream' (e.g. centre of government policy-making) and those that are 'downstream' (e.g. related to health service delivery), how they interact, and their relative effects (or not) on service delivery (Manning, 2014).

The research project did not examine UK governance programmes' interventions at the level of individual activities (e.g. specific training or technical assistance support). The information is not always available and it would have required a larger research team and more time to process up to 20 years of data on a host of activities. In addition, informants' recollection would not be fully reliable for specific events across such a timeframe. Instead, the research used the annual reviews and other reports produced by the various programmes, including some more independent studies which triangulated data at the time (e.g. Independent Monitoring and Evaluation Project for the DFID Nigeria State Level Programmes (IMEP) series). The research looked for broad patterns in terms of what UK assistance focused on, what assessments on such contributions were made at the time, at what point in the service delivery chain the programmes intervened, and whether/how they can be

associated with resulting changes in governance and service delivery.

Figure 3 summarises the 26 indicators that have been examined, over three dimensions of governance (PFM, PSM and E&A), which are relevant both in terms of core governance (central state government processes) and sector (health and education) governance.

More governance dimensions and related indicators were supported by these and other UK governance programmes, and might have played an important role, but were not reviewed because of data and time-series limitations. Governance programme interventions not reviewed include internally generated revenue (IGR),<sup>1</sup> auditing, pensions and local governance. Interventions funded by other UK governance programmes and potentially relevant to service delivery but not reviewed in this research include political participation, access to justice, security, anticorruption, and other initiatives not delivered through PERL and its predecessor programmes.

**Finally, the research did not focus equally on all time periods.** There was an effort to research the early years of the State and Local Government Programme (SLGP) in Jigawa State through interviews (as documentation was sparser), to be able to cover the 20-year timespan. For Kaduna State the focus was on the post-2015 period, which has been reform-oriented, to allow a comparison to Kano State. The research did not focus on the effects of COVID-19 since 2020. A separate study examined PERL's adaptation to COVID-19 (Sharp et al., 2021).

<sup>1</sup> IGR was not included due to limited data across the research period (as it has only been pursued since 2016 with most progress predictably in wealthier Kano and Kaduna). IGR increases cannot easily be linked to improvements in service delivery.



Figure 3 Focus of UK governance and sector governance interventions

## Key to the intermediate outcomes

Government MDAs       in health policy and funding         Improved central civil service HRM       20         Increased SoHA oversight       21         Improved media reporting on governance and accountability       22         Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account       23         Improved budget execution for education spending account       23         Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24         Improved human resources for primary education       25         Increased civil society advocacy on education				
Increased scrutiny of the budget by the SoHA15Increased state-level spending on primary healthIncreased participation in budget processes by citizens and CSOs16Improved budget execution for health spendingImproved budget execution for total expenditure17Improved human resources for primary healthImproved quality of public procurement18Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and fundingImproved corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs19Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and fundingImproved central civil service HRM20Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processesIncreased SoHA oversight21Increased share of state budget for educationImproved media reporting on governance and accountability account23Improved budget execution for education spendingImproved sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes24Improved human resources for primary educationIncreased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes24Improved human resources for primary education25Increased civil society advocacy on education in core governance processes24Improved human resources for primary education24Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes25Increased civil society advocacy on education25Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes26Increased sens	1		13	Improved health policy, planning and budgeting processes
Increased participation in budget processes by citizens and CSOs       16       Improved budget execution for health spending         Improved budget execution for total expenditure       17       Improved human resources for primary health         Improved quality of public procurement       18       Increased civil society advocacy on health         Improved corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs       19       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding         Improved central civil service HRM       20       Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processes         Improved media reporting on governance and accountability       11       Increased state-level spending on primary education         Improved budget execution for education in core governance processes       23       Improved budget execution for education spending increased for primary education         Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24       Improved budget execution for education         Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       25       Increased civil society advocacy on education         Improved media reporting on governance and accountability in core governance processes       24       Improved human resources for primary education         Improved in core governance processes       25       Increased civil society advocacy on education         <	2	Increased budget transparency	14	Increased share of state budget for health
CSOs       Improved budget execution for total expenditure       17       Improved human resources for primary health         Improved quality of public procurement       18       Increased civil society advocacy on health         Improved corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs       19       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding         Improved central civil service HRM       20       Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processes         Improved media reporting on governance and accountability account       11       Increased ShAA oversight       12         Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       23       Improved budget execution for education spending in core governance processes         Improved human resources for primary education       24       Improved human resources for primary education         Improved is civil society advocacy on education       25       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion         Improved human resources for primary education       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	3	Increased scrutiny of the budget by the SoHA	15	Increased state-level spending on primary health
6Indexed quality of public procurement18Increased civil society advocacy on health7Improved corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs19Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding8Improved central civil service HRM20Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processes9Increased SoHA oversight21Increased share of state budget for education10Improved media reporting on governance and accountability account22Increased state-level spending on primary education12Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account23Improved budget execution for education spending in core governance processes12Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes24Improved human resources for primary education25Increased civil society advocacy on education26Increased civil society advocacy on education	4		16	Improved budget execution for health spending
7       Improved corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs       19       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding         8       Improved central civil service HRM       20       Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processes         9       Increased SoHA oversight       21       Increased share of state budget for education         10       Improved media reporting on governance and accountability account       22       Increased state-level spending on primary education         11       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       23       Improved human resources for primary education         24       Increased civil society advocacy on education       24       Increased civil society advocacy on education         25       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	5	Improved budget execution for total expenditure	17	Improved human resources for primary health
Government MDAs       in health policy and funding         Improved central civil service HRM       20       Improved education policy, planning and budgeting processes         Increased SoHA oversight       21       Increased share of state budget for education         Improved media reporting on governance and accountability account       22       Increased state-level spending on primary education         Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account in core governance processes       23       Improved budget execution for education spending in core governance processes         Improved budget execution for education       24       Improved human resources for primary education         Improved in core governance processes       25       Increased civil society advocacy on education         Improved in core governance processes       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes	6	Improved quality of public procurement	18	Increased civil society advocacy on health
9       Increased SoHA oversight       21       Increased share of state budget for education         10       Improved media reporting on governance and accountability account       22       Increased state-level spending on primary education         11       Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account       23       Improved budget execution for education spending account         12       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24       Improved human resources for primary education         25       Increased civil society advocacy on education       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	7	· · · · · - ·	19	Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding
10       Improved media reporting on governance and accountability       22       Increased state-level spending on primary education         11       Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account       23       Improved budget execution for education spending account         12       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24       Improved human resources for primary education         25       Increased civil society advocacy on education       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	8	Improved central civil service HRM	20	
11       Increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account       23       Improved budget execution for education spending         12       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24       Improved human resources for primary education         25       Increased civil society advocacy on education       26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	9	Increased SoHA oversight	21	Increased share of state budget for education
account       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes       24       Improved human resources for primary education         25       Increased civil society advocacy on education         26       Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	10	Improved media reporting on governance and accountability	22	Increased state-level spending on primary education
in core governance processes 25 Increased civil society advocacy on education 26 Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	11		23	Improved budget execution for education spending
26 Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion	12		24	Improved human resources for primary education
			25	Increased civil society advocacy on education
			26	Increased sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in education policy and funding

# 3 The evolving Nigerian contexts (2000–2020)

## Research question 1: What were the facilitating and disabling contextual conditions in the four states?

a. What have been the key contextual conditions, of which governance systems, at which level (international, federal, state or local), which enabled the mechanisms to work and in what way?

This chapter reviews how the political and socioeconomic contexts in Nigeria evolved over the last 20 years, at the federal level (3.1) including federal health and education policies and transfers to states (3.2) and across Northern Nigeria (3.3). It synthesises the main facilitating and disabling conditions in the four case-study states (3.4). Further contextual information for each state is provided in Annex 1.

The chapter also introduces the 'political settlements' approach (see Box 2) which the research adopted to analyse how Nigerian state power has or has not been used to further development objectives since 2000.

#### Main findings:

 Shared contextual factors across the four states included: (i) a competitive clientelist political settlement sustained by oil and gas resources at the federal and state levels; (ii) most dimensions of governance did not perform as well as other countries, and improvements in voice and accountability are now being constrained by more restrictive civil society, media and elections since 2015; (iii) states' dependence on federal transfers, themselves dependent on international oil and gas prices, to fund service provision; (iv) the steady decline in overall government revenues relative to the size of the economy over the period, creating a challenging context for PFM and for increasing spending on primary health or basic education; (v) the preponderance of State Governors in state-level governance; and (vi) the degree of political competition and the breadth of elites' social base to facilitate (or block) development policies.

- Contrasting contextual factors across the four case studies, which have been used to compare which mechanisms were enabled by UK interventions, included size/levels of:

   (i) dependence on the federal-level funding and potential for IGR; (ii) political stability or competition; (iii) socioeconomic factors including population, poverty, and rural vs urban/industrialised; (v) civil service capacity;
   (vi) civil society capacity; (vii) violent conflict; and (viii) duration of UK governance assistance.
- Overall, the main contextual distinction is between less populated, rural, poorer and relatively less politically competitive Jigawa and Yobe versus more populated, urban, richer and more politically competitive Kaduna and Kano.

## 3.1 The Nigerian federal context

The end of military rule and the peaceful transfer of power to an elected president in May 1999 enabled Nigeria's reintegration into the international community and opened the door for debt relief and other forms of ODA. The UK government was able to reengage with Nigerian government officials, moving beyond community-based projects, and established long-lasting partnerships with a number of states (DFID, 2000).

Nigeria has undergone significant socioeconomic transformations over the last 20 years. Its diverse population, comprising an estimated 374 ethno-linguistic groups, grew from 119 million in 1999 to over 200 million in 2019, the largest in Africa. It has remained a demographically young country with 43–44% of the total population under the age of 14 years. Poverty declined from 56.3% of the total population in 2003 to 39% in 2018. Infant mortality, under-five mortality and maternal mortality rates have fallen by roughly 25%, 30% and 25% respectively, though they remain high compared to other countries in the region. Literacy rates have risen only marginally from 54.8% to 62.2% in this period. Though the gains were greatest for women and girls, there remains a significant gender gap, and female literacy rates have not yet reached the levels of male literacy rates recorded in 2003.

## Nigeria has not progressed on governance indicators as much as other countries.

World Governance Indicators for Nigeria for the period 2000 to 2019 indicate low scores for Nigeria against all indicators ranked against other countries. Most indicators are currently in the bottom quintile (20%). There have been improvements in control of corruption, regulatory quality, and rule of law indicators since 2004 but they remain in the bottom quintile, with particularly very poor scores for political stability and absence of violence and terrorism (see Figure 4). The one exception is voice and accountability, which has improved markedly since 2004,<sup>2</sup> a trend connected to an increasingly vibrant media and civil society, and fairer and more competitive elections. However, even in this dimension, other sources, such as the Ibrahim Index of African Governance, show a declining trend in participation and rights since 2015, including civil society space, media freedoms, and elections.<sup>3</sup> The current federal administration has been particularly sensitive to media criticism, and even suspended access to the social media platform Twitter (Seye, 2021).

<sup>2</sup> Figure 4 includes data since 2000, based on expert opinions and combination of indicators from multiple sources. The huge variation between 2000 and 2004 in many indicators may indicate poor quality of the early composite governance assessments which were initiated in 1999 and improved considerably over time, rather than a decline in Nigeria's performance.

<sup>3</sup> https://mo.ibrahim.foundation/iiag



Figure 4 Nigeria World Governance Indicators 2000–2019

Source: World Bank, World Governance Indicators https://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi

Oil and gas remain at the core of the Nigerian economy. The share of mining (in particular oil and gas) in the economy has fallen from 31% in 2000 to just 9% of gross domestic product (GDP) in 2019, though this understates the impact of oil dependence on the shape of the economy (Central Bank of Nigeria, 2019). While services have grown from 40% of the economy in 2000 to over 50% of Nigeria's GDP in 2019, there has been little economic diversification (te Velde et al., 2016). Real economic growth rates increased from 0.6% in 1999 to a high of 14.6% in 2002. High growth rates continued for most years until 2011, when economic activity slowed. In 2016, following a global oil price crash, Nigeria went into a recession. GDP growth recovered to 2.2% in 2019, before entering a second recession due to the COVID-19 crisis (World Bank, 2020c). Overall GDP per capita rose from \$2,906 in 1999 to \$5,136 in 2019.

Nigeria's political settlement since the return of democracy in 1999 (the Fourth Republic) can be

described as 'competitive clientelist'. Nigeria's ruling elite includes different ethnic, regional and religious groups (with an understanding, for example, that the presidency will rotate between Northern Muslim and Southern Christian leaders), but a narrow network of individuals (mostly men) benefit disproportionately from access to Nigeria's national resources, which are used to sustain clientelist networks (Lewis and Watts, 2013). In federal (and state) dynamics, the coalition in power is often opposed by alternative elite coalitions who seek to win control over power and economic rents. Elections are therefore typically highly competitive and feature competing elite coalitions trying to win support through patronage and clientelist promises to voters (Usman, 2019). Using Kelsall's (2018) typology, Nigeria's federal political settlement can therefore be categorised as having a 'broad' social base (as many groups have to be co-opted) with political power 'dispersed' across multiple, competing, elite groups (see Box 2 for a definition of political settlements).

## Box 2 What is a political settlement?

Political settlements analysis helps to explain political decision-making by examining the distribution of power between social groups as the underlying determinant of a state's stability and how it functions. Khan (2010) argues that, in countries with underdeveloped capitalist economies, the ruling elites cannot use public revenue to formally distribute resources and thereby maintain political stability. Instead, they rely on patron-client networks to informally distribute resources in order to satisfy powerful non-elite factions. In such a clientelist political settlement, clientelist behaviour is a structural problem caused by the lack of a capitalist class that can accumulate wealth without relying on rent-seeking (Hirvi and Whitfield, 2015).

The research draws on political settlements analysis to understand how the ruling Nigerian coalitions at federal and at state level maintain their power. While elite interests are powerful in shaping the development trajectory, elites are accountable, in some way, to their support base. The social foundation may be easily divisible and so the ruling elite may co-opt groups through patronage or 'pork-barrel' politics (Kelsall, 2018). In contrast, more robust, mass contentious politics have been a factor in driving more inclusive, long-term social and economic policies in some countries (Slater, 2008). The degree of competition between elites, and how power is distributed across subordinate groups and how they may form coalitions, is therefore fundamental to understand development prospects.

Source: Cummings (2020)

The Nigerian political settlement is highly dependent on access to oil resources. Federal transfers to states from the Federation and Excess Crude Accounts constituted, on average, between 50% and 60% of total revenues for Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe from 2004 to 2018 (PERL PFM database). The state capture of oil revenues provides the ruling elite with a ready source of rents with which to co-opt powerful, competing factions (Watts, 2004). Money politics continues to shape the political 'game' and those who are excluded from the inter-elite bargaining may rely on personal ties to access state resources, services and opportunities (Williams and Owen, 2020). There is, however, evidence that patronage and ethnic, religious and regional identity are not the only logics shaping the citizen-state relationship in

Nigeria, but that class-based politics and economic inequality have also become important (LeVan et al., 2018). Short-term competition between elites over rents tends to obstruct the implementation of longer-term development policies. Yet, some elites are able to coordinate on a development agenda. The bureaucracy is not solely managed according to patronage and nepotism, but contains pockets of effectiveness committed to providing public goods and services (Lewis and Watts, 2015).

## 3.2 Fiscal federalism and service delivery responsibilities

States have considerable constitutional autonomy from the Federal Government

#### over policy, financing and institutional

**arrangements**. Nigeria's federal structure involves a distribution of resources, powers and responsibilities between the national (federal) level, 36 States and the Federal Capital Territory (Abuja), and 774 local government areas (LGAs). States and LGAs depend on large, but volatile, unconditional statutory transfers from the federation account and only raise a small share of their revenue. Intergovernmental relations are characterised by a high degree of autonomy for states and a general distrust between different levels of government, with LGAs blaming states for tampering with their revenue allocations, while states accuse the Federal Government of illegally withholding their funding.<sup>4</sup>

LGAs have formal responsibility for the delivery of primary health and basic education services, though State Governments have a considerable influence on spending choices in practice. To finance the services under their mandate, LGAs are allocated 20.6% of shared revenues from the Net Federation Account and 35% of the Value Added Tax Pooled Fund. In practice, however, these resources have been managed through the Joint State Account, which gives State Governments a means to control the way in which the LGA funds are used during the year. State Governments are also responsible for overseeing delivery and for adapting policies set by the Federal Government into state laws and institutional arrangements. At least some states also spend some of their own resources on primary health and basic education.

The overall resources available to fund state and LGA-level services have fallen in real per capita terms. States' revenue – and their ability to fund health and education services - depends on general government revenues, which peaked in 2000 at 24.2% of GDP but fell to 10.1% in 2009 and 6.0% of GDP in 2016, before rising to 7.9% in 2019.<sup>5</sup> In real per capita terms, the total revenues for Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe fell by between 42% and 60% in real per capita terms from 2006 to 2016.<sup>6</sup> After the collapse of oil prices in 2014, all four states saw revenues and expenditures decline in nominal terms, prompting a federal bail-out. UK governance and sector programmes have therefore operated over a period of steady decline in overall government revenues relative to the size of the economy, creating a challenging context for PFM and for increasing spending on primary health or basic education. This has been exacerbated by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which has cut GDP by an estimated 3.5% and reduced general government revenues to an all-time low of 5.9% of GDP in 2020.

A number of major Federal Government policies have had a lasting influence on the institutional and funding arrangements for basic education and primary health services at the state level. These include the Basic Education Act (2004) and the National Health Act (2014). There have also been important new PFM laws, such as the Fiscal Responsibility Act (2007) and Public Procurement Act (2007). These have set the basis for equivalent state-level legislation and also introduced new funding arrangements.

<sup>4</sup> Baunsgaard (2003) highlights that this mistrust between levels of government has deep roots, while ESSPIN's study on education financing notes how 'a study found that in 2005, states withheld an average of 87 percent of federal funds intended for local governments (FME, 2008)'. (Steenbergen et al., 2016).

<sup>5</sup> World Economic Outlook dataset.

<sup>6</sup> Authors' calculations using the PERL PFM database and National Bureau of Statistics population estimates for 2006–2016.

## Federal policy and funding schemes to incentivise education service delivery date back to the start of the Fourth Republic.

Universal Basic Education (UBE) reforms began in 1999. A 2004 Act made education from grades 1–9 free and compulsory, created State Universal Basic Education Boards (SUBEBs) and set up the Universal Basic Education Investment Fund (UBE-IF) in 2005 fund to channel 2% of the Consolidated Revenue Fund directly to education through earmarked grants (EDOREN, 2016). The reforms also transferred responsibility for salary payments from LGAs to the SUBEB.

The impact of these education financing reforms is difficult to assess. Reports suggest that the UBE reforms were successful in reducing delays and leakages in the payment of teachers' salaries. The disbursement rate for UBE-IF matching grants fell steadily from 100% in 2005 to 28% by 2014 (EDOREN, 2016), though more recent data suggests allocations were eventually released.7 This has been blamed on the inability and disinterest of State Governments in meeting matching fund requirements (BPSR, 2016). However, the reality is that allocations from the grant were small relative to the state's own resources. UBE-IF disbursements to Kaduna were N12 billion between 2005 and 2018 while the state's total education spending totalled N237 billion over the same period.<sup>8</sup> When oil revenues dropped and transfers fell in value, some states and LGAs struggled to pay their salaries on time (Steenbergen et al., 2016; World Bank, 2017a).

Federal policies for health were implemented more slowly at both the federal and at the state level, but shared similar features as the education reforms. In Northern Nigeria, the public sector provides over 90% of all health services (Ananaba et al., 2018). In 2005, the Federal Government introduced a decentralisation of primary health care (PHC) management, which despite being vital for basic health outcomes, such as reducing maternal and child mortality, was the responsibility of LGAs, the least powerful tier of government (Tejuoso et al., 2018). Since 2011, PHC structures and services have been integrated into one state-level PHC development agency (SPHCDA). In 2014, the National Health Act created a Basic Healthcare Provision Fund (BHCPF) that provides extra healthcare funding to State Governments and LGAs if they contribute 25% counterpart funding and if they have established a SPHCDA (PERL-LEAP, 2017). However, the implementation of the Act and release of funds has been partial and slow. Each State Government has to choose to enact the Act, but political interest in implementing it seems to be low in most states (PERL-LEAP, 2017). Primary health care alone does not appear to be important for politicians' popularity and stability; the release of funds via the BHCPF is likely to be an important alternative incentive for State Governors to adopt the reforms in the National Health Act (PERL-LEAP, 2018).

Despite these reforms, Nigeria's health and educations systems remain underfunded and dependent on household expenditures. Out-of-pocket spending on health is among the highest in the world (Hafez, 2018) and accounts for 60%–70% of total health expenditure (Ananaba et al., 2018). In the education sector, household spending makes up 40% of total expenditures on education (World Bank, 2017b).

8 Ibid; PERL PFM database.

<sup>7</sup> UBEC Disbursements of Matching Grants to States from 2005 to 2019 as at 22 July 2019.

## 3.3 Northern Nigeria: common contextual factors

Annex 1 provides more details on contextual factors for each of the four states.

The four case-study states share a number of characteristics – they are Northern Nigerian states (Figure 5), predominantly Muslim and with poor socioeconomic indicators, a legacy of years of under-investment under colonial and postindependence governments.



Figure 5 Nigeria and four-case study states

The main socioeconomic differences are between Jigawa and Yobe, on the one hand, and Kaduna and Kano, on the other. While Jigawa and Yobe are rural states created in 1991, Kano and Kaduna States are both of regional and national influence, with greater privatesector activity. Their respective capitals, Kano and Kaduna cities, are among the top ten most populous in Nigeria.<sup>9</sup> According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics, rates of inequality are also higher in Kaduna and Kano than in Jigawa and Yobe (see Table 2).

The Northern states have all been affected by conflict arising from various sources including the Boko Haram/Islamic State West Africa Province (ISWAP) insurgency in the North East, conflicts between farmers and herders across the region, inter communal conflict (Muslim/Christian and Sunni/Shia) in **Kaduna**, and banditry and general lawlessness across the North West. Kaduna has seen the highest conflict-related deaths during the period, and **Yobe** (the only North-Eastern State in the sample) has suffered from ongoing attacks by Boko Haram since 2011. Those immediately affected by the violence and insecurity are largely poor, rural communities living in the areas where the conflicts take place. The violence informs political narratives about the biases and interests of the ruling elite as well as creating a crisis of insecurity (PERL, 2019a).

<sup>9</sup> https://populationstat.com/nigeria/

#### Table 2 Socioeconomic indicators

	Population (2016)	Poverty rate (2019)	Gini coefficient	% literacy 15-24 age group women/ men 2016-2017	Under 5 mortality rate per 1,000 live births 2016–2017	Conflict- related deaths 2000–2020
Jigawa	5,828,163	87.02%	28.00%	24.8/32.3	192	62
Kaduna	8,252,366	43.5%	35.19%	54.4/65.2	82	6,220
Kano	13,076,892	55.1%	28.64%	46.1/72.5	203	2,193
Yobe	3,294,137	72.34%	27.31%	28.3/42.7	102	2,399
National average	193,392,517	40.1%	35.13%	59.3/70.9	120	n/a

Sources: Population: 2016 estimates by National Population Commission and National Bureau of Statistics. Poverty rate: National Bureau of Statistics: Poverty and Inequality in Nigeria 2019. Gini coefficient: Ibid. Gini coefficient highlights the rate of economic inequality among a population. It ranges from 0 (perfect equality) to 100 (perfect inequality). Literacy: Nigeria Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2016–17. Under-five mortality rate: Nigeria Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2016–17. Under-five mortality rate: Nigeria Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2016–17. Conflict-related deaths: The Armed Conflict Location & Event Data Project, acleddata.com.

Across Nigeria, State Governors are the most powerful state-level actors. They leverage public appointments, contracts and budget releases to ensure loyalty and to sustain their patronage networks. Kaduna and Kano have more competitive politics, linked to their greater level of economic development and urbanisation, than Jigawa and Yobe. The case-study report (Annex 1) analyses how stakeholders are related to Governors and their close allies, a wider group of 'contingently' loyal stakeholders, and opposition groups. For example, religious and traditional rulers, such as Emirs, are influential in all four states, but can be kept loyal through deals, such as distribution of patronage, or can be repressed through Governors' power to appoint or dismiss traditional rulers.

State-level politics must also be examined in the context of the national political settlement

(Behuria, Buur and Gray, 2017). The election of a State Governor is thought to be heavily influenced by whether the current President is popular within the state and who he then endorses prior to the election. It is common for political 'godfathers' to attempt to place their protégés in power; in-fighting results in politicians switching political party with relative ease (Adetula, 2008).

Given the importance of elected State Governors, the research has analysed changes in governance, health and education in terms of electoral periods since 1999. Table 3 summarises the different Presidents and Governors across the four states. Colours indicate alternance between (in red) the People's Democratic Party (PDP) and (in green) All Peoples Party (APP), later All Nigeria Peoples Party (ANPP) and All Progressives Congress (APC).

	1999–2003	2003–2007	2007–2011	2011–2015	2015–2019	2019-present
Federal level	1999–2007 Chief Olusegun Obasanjo (PDP)		2007–2010 Alhaji Umaru Musa Yar'Adua (PDP)	2010–2015 Goodluck Jonathan (PDP)	2015–present Muhammadu Buhari (APC)	
Jigawa	1999–2007 Ibrahim Samino Turaki (APP/ANPP; PDP in 2006)		2007–2015 Sule Lamido (PDP)		2015-present Badaru Abubakar (APC)	
Kaduna	1999–2007 Ahmed Makarfi (PDP)		2007–2010 Mohammed Namadi Sambo (PDP)	2012–2015 Mukhtar Ramalan Yero (PDP)	2015–present Nasir Ahmad El Rufai (APC)	
Kano	1999–2003 2003–2 Kwankwaso Sheka (PDP) (ANP		rau	2011–2015 Kwankwaso (APC then PDP)	Ga	-present Induje APC)
Yobe	1999–2007 Bukar Ibrahim (APP/ANPP)		2007–2009 Maman Ali (ANPP)	2009–2019 Ibrahim Gaidam (ANPP/APC)		2019-present Mai Mala Buni (APC)

Table 3 Presidents and State Governors (1999–present)

## 3.4 Summary of contextual factors

Table 4 summarises the main contextual factors for each state which have influenced how UK programmes' governance interventions have or have not contributed to governance and services outcomes.
### Table 4 Summary of contextual factors in the analysis

	Jigawa	Kaduna	Kano	Yobe					
Global and federal constraints		Recessions in 2016, following a global oil price crash, and in 2020, due to COVID-19. This has reduced funds available to State Governments.							
Nigeria-wide trend	Most governance dimensions have not improved much when compared to other countries. Following improvements in voice and accountability indicators, participation and rights indicators (such as civil society and media freedoms) have declined since 2015.								
Financial dependence on federal level	Higher	Lower – more IGR sources	Lower – more IGR sources	Higher					
Political stability	Continuity: three Governors over 20 years, with a consistent agenda	Political competition until stability since Governor El-Rufai elected in 2015	Elite factions within/ between parties creating insecurity for Governors	APC in power since 1999 following a consistent agenda					
Civil service	Stability in civil service but recent challenges over politicisation and retirement	Since El-Rufai, civil service reformed, with allies appointed and reduced size	Politicised civil service, associated with political competition	Stability in civil service but recent challenges over politicisation and retirement					
Civil society	Younger CSOs, often associated with (retired) civil servants	More urban elite CSOs and professional groups	More urban elite CSOs and professional groups	Younger CSOs, often associated with (retired) civil servants					
Rural/urban	Rural	Urban	Urban	Rural					
Young/old state	Created 1991 from Kano	Old	Old	Created 1991 from Borno					
Social homogeneity and conflict	Hausa-Fulani majority; relatively peaceful	Northern/Southern Muslim/Christian polarisation; highest rates of conflict related deaths	Hausa-Fulani majority	Kanuri and non- Kanuri elites rivalry; Boko Haram and ISWAP insurgency					
UK development assistance	UK 'focal state' selection in 2000; programmes in governance and health (2001) and education (2003)	UK project pre- 2000 (CBDD); health (2002), education (2005) and governance programmes (2006); 'focal state' in 2006	UK programmes in health (2002) governance (2004), education (2005); 'focal state' in 2005 with DFID Northern regional office in Kano	UK programmes in health (2006) and governance (2011); limited education but substantial humanitarian aid; UK governance support ends in 2021					

### 4 Governance, health and education interventions and programmes (2000–2020)

Research question 4: How have UK-funded programmes' interventions and ways of working contributed to changes in governance, health and education service delivery?

a. What are the PFM, PSM and E&A interventions delivered by these governance programmes and governance components of sector programmes in the four states and at the federal level since 2000?

This chapter provides an overview of the various UK-funded programmes which have operated in the four case-study states. It begins by describing how overall development assistance to Nigeria has increased since 2000 to situate UK assistance within a wider increasing trend (section 4.1). It then describes the three generations of UK governance programmes, before continuing with an overview of health and education programmes (section 4.2). It concludes with a summary of the shift in the UK's approaches in successive governance programmes, which influenced how these contributed to outcomes (section 4.4).

**Main findings:** While Nigeria is not an aiddependent country, international assistance has been an important source of financing for service delivery, in particular for health, which is the sector to which most aid is directed. The UK is Nigeria's second largest bilateral donor, with its ODA growing over ten times between 2002 and 2018 and disbursements peaking at nearly \$450 million in 2017. Three generations of governance programmes covering PFM, PSM and E&A in the four case-study states have worked with both state and non-state actors to improve core governance processes, and aspired to adopt politically smart and adaptive approaches. They operated alongside much larger health and education programmes over the same period, which also aimed to support health and education (sector) governance processes as well as service delivery objectives.

### 4.1 Trends in international assistance to Nigeria

In the wake of Nigeria's political transition, overall ODA to Nigeria grew from a total of **\$0.4 billion in 2002 to \$3.5 billion in 2018** (or \$11.5 billion including private philanthropic donations).<sup>10</sup> The country also received over \$18 billion in debt relief after striking an agreement with the Paris Club in 2005.

Nigeria is not an aid-dependent country, and ODA (excluding debt relief) was worth less than 5% of general government revenues until 2015 (Figure 6). Aid has become more important as government revenues declined in real terms,

<sup>10</sup> Data for disbursements is from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Development Assistance Committee Creditor Reporting System using 2018 price levels. This has recorded ODA to Nigeria since 2002, with 2018 being the latest year for which figures are available at the time our analysis was conducted. Disbursements from major philanthropic organisations have been recorded only since 2009.

most notably since 2014 when the large and sustained decline in oil prices hit government finances. Debt relief has freed up fiscal space in the Federal Government estimated at around 7% of government revenues.<sup>11</sup>

Despite this, external development assistance has been an important source of financing for frontline services, particularly health services.<sup>12</sup>

The health sector has received the highest level of support in recent years, with the two subsectors of health and population and reproductive health accounting for over 40% of aid from official donors between 2002 and 2018, excluding debt relief. Governance is the second sector, representing 12% of total aid during the period. Education sector assistance represented just 6% of total aid, lower than all other sectors except water and sanitation. Humanitarian assistance has grown considerably since 2014 rising from just 1% of total ODA in 2014 to 23% in 2018 as a response to the conflict in North-Eastern Nigeria. Overall, the UK has been the second largest bilateral donor to Nigeria, once debt relief is excluded, including the largest bilateral donor to health, education and governance from 2002 to 2018. Across all three sectors, the World Bank has been a larger source of financing, while the health sector has also seen significant contributions from the United States, Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance, the Global Fund and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, particularly in more recent years.

Since 2000, the UK and the World Bank have therefore consistently been among the largest external funders to all three sectors studied in this report. Governance programmes funded by the World Bank and by the UK Government have often worked closely together, with UK programmes providing technical support to enable State Governments to access performance-based World Bank funding. (Chapter 6 analyses how this collaboration was able to incentivise some reforms.)

<sup>11</sup> https://www.cgdev.org/topics/nigerian-debt-relief

<sup>12</sup> The 2016 National Health Facility Survey suggested that donor support and user fees were major sources of cash and in-kind resources (World Bank, 2018). Donor support for education is arguably less important, with one study suggesting less than 1% of total financing for basic education, though perceptions that donors significantly contribute to education services remain high (World Bank, 2015a).



Figure 6 Aid and general government revenues 2002–2017

Sources: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Development Assistance Committee Common Reporting Standard; International Centre for Tax and Development (includes debt relief)

### 4.2 Overview of UK programming in Nigeria

The UK's development assistance to Nigeria has grown over 10 times from 2002 to 2018, in real terms, with disbursements peaking at nearly \$450 million in 2017. UK governance spending was concentrated on governance subsectors which are the focus on this research: public administration (PSM), PFM, and democratic participation and civil society (elements of E&A). Their UK allocations peaked between 2013 and 2016 before declining significantly at the end of the period in review.

The research focused on a subset of UK health or education programmes: those that paid attention to sectoral governance as well as service delivery issues, with a focus on basic education, maternal, newborn and child health (MNCH) care, and immunisation (the UK health portfolio is significantly broader than those issues – including malaria control, HIV and AIDS, and nutrition). Much of this investment focused on a small number of Northern states, including the four case-study states. The research in Yobe has included a large humanitarian programme which also supports some education and health interventions.

UK programmes do not report spending by state, so it is not possible to provide an accurate total amount of UK investments for each of the programmes in each of the four case-study states. Figure 7 is a timeline mapping these UK governance, health, education and humanitarian programmes over the past 20 years (indicating total expenditure or allocated budgets for ongoing programmes). Figure 7 Timeline of UK aid to Nigeria by sector



## 4.3 Three generations of governance programmes

Over the past 20 years, through three generations of governance programmes, the UK has supported Nigerian State Governments to make better use of their own resources to provide health and education services to their citizens. These programmes addressed both:

• 'supply-side' reforms to State Government policy-making and planning, PFM and PSM;

• 'demand-side' reforms (E&A), supporting citizens to influence State Government decision-making and hold the authorities to account.

Box 3 describes the three generations of UK governance reform programming. As stated earlier, UK-funded federal-level or nationwide governance reform programmes (such as Coalitions for Change (C4C, 2007–2011), Federal Public Administration Reform Programme (FEPAR, 2012–2016)) or those covering other aspects of governance reform in Nigerian states relating to security, justice, anticorruption and democracy were not included in the research. They did not have the same continuous presence in the four states over the same time period.

Over the same period, the UK has also invested substantially in health and education reform programmes. Box 4 provides details.

Over the three generations of UK governance programming, interventions and ways of working have been shaped by the changing domestic policy environment in the UK, and by improved understanding of reform processes in Nigerian states. There has been a significant continuity of service providers: DAI over all three generations of UK governance programme support to State Governments (State and Local Government Programme - SLGP; State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability - SPARC; and PERL Accountable, Responsive and Capable government pillar – PERL-ARC), and Palladium over the last two generations of UK support to state-level citizen engagement (State Accountability and Voice Initiative - SAVI; and the PERL Engaged Citizens pillar - PERL-ECP). This continuity has facilitated retention of many management and frontline staff, assisting the evolution of approaches on the basis of experience across successive generations of programmes. The following interventions and approaches broadly characterise how UK programmes aimed to support to state governance reform over time. Chapter 7 reviews the extent to which this was done in practice.

• Support to 'supply-side' State Government reform: SLGP, SPARC and PERL-ARC State Teams provide and facilitate technical support to State Government PFM capacities and processes involving linked State Development Plans, Medium Term Sector Strategies (MTSSs), and medium-term and annual budget forecasting and planning processes. They support PSM processes such as corporate planning and human resources management (HRM) in selected MDAs. They open up space in policy, planning and budgeting processes for citizen engagement.

- Support to 'demand-side' citizen engagement: SLGP, SAVI and PERL-ECP State Teams provide and facilitate capacity building and mentoring support to civil society groups, media personnel and SHoA politicians, both individually and working together in issues-based partnerships, as agents of citizen voice. They build links between state-based partners and communities, ensuring community involvement in budget planning, policy advocacy and project monitoring. They broker working relationships between civil society, media and SHoA and their links into government policy-making, planning and budget processes, with a focus on evidence-based constructive engagement. This approach originated in an attempt to challenge more orthodox development approaches that relied on 'fixing' states through technical assistance, but preserving the status quo (see Chapter 7 for details).
- Thinking and working politically (TWP): Over the period, SLGP, SAVI, SPARC and PERL often aspired to work in ways now referred to as a TWP approach. For example, State Teams regularly conduct participatory political economy analysis (PEA) and use this information to inform programme planning and decision-making. Programme management aims to create an enabling environment for State Teams to be able to work flexibly and adaptively. The experiences of SAVI as a TWP programme have been well documented (Derbyshire et al., 2013, 2014, 2016; Booth and Chambers, 2014). A problem-driven, adaptive, issues-based approach was explicitly

built into the design of PERL. The impact of PERL's architecture on the programme's ability to implement this approach is documented in a separate LEAP study (Aston and Rocha Menocal, 2021).

- Collaboration between UK governance, health and education programmes: Throughout the last 20 years, the UK government has encouraged close collaboration between its governance, health and education programmes, recognising that governance reform is critical to sustainable improvements in service delivery. This has included a coordinated suite of governance, health and education programmes starting in 2008 called the State-Level Programmes (SLP), designed to have a collective impact in the states where they operated; and since 2016, partnerships between PERL and subsector health and education programmes. A further LEAP study has examined the nature and effectiveness of these collaborations (Derbyshire and Williams et al., 2021) and a separate LEAP study has reviewed the
- adoption of issues-based approaches across the UK development portfolio since 2003 (Williams, Derbyshire and Kulutuye, 2021b).
- Federal, state and local governance linkages: The governance programmes this research covers are focused on state-level reforms. Most include a federal-level component and some local government engagement. Activities at these levels were principally designed to support State Government performance, but have not been fully reviewed by this research.
- Gender equality and social inclusion: Some UK governance programmes integrated gender and social inclusion analysis into PEA processes and focused on some issues specifically relating to women, girls and people with disabilities (PWD) in response to UK policy priorities. They support inclusive citizen consultation and advocacy processes, assist in developing and championing legislation on gender and social inclusion, and mentor women in senior positions in government. A separate LEAP study has reviewed PERL's approach to women in governance (Pasanen and Asubiaro, 2021).

#### Box 3 UK governance programmes in case-study states

#### First generation

**Capacity Building for Democracy and Development (CBDD)** 1997–2002; £7 million, a national programme of organisational development support to CSOs which started during Nigeria's military rule. In its second phase, with the advent of democratic rule in 1999, CBDD began UK support to the 'demand side' of governance in the then four DFID focal states of Benue, Enugu, Ekiti and Jigawa.

**State and Local Government Programme (SLGP)** 2001–2008; £25 million; Jigawa 2001; Kano 2005; Kaduna 2007. It was the first UK investment to engage with state officials and state-level governance processes as Nigeria transitioned to democratic rule. SLGP enhanced the capacity and effectiveness of Federal, State and Local Governments to manage resources and support service delivery in response to the interests of people living in poverty.

#### Second generation

**State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability (SPARC)** 2008–2016; £62 million; Jigawa, Kaduna and Kano 2008 (and two other states); Yobe 2011 (and four other states). It worked with State Governments to support changes in the way financial resources were managed and in how strategies and policies were prepared so that public policies and organisations responded to the needs of citizens and upheld their rights.

**State Accountability and Voice Initiative (SAVI)** 2008–2016; £32.3 million; Jigawa, Kaduna and Kano 2008 (and two other states); Yobe 2011 (and four other states). It supported civil society groups, the media and SHoA elected representatives, working in issues-based advocacy partnerships, to be informed, credible and effective agents of citizen voice and accountability. SAVI worked alongside SPARC, enabling non-government partners to play an effective part in promoting more responsive, accountable and inclusive state governance, making a difference to the lives of citizens in their states.

**Mobilising for Development (M4D)** 2012–2018; £20 million; Jigawa, Kaduna and Kano. It supported local governance in three LGAs in each state, strengthening social accountability and tackling social exclusion, with the aim of improving service delivery, particularly for marginalised population groups.

M4D included an accountable grant **Voice to the People: Making governance work for poor and marginalised people** (2012–2018), which, in 2016, expanded from the South East and South West of Nigeria to Kaduna State to facilitate the spread of Community Development Charters, empowering communities to shape government services in their locality and hold government to account.

#### Third generation

**Partnership to Engage, Reform and Learn (PERL)** 2016–2023; £133 million; Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano, Yobe (and two other regions). It comprises three separately contracted pillars: Accountable, Responsive and Capable government pillar (ARC) supporting supply-side initiatives, Engaged Citizens pillar (ECP) supporting demand-side reform, and Learning, Evidence and Advocacy Partnership (LEAP) supporting learning, evidence and research. Collectively 'PERL supports how Nigerian State governments organize their core business of making, implementing, tracking and accounting for policies, plans and budgets used in delivering public goods and services to citizens, and how citizens engage with these processes'.

#### Box 4 UK health and education programmes in case-study states

**Partnership for Transforming Health Systems (PATHS1)** 2001–2008; £56 million; Jigawa, Kano, Kaduna (and other states). PATHS supported local initiatives to strengthen health policy, planning and financing; improve public health management; and raise quality standards in preventive and curative services, including reproductive health, safe motherhood and childhood illnesses.

Partnership for Reviving Routine Immunisation in Northern Nigeria – Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (PRRINN-MNCH) 2006–2013; £38 million; Jigawa, Yobe (and two other northern states). It contributed to improved maternal and child health in Northern Nigeria, improving effective access to Maternal and Child Health services, including routine immunisation.

**Partnership for Transforming Health Systems (PATHS2)** 2008–2015; £176.9 million; Jigawa, Kano, Kaduna (and two other states). It aimed to improve the planning, financing and delivery of sustainable and replicable pro-poor service for common health problems.

**Women for Health: Empowered Female Health Workers in Northern Nigeria (W4H)** 2012–2018; £36 million; Jigawa, Kano, Yobe (and two other northern states). It increased the number of female health workers in training and serving health facilities and rural communities, with the goal of increasing women and children's access to health services in areas of high unmet need.

**Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (MNCH2)** 2013–2019; £132 million; Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano, Yobe (and two other northern states). It supported access to and use of quality healthcare and routine immunisation for pregnant women, newborns and children.

Lafiya (UK Support for Health in Nigeria) 2020–2026; £150 million; Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano, Yobe (and one other northern state). It aims to improve health outcomes by encouraging the Government of Nigeria to invest more resources in health, improve the effectiveness and efficiency of public and private basic health services, and reduce the total fertility rate.

**Capacity for Universal Basic Education (CUBE)** 2003–2008; £18 million; Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano (and 14 other states). It supported the development and implementation of sustainable state programmes for universal basic education.

**Education Sector Support Programme in Nigeria (ESSPIN)** 2009–2017; £124.3 million; Jigawa, Kano, Kaduna (and three other states). It was designed to improve access to and quality of basic education, equitably and sustainably, using an integrated approach to school improvement.

**Girls Education Project (GEP) 2**005–2021; £88 million (for 2012–2021 phase 3). Kano, Jigawa and other northern states. It sought to ensure more girls completed basic education and acquired skills for life and livelihoods in Northern Nigeria.

**Education Data Research and Evaluation in Nigeria (EDOREN)** 2015–2018; £7 million. It focused on northern states with UK education programmes and provided high quality, independent data and research evidence on basic education.

**Teacher Development Programme (TDP)** 2013–2019;  $\pm$ 34 million; Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano (and three other northern states). It improved the quality of teaching and learning in primary and secondary schools and colleges of education to improve pupils' learning outcomes through more effective existing and new teachers.

# 5 What outcomes have been achieved in the four states?

Research question 2: What outcomes in governance, health and education can be evidenced and for whom in the four states?

a. What have been the outcomes in governance (public financial management PFM, PSM and E&A)?

b. What have been the outcomes in terms of health and education systems?

c. What have been the outcomes in terms of health and education services?

d. Which specific groups have benefited or been excluded from these outcomes?

e. How sustainable have the governance changes, and related education and health changes, been within these states, in what way and for whom?

This chapter provides a high-level summary of key trends in governance, health and education outcomes in the four case-study states, identifying where they appear to show sustainable improvements. It first summarises core governance outcomes (PFM, PSM and E&A) (section 5.1) followed by health and education sector governance outcomes (section 5.2) and a review of final health and education service delivery outcomes (5.3). It concludes with a limited analysis of which groups have benefited (5.4). The outcomes trends are summarised in Table 5, Table 6 and Table 7, which use a simple rating derived from a more detailed assessment explained in Annex 2 (Outcomes assessment). The majority of the ratings use the self-reported ratings generated by the UK governance programmes since 2008, including the Governance Assessment and Constituency Influencing Assessment (CIA). Where possible, in order to mitigate the inevitable bias of UK programmes' self-assessments, ratings have been triangulated against externally generated indicators, as well as qualitative ratings provided by the research team based on evidence from interviews and document reviews during the case-study research.13

The separate Flagship Case Studies Report analyses these outcomes and how they have come about within each state (Annex 1), while Chapter 6 provides a synthesis across all states, linking outcomes to combinations of contextual factors, interventions and causal mechanisms.

#### Main findings:

- The data indicates sustainable improvements in a number of core governance and sector governance dimensions, as well as in service delivery.
- In all states, there appears to have been a sustainable strengthening of E&A. Improvement in state PFM processes that do not include an E&A element has been more variable.

<sup>13</sup> The analysis has used final 2018 data, and not provisional 2019 data, because the research is looking at longterm trends. In addition, the use of 2020 and 2021 data would capture the COVID-19 pandemic which has not been fully researched and will affect long-term trends.

- Sustained governance changes cannot be documented in three areas of consistent UK governance support: budget execution, PSM and SHoA oversight.
- All states have increased the share of their budget for health and education (except Yobe in education), and there has been a general improvement across most health and education service delivery indicators (except immunisation).
- Available data does not indicate which groups have benefited, beyond gender dimensions.
- Overall, Jigawa State has performed the best across all governance indicators over the 20-year timespan and there have been major governance improvements in Kaduna State since 2015. Kano State has made least progress on governance indicators, but has still achieved major gains in health and education outcome indicators. Despite the insurgency and shorter period of UK support, Yobe State achieved some gains in core governance and final health outcomes.

#### 5.1 Core governance outcomes

In all states there appears to have been a sustainable strengthening of E&A, as indicated by the enhanced role of civil society and the media in holding government to account (*indicators 11 and 10*). This trend in E&A is also evident across PFM indicators, with clear improvements in budget transparency (*indicator 2*), participation in budget processes by civil society (*indicator 4*) and budget scrutiny by the SHoA (*indicator 3*) in almost all the states. These changes are expected to be sustained in future as changed practices have become embedded and normalised, and will be hard to reverse.

Improvement in state PFM processes which do not include an E&A element has been more variable. There have been improvements in state-level policy and planning processes including their links to budgeting processes in Jigawa and Kaduna, but not in Kano and Yobe (*indicator 1*).

Sustained governance changes cannot be documented in three areas of consistent UK governance support, with variable performance or even reversals.

- Budget execution. Temporary improvements in budget execution have been recorded in the four states, but have not been sustained, and have undergone periods of reversal, except in Jigawa (*indicator 5*). This is despite interventions that improved budget processes, in particular introducing greater transparency and participation.
- **PSM.** Consistent support for PSM since SLGP has not resulted in any sustained organisational development or HRM improvements that could be documented by the indicators that were tracked in any of the states (*indicators 7 and 8*).
- SHoA oversight. While SHoAs' budget scrutiny has improved, sustained changes in wider SHoA oversight roles (of the implementation of the budget and legislation) cannot be documented except in Jigawa (*indicator 9*).

Table 5 Key trends for intermediate outcomes in core governance

Trend ratings:	7	improving trend	→	no trend		deteriorating trend	?	unclear trend		unscored
----------------	---	-----------------	---	----------	--	---------------------	---	---------------	--	----------

Overall performance ratings rather than trends have been used for selected indicators with highly fluctuating values (*indicator 9*) or short time series (*indicator 12*) using the following ratings of strong performance; average performance; and weak performance.

Key to indicator types: GA=PERL Governance Assessment (and previous SPARC Self Evaluation Assessment Tool (SEAT)/ PEFA assessments); CIA=PERL Constituency Influencing Assessment; SAVI=SAVI Outcome Indicators; PFM=PERL PFM database; NSBTS=Nigerian States Budget Transparency Survey, Civil Resource Development and Documentation Centre; TA=Team Assessment (qualitative based in interviews and document review).

Int	ermediate outcomes	Reference period	Indicator type	Jigawa	Kaduna	Kano	Yobe
	1. Quality of state level policy, planning and budgeting processes	2009–2021	GA	я	Я	<b>→</b>	→ (2012-18)
	2. Budget transparency	2012– 2020	NSBTS	я	Я	я	я
	3. Scrutiny of the budget by the State House of Assembly	2009–2021	GA	я	Я	я	<b>7</b> (2012-18)
F	4. Participation in budget processes by citizens and CSOs	2009–2021	GA	я	Я	<b>→</b>	<b>7</b> (2012-18)
PFM	5. Budget execution for total expenditure	2003-2018	PFM				
	6. Quality of public procurement		ТА	<b>7</b> (2012–21)			<b>7</b> (2012–21)
	7. Corporate planning processes for State Government MDAs	2009–2021	GA	<b>→</b>	→	→ (2012-21)	→ (TA)
PSM	8. Central civil service human resource management	2009–2021	GA	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	
	9. State House of Assembly oversight	2010-2021	SAVI GA	Я	<b>&gt;</b>	<b>&gt;</b>	
	10. Media reporting on governance and accountability	2012– 2021	SAVI GA	я	Я	Я	я
	11. Civil society capacity to hold State Government to account	2012– 2021	SAVI CIA	я	Я	я	я
E&A	12. Sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes	2018- 2021	CIA	Я	7	→	<b>→</b>

### 5.2 Core governance, health and education intermediate outcomes

The data indicates the following improvements in sector governance which are associated with UK governance as well as health and education programmes' interventions:

• All states have increased the share of the budget spent on health and education

(*indicators 14 and 21*, except education in Yobe). This indicates that these sectors have been afforded greater priority despite the considerable reduction in state revenues over the past two decades. However, spending per capita has generally stagnated, since the increased budgets have not been sufficient to keep pace with population growth. Unfavourable fiscal trends and population growth mean that spending per capita on health and education is unlikely to be sustained in future.

- Health and education policy, planning and budgeting processes improved in Jigawa and Kaduna (*indicators 13 and 20*). The two states also performed well in terms of these core processes (*indicator 1*) suggesting a probable link between core and sector governance.
- Sector human resources have improved despite the lack of progress across all states

on centre of government human resources (*indicator 8*). They improved for primary health (*indicator 17* all states except Yobe) and for basic education (*indicator 24*, for Jigawa and Kaduna only).

• Civil society advocacy for health and education improved in all four states (*indicators 18 and 25* except Yobe where there were few UK education interventions). It seems related to increased civil society capacity to hold State Government to account across all states (*indicator 11*).

The intermediate sector governance outcomes where there has *not* been a clear improvement, even though UK governance and sector programmes have been working on interventions relevant to achieving results (across all states, except where indicated), include:

- No increase in the share of the budget for primary health or basic education (*indicators 15 and 22*) despite overall increases in state budgets for health and education (except Jigawa).
- No improved budget execution rates for health and education spending (*indicators 16 and 22*, except Jigawa, excluding education in Yobe where there were few UK intervention).

**Table 6** Key trends for intermediate outcomes in health and education sector governance

Trend ratings:	7	improving trend	→	no trend		deteriorating trend	?	unclear trend		unscored
----------------	---	-----------------	---	----------	--	---------------------	---	---------------	--	----------

Overall performance ratings rather than trends have been used for selected indicators with highly fluctuating values (*indicators 16 and 23*) or short time series (*indicators 18, 19, 25, 26*): strong performance; average performance; and weak performance.

Key to indicator types: GA=PERL Governance Assessment (and previous SPARC SEAT/PEFA assessments); CIA=PERL Constituency Influencing Assessment; SAVI=SAVI Outcome Indicators; PFM=PERL PFM database; NSBTS=Nigerian States Budget Transparency Survey, Civil Resource Development and Documentation Centre; TA=Team Assessment (qualitative based in interviews and document review).

Int	ermediate outcomes	Reference period	Indicator type	Jigawa	Kaduna	Kano	Yobe
	13. Health policy, planning and budgeting	2008-2020	ТА	Я	Я	→	<b>→</b> (2012-20)
	14. Share of State budget for health	2003-2018	PFM	Я	7	7	7
	15. State-level spending on primary health	2003–2018	PFM	7	7	7	2
	16. Budget execution rate for health spending	2003–2018	PFM				
e	17. Human resources for primary health	2008–2020	ТА	Я	7	7	
overnan	18. Civil society advocacy on health	2018– 2021	ΤΑ CIA				
Health governance	19. Sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health policy and funding	2018- 2021	TA CIA				
	20. Education policy, planning and budgeting	20032020	ТА	7	7	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>
	21. Share of State budget for education	2003-2018	PFM	7	71	7	<b>→</b>
	22. Share of State budget for basic education	2003–2018	PFM	7	3	3	<b>→</b>
	23. Budget execution rate for education spending	2008–2018	PFM				
governance	24. Human resources for primary education	2018– 2020	ТА		Я		
	25. Civil society advocacy on education	2018– 2021	ΤΑ CIA				
Education	26. Sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in education policy and funding	2018– 2021	ΤΑ CIA				

### 5.3 Health and education final outcomes

Final health and education outcomes are described in Table 7. The main findings are that:

• There has been a general improvement in health indicators in all four states, which has generally exceeded the average for Northwest Nigeria. The exception is for immunisation coverage, where no significant and sustained improvement can be identified. COVID-19 is putting significant pressure on health systems but also resulting in increased attention and access to donor resources; it is too early to assess prospects for sustainability in this context.

• There has been a general improvement in education indicators in all four states, in particular for primary school enrolment, gender parity in school enrolment and primary school completion rates. COVID-19 is likely to have had a negative impact due to lengthy school closures and pressure on budgets.

**Table 7** Key trends for health and education outcomes

Trend ratings: 🔊 improving trend 🏓 no trend 📓 deteriorating trend 🔋 unclear trend 🗌 unscored

Key to data sources: ASC=Annual School Census, DHS=Demographic and Health Survey, SUBEB = State Basic Universal Education Board.

Final	outcomes	Reference period	Reference period Indicator type	Jigawa	Kaduna	Kano	Yobe
	27. Percentage of women receiving antenatal care from a skilled provider	2008-2020	DHS 2008, 2013, 2018	Я	я	Я	я
	28. Percentage of women who delivered in a health facility	2003-2018	DHS 2008, 2013, 2018	Я	<b>→</b>	я	Я
	29. Percentage of women who delivered using a skilled provider	2003-2018	DHS 2008, 2013, 2018	7	<b>→</b>	Я	я
tcomes	30. Children under 5 who slept under an insecticide treated bednet the night before the survey	2003-2018	DHS 2008, 2013, 2018	Я	Я	7	Я
Health outcomes	31. Immunisation Coverage (% children 12-23 months who received all basic immunisation)	2008–2020	DHS 2008, 2013, 2018	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	Я	<b>→</b>
	32. Gross enrolment rate – census based	2018-2021	ASC/SUBEB	<b>A</b> SC 2009–18	→ ASC 2009-20	<b>7</b> ASC 2009–17	→ SUBEB 2010-20
outcomes	33. Primary school completion rate – survey based	2018-2021	MICS 2007, 2011, 2016	Я	Я	Я	я
Education outcomes	34. Education policy, planning and budgeting	2003-2020	ASC	<b>7</b> ASC 2009–18	<b>A</b> SC 2009–18	<b>A</b> SC 2009–18	

# 5.4 Which groups have benefited from these outcomes?

This research question was framed too ambitiously given the data that UK governance programmes have been collecting, reflecting the relative priority given to gender and inclusion. Beyond gender and PWD, interventions do not generally target different social groups or monitor inclusion (e.g. in terms of age, rural/urban, religious or ethnic denomination), though PERL has been deepening its approach and improving its gender and equity reporting in recent years.

Reflecting on which specific groups have benefited or been excluded in states' **intermediate outcomes, some states have achieved good performance over the past three years in the sensitivity to gender and social inclusion of policies and programmes** in terms of core governance, health and education (*indicators 12, 19 and 26*). Kaduna and Jigawa appear to have done better than Kano and Yobe. However, these outcomes have only been tracked systematically for the past three years making a long-term trend assessment impossible.

In terms of final health and education outcomes, gender parity in education has improved. Health indicators mostly track maternal and child health, and indicate that these groups have benefited. Indicators for other dimensions of social exclusion are not readily available.

Looking at **outcomes in of each of the states** (see Table 8), it is clear that **Jigawa State** has seen the strongest performance across all the intermediate indicators for governance, health and education, and the second best for final health and education outcomes. **Kano State** demonstrates the weakest performance in core governance outcomes, the second weakest in sector governance outcomes but the most improvement in all final health and education outcomes. There have been major governance improvements in **Kaduna State** since 2015. Despite the insurgency and shorter period of support, **Yobe State** achieved some gains in core governance and in final health outcomes.

Indicators	Jigawa	Kaduna	Kano	Yobe
Core governance	83%	64%	36%	60%
Sector governance	85%	71%	31%	22%
Final health and education	88%	62%	100%	71%

Table 8 Percentage of scored indicators with sustained improvements or good performance

Chapter 6 explores explanations for these differences across states. It examines how these changes in core governance, and potentially related changes in health and education governance and service delivery, are likely to have come about. It considers the interplay between contextual factors, UK interventions, causal mechanisms and outcomes, and what explains differences across the four states (using the ToC and analytical approach set out in Chapter 2).

# 6 How have UK governance programmes contributed to outcomes?

Research question 3: What are the main mechanisms through which UK-funded programmes have contributed to changes in governance, and related health and education changes in the four states?

a. What are the main mechanisms through which governance interventions generate changes in core governance systems, for whom and to what end?

b. What are the main mechanisms by which these core governance systems generate related changes in education systems and services and in health systems and services, and for whom?

c. In which ways have contextual conditions interacted with the operation of the mechanisms?

d. How do the interactions between contextual conditions and mechanisms affect the outcomes that are generated?

This chapter synthesises findings across the four state case studies to answer the overall research question of 'whether, how, under what conditions and for whom have UK-funded state-level governance programmes in Nigeria contributed to sustained changes in governance and related changes in health and education in the Northern States of Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe since 2000'.

The contribution of UK governance programmes to the documented outcomes is assessed based

on the extent to which there is evidence that UK programme interventions (I) stimulated a range of causal mechanisms (M) in given contexts (C) which together explain how the intermediate and final outcomes (O) came about. Table 9 summarises some of these combinations.

The research uses three levels to assess UK programmes' contribution:

- 1. Association: plausible connection due to congruence and co-presence
- 2. Partial contribution: demonstrable empirical link
- 3. Firm contribution: highly unique empirical link (sine qua non). Would not have happened without UK support.

The chapter begins by analysing whether and how results were achieved in terms of contributions of UK interventions to core governance reforms (section 6.1), before examining what can be learned about the contribution of core governance to health and education outcomes (section 6.2). It then reflects on 'for whom' governance programmes operated though data is limited (section 6.3). It concludes with overall reflections (section 6.4).

#### Main findings:

 UK-funded state-level governance programmes have contributed to sustained institutional changes in a significant number of dimensions of core governance in Jigawa, Kaduna and Yobe but to a lesser extent in Kano. SLGP, SPARC, SAVI and PERL have been working consistently on relatively similar PFM, PSM and E&A reform areas for between 10 years (Yobe) to 20 years (Jigawa). The research was able to document that their cumulative interventions have contributed to sustained changes; in other words to changes at the level of institutions.

- Political contextual factors and political incentives are always at play in the documented state-level initiatives or reforms that contributed to governance, health and education improvements. In particular, more reforms were documented when Governors were politically secure rather than facing fragmented politics, as in Jigawa, Yobe and Kaduna since 2015. The respective role of financial, bureaucratic or state-society incentives varied.
- The majority of more durable changes along the service delivery chain which can be linked to UK governance interventions have come about through E&A interventions – a combination of government action and external pressure from organised citizens or their representatives. These almost always took the form of constructive engagement, rather than confrontational or less structured engagement (only documented once in Kaduna). PSM, budget execution and SHoA oversight showed less progress, probably because of political economy factors, as they impinge on central patronage systems.
- The research can only evidence association between general core governance interventions and sector governance improvements, with PFM and E&A much better evidenced than PSM factors (though a credible causal chain from UK interventions to increases in health and education budgets across all states could be better explained).
- There is evidence of a partial contribution of governance interventions targeted to specific health and education issues, but

they require active collaboration between governance and sector programmes. When donor governance interventions pushed State Governments against political interests driving their service delivery programmes, they risked undermining health or education improvements, as in Kano.

 Health and education outcomes can improve without governance interventions. In Kano, which has seen health and education service delivery improvements, results seem to depend greatly on a 'low political cost' incentive, which enables access to development partners' funding. However, results are less likely to be sustainable as more difficult systems reforms are eschewed. Over the longer term, development partners funding for service delivery without governance reforms could potentially increase citizens' expectations, and through this channel motivate more institutionalised improvements.

#### 6.1 How have governance interventions contributed to governance outcomes?

Finding: Improvements in core governance systems internal to state processes ('supply side') have taken place in contexts where Governors showed wider commitments to their state's development, entrusted the bureaucracy to deliver their objectives, and made intelligent use of UK support. This was in particular evident in Jigawa over three Governorships and in Kaduna since 2015 in the policy, planning and budgeting, budget transparency and participation intermediate outcomes, as well as in some procurement reforms (Jigawa). Yobe showed improvement in budget transparency and participation, but not across the full range of policy and PFM outcomes. The most relevant **contextual factor** for **Jigawa** and **Yobe** was the **limited political competition** faced by Governors, meaning that they could pursue reforms with limited challenge as long as they delivered a minimum for their patronage networks. The influence of UK support was enhanced by the continuity across Governors from the same party in Yobe and the election of only three Governors with the same power base (despite switching parties) in Jigawa. This was combined with a relatively capable bureaucracy (in the case of Jigawa, a legacy of the Kano civil service before Jigawa was created from Kano) which was strengthened over time as a result of UK interventions.

In **Kaduna**, improvements mostly started after Governor El-Rufai was elected in 2015. His secure political position (in contrast with earlier governors) meant that he was able to change the composition of the civil service by appointing a cadre of younger officials and like-minded Commissioners. Governor El-Rufai could draw on systems developed with UK support by civil servants, but not fully endorsed or employed by the political leadership before him.

In **Kano**, the political context militates against reforms that would weaken the Governor's control over the civil service and financial decisions in particular. There is a higher level of political competition with factions between political elite within and/or between parties. This creates political insecurity for the Governor and his supporters.

Another contrasting contextual factor has been violence and its effects. The insurgency and resulting population displacements in Yobe have made it harder, but not impossible, to focus on core governance reforms, in particular budget discipline, which has often been undermined by unforeseen security and emergency spending. **Kaduna** has experienced high levels of violence, but this does not appear to have affected the current reform drive.

UK governance interventions always stimulated a range of political and bureaucratic mechanisms to drive core governance outcomes internal to government processes. SLGP, SPARC and PERL-ARC drew on Governors' need for 'political credit' earned from the reputation of being a reformer or from delivering development benefits to **specific** constituencies. They motivated the civil service to innovate through processes that encouraged 'reform ownership' (e.g. SLGP supported State Government-led reform teams and promoted the use of self-assessment tools that were later picked up by SPARC - see Annex 1, Box 1 for SLGP's approach in Jigawa). In Jigawa and Yobe a sense of 'state-building and innovation' drive, motivated by a desire to catch up with the richer and larger neighbours (Kano and Borno, out of which they were created) could be sensed in interviews with civil servants (see Annex 1, Box 2). Jigawa stakeholders seemed incentivised by a related 'peer pressure' mechanism, aiming to rank first in all-Nigeria comparisons (e.g. Nigeria State Budget Transparency Survey and sharing Jigawa State innovations with other states, with support from UK programmes). The 'new skills' and 'routinisation' mechanisms helped civil servants move from an openness to change towards embedding new ways of working. For example, they adopted new budget processes (in Jigawa 'new scientific methods' to prepare budgets or in Yobe better adherence to the budget calendar and publishing budgets online (see Annex 1, Box 10 on Yobe).

**Financial incentives have significantly influenced these improvements in intermediate core governance outcomes**. The prospect of accessing funding from the World Bank State Fiscal Transparency Accountability and Sustainability (SFTAS) Program for Results has motivated PFM reforms, and PERL's **firm contribution** to meeting SFTAS requirements can be clearly identified (see Box 5 below). A critical success factor was the presence of PERL delivery teams in the states, with long-term and close relationships with counterparts and the ability to quickly provide the required technical or other support to meet the disbursement criteria. The extent to which the reforms will be sustainable cannot be assessed at present. The COVID-19 crisis could potentially intensify pressures to better manage ever-declining financial resources.

### Box 5 Incentives through the State Fiscal Transparency Accountability and Sustainability (SFTAS) Program for Results

SFTAS is a World Bank programme that provides states with conditional grants in return for PFM and PSM improvements. Critical eligibility criteria include the publication of the state budget and audited financial accounts. Other disbursement Linked Indicators incentivise a range of additional reforms. Jigawa, Kaduna and Yobe have each performed significantly better than Nigerian states on average and have received substantial funding from the programme over the past two years (whereas Kano has performed less well than the Nigerian average).

For the 2018 and 2019 Annual Performance Assessments, the four states covered by this study received \$56.4 million from the SFTAS programme, which was \$15.2 million more than they would have received had their performance been at the level of the average Nigerian state. The short duration of the SFTAS programme (three years) raises questions about whether the reforms will be sustained. However, many of the indicators have required visible changes in practices (e.g. publication of audited financial statements) that will be difficult for states to reverse without complaint from legislative, civil society and media bodies.

Development partners' coordination would seem a more fragile 'financial mechanism', as it requires collective action by multiple powerful stakeholders which is hard to sustain, not only State Governments but also donor and other external agencies and their implementers. In Yobe, PERL made a firm contribution to improving the State Government coordination of humanitarian assistance (estimated at \$500m per year, considerably larger than the State Government budget of around \$300m) with some initial signs of progress before PERL pulled out of the state in 2021 due to FCDO budget cuts (see Annex

1, Box 11). The strongest example of sustained donor coordination for governance reforms is **Kaduna from 2015**, where Governor El-Rufai had an explicit strategy of using donor programmes to support his agenda. For instance, he drew on governance frameworks developed with support from UK programmes (see Annex 1, Box 6). Examples of duplicated interventions identified by the research (for example in Jigawa over financial management information systems developed by UK and European Union/World Bank programmes) show the 'donor coordination mechanism' is harder to incentivise. State Governments' ability to pick and choose, and development partners' preference for relatively independent action (unless others follow their lead), would seem more powerful incentives explaining actual behaviour.

Across these 'supply-side' interventions, UK governance contributions are assessed as a mix of partial and firm, depending on the level of uptake of UK support and the range of alternative sources of support.

Finding: The majority of more durable changes along the service delivery chain which can be linked to UK governance interventions have come about through E&A initiatives - a combination of government action and external pressure from organised citizens or their representatives (collaborating with CSOs, media and SHoA members). Across PFM and PSM initiatives, it is notable that the processes which rely on transparency and participation have made more progress over 10-20 years than those that are more clearly within the remit of politicians (e.g. budget execution controlled by State Governors) or internal to the bureaucracy (e.g. PSM such as corporate planning or HRM with no external oversight).

UK programmes have worked at different levels to encourage external accountability:

 Starting with SLGP support to the media in Jigawa, scaled up across all states under SAVI and continued under PERL-ECP, UKfunded interventions have strengthened the wider capacity of CSOs, media and SHoAs. Interventions have included capacity-building for CSOs or SHoAs, as well as facilitation of processes in which they engage state officials. A distinctive approach has been to 'take the money off the table' by not providing grants to CSOs and instead facilitating their ability to operate through non-financial support.

• SAVI and PERL have also targeted civil society participation in specific governmentled processes ('invited spaces') which opened up the 'black box' of state decision-making to public scrutiny, such as participatory budgeting and community Charters of Demand, and collaborating with media on raising specific policy issues with government.

This finding does not seem consistent with national trends. While World Bank governance indicators show improvements in voice and accountability over the period, the Ibrahim Index of Africa Governance indicates growing restrictions on civil society space, media freedoms and elections since 2015 (see Chapter 3). UK interventions are likely to have shaped the specific ways in which civil society and media engage with State Governments (i.e. partial contribution).

The main difference in **contextual factors** between the four states relates to the intensity of political competition. **Kano** currently has the most politically competitive environment; Governors maintain personal control of budgets and eschew budget scrutiny, whereas in **Kaduna** since 2015, **Jigawa** and **Yobe**, Governors are more secure and can afford to open up governance processes.

The nature of organised civil society is also different. In **rural Jigawa and Yobe,** grassroots CBOs were not always able to influence statelevel processes in the early 2000s. Since then, civil servants with pre-existing skills and good access to State Governments (retired, but not always) established CSOs. In **urbanised Kano and Kaduna**, however, metropolitan elites and interest groups were already better organised before UK programmes started, with at times conflicting relationships with state authorities. Despite **violence in Yobe**, community-based structures of the state-wide Voice and Accountability Platform have been able to function, and establish Constituency Clusters and Community Protection Action Groups in every ward.

In these contexts, SAVI and PERL-ECP have adopted a **constructive approach** through which they facilitate access to the State Government through **'new spaces and processes'** such as participation in budget processes (Jigawa, Kaduna and Kano). The most common complementary mechanisms have been **'insider access'**, in particular in **Jigawa** and **Yobe**, where retired civil servants or traditional leaders with personal networks in government could exert influence through private meetings. In **Kano**, insider access seems to have been the alternative to new processes, given the State Government's limited commitment to openness (see Annex 1, Box 16 on MNCH advocacy in Kano).

New spaces are often combined with other mechanisms to support citizens' influence on governance processes: '**eyes and ears**' includes grassroots monitoring, but needs to be combined with '**voice**' (making use of the media to raise government awareness on issues of concerns to citizens, or not just participating in budget meetings but also influencing the content) and '**teeth**' (the ability to engender sanctions that will bite, to have most influence).

**'Naming and shaming'** was not associated with greater state responsiveness to citizens; the only example, Know Your Budget in **Kaduna**, might have led to a reduction in an over-inflated state budget in response to external pressure in 2010, but over the medium-term, it damaged relations between the State Government and CSOs, as well as between the State Government and development partners (see Annex 1, Box 8 on the confrontational approach in Kaduna). A more successful approach is that adopted by the Project Monitoring Partnership (PMP) in Jigawa, which not only monitors infrastructure project delivery ('eyes and ears') but has also obtained an institutionalised role in collaborating with the State Government's Due Process and Project Monitoring Bureau giving PMP and its affiliated CBOs based in all Jigawa LGAs the power of sanction ('voice and teeth') which is reportedly influencing contractors' behaviour. (See Annex 1, Box 3 for an example including credible sanctions in Jigawa around project monitoring).

Reflecting on the type of E&A support provided, PERL and predecessor programmes have engaged with similar types of CSO and media partners; those willing to engage with State Governments' own agendas, rather than those making more radical challenges or social movements such as those that responded to the #EndSARS protests against widespread police violence in 2020.

Across these interventions, UK **governance contributions are assessed as a mix of partial and firm,** depending on the level of uptake of UK support and the range of alternative sources of support.

Finding: The only E&A indicator where there has been less progress over the period is SHoAs' general oversight role of the implementation of laws and the budget (as opposed to scrutinising budget preparation). Only Jigawa demonstrates some sustained progress. SHoAs received intensive SAVI support, continued under PERL-ECP. This included organisational capacity of SHoAs and greater understanding by citizens of the role of the SHoA. SAVI/PERL-ECP have also supported greater financial autonomy from the executive, with new laws adopted in all states (following a Nigeria-wide trend). Some SHoA members were motivated by UK interventions, which helped them to understand better their roles and power ('skills and innovation' mechanism), and trust was increased between SHoAs, civil society groups and media who participated in budget hearings ('new spaces and processes' mechanism) (see Annex 1, Box 15 for an illustration in Kano). While these interventions bore fruit in terms of SHoAs' participation in budget processes, there does not appear to have been much progress in strengthening their wider oversight mandate (at least as measured by PERL indicators).

The lack of a clear UK contribution to strengthening SHoA oversight is probably due to contextual factors: SHoA members are dependent on Governors for their appointments and political careers, and remain primarily interested in benefiting their power base through their patronage networks rather than indirectly via better and more accountable government performance. Laws providing SHoA with financial autonomy, and thereby the resources to undertake oversight activities, were passed since 2018. It may also be due to relative UK efforts, with greater overall attention to 'upstream' budget preparation rather than 'downstream' execution (and the role of SHoAs within this) by SLGP, SPARC, SAVI and PERL across all the states and time periods. Interviews also suggest a misunderstanding in what budget oversight would mean - seen by some as an audit or witch-hunt rather than factfinding. In addition, UK-supported civil society groups, such as PMP in Jigawa and Yobe's Voice and Accountability Platforms, might have been better placed and resourced to play the oversight role in SHoAs' mandates.

Finally, the inclusion of SHoA alongside the media and CSOs as citizens' voice structure – rather than seeing the SHoA as part of political society with divergent interests from CSOs or media – appears potentially inconsistent with other governance programmes' approaches. (This would warrant further investigation to compare the strengths and challenges of different types of parliamentary assistance and coalition-building programmes.)

Finding: UK PFM interventions did not result in improved overall budget execution (except in Jigawa and latterly in Yobe) and PSM interventions did not demonstrably contribute to improvements in civil service performance in any of the states.

UK-funded interventions in support of these objectives started under SLGP, and continued throughout SPARC and PERL-ARC. As these areas received intensive support from UK governance programmes, it is important to understand what might have been the barriers to change. The lack of effectiveness could be due to poor design and/or poor delivery of UK programmes' support (which meant that they did not target the most receptive stakeholders or relevant causal mechanisms, or aimed to influence relevant stakeholders and mechanisms but were unable to do so), and/or due to contextual factors that made it particularly difficult for any initiative to succeed (even PSM in the more reform-oriented Jigawa context), and/or that the indicators are not adequately tracking the changes that have taken place.

Our interpretation is that the reforms tracked by these indicators and supported by the UK were not well aligned with political and bureaucratic motivations, even under reformminded Governors, and defied external pressures generated by increased transparency and participation in policy, planning and budgeting. Decisions regarding budget execution and staff appointments are central to managing patronage networks, especially when states are the largest employer, and salaries contribute to the local economy. Patronage includes the ability to appoint staff to public service positions, redirect resources to Emirates or senatorial zones in order to gain their leaders' backing, or issue public contracts as a reward for political support. PFM and PSM reforms that push against these pressures cannot motivate a strong 'political credit' incentive. On the contrary, they are politically costly as staffing and budget execution reforms could threaten the popularity of an insecure Governor (e.g. Kano) or patronage networks even in less competitive contexts (e.g. Jigawa). Internal PSM bureaucratic processes also provided limited opportunities for external oversight (and UK programmes seem to have provided relatively less support to accountability such as auditing). Budget execution and PSM are therefore more likely to be difficult for UK governance programmes to influence.

Interviews confirmed the trend towards a weakening of civil service capacity and increased politicisation, even in relatively reform-minded **Jigawa**. There is a concern about the pending retirement of senior civil servants who benefited from UK support for 10–20 years and are not being replaced by a new generation or sustained by institutionalised new HRM systems in both **Yobe** and **Jigawa**.

**PSM improvements have taken place, however**. In **Kaduna**, Governor El-Rufai has used his powers to reform the civil service, removing many existing civil servants who would have blocked his reform agenda by reducing staff numbers and restructuring MDAs. These changes have not been supported by PERL-ARC nor tracked by UK programmes' indicators used by this research. This finding of limited sustained improvements to PSM and budget execution is not surprising from the perspective of expectations about what international support to institutional reforms can achieve. It is consistent with the wider evidence base on PSM, which finds few examples of successful system-wide reforms supported by international development agencies. The record on PFM is slightly better than on PSM more generally (IEG, 2011), though reforms have rarely met development partners' high expectations (Fritz et al., 2017; de Renzio et al., 2011).

The exception is Jigawa's improved budget execution at an aggregate level (and also in terms of health and education execution), which is examined below. Given that the nature of UK PFM interventions has been relatively similar across states, **contextual factors** are the most likely explanation. Governor Lamido, under whom most PFM reforms took place, was genuinely committed to improving service delivery, supported by a similarly motivated civil service.

#### 6.2 How have governance interventions contributed to health and education outcomes?

Finding: The contribution of UK governance programmes' core governance interventions to sector outcomes is much more difficult to demonstrate with a high level of certainty. There is, however, evidence of (i) association (plausible connection due to congruence and co-presence) on some issues when core governance UK interventions can be located in a plausible causal chain, and of (ii) partial contribution on sector-specific governance issues through targeted interventions. The causal chain from 'upstream' measures to 'downstream' results over 20 years is too challenging to document given the vast numbers of contextual factors, interventions and mechanisms. Even though the research focused more closely on access to MNCH services and to basic education, where there has been consistent UK support, the number of potentially relevant contextual factors and UK interventions still remains large, as are the number and financial size of other international development partners' support. The research has therefore aimed to provide evidence that (i) interventions were part of a sufficient package of interventions along the service delivery chain or that (ii) they contributed to addressing targeted issues, i.e. they were problem-oriented interventions linked to a specific governance barrier (rather than general core governance systems' improvements). Under both pathways, governance interventions would aim at sustainable, institutional change rather than shorter-term improvements.

Hypothesis: governance interventions can contribute to adequate funding for service delivery which is a *necessary* condition for improvements in service delivery (though funds also have to be targeted on priority issues and budgets have to be executed). This has been achieved in two ways with support from UK governance programmes, by (i) improving states' systems to make better use of their own resources, and (ii) accessing more donor (or federal) funds.

First, improved policy, planning and budgeting at the aggregate state-level could be assumed to improve these processes at the sector level. It is hard to have an effective sectoral policy framework (e.g. MTSS) in the absence of an effective state development plan to establish overall priorities and the resource envelope. Budget ceilings for different sectors are set by the Ministries of Budget and Planning. Progress in Jigawa and Kaduna would seem to support this link: sector (health and education) policy, planning and budgeting processes improved, as did central government processes in conducive political contexts for governance reforms where political incentives could be stimulated ('political credit' and 'political legitimacy'), as well as bureaucratic incentives linked to sector improvements (such as 'routinisation') reviewed above. The involvement of health and education ministries as 'pilots' in early MTSS processes and the use of 'train the trainers' for sectors to train their own staff on MTSSs, brought these ministries into the state-wide process, by building on the 'reform ownership' and 'skills and innovation' incentives. (See Annex 1, Box 5 for an illustration from Jigawa on political incentives to improve rural health.) This association was not found in Yobe, which is considered to have a relatively enabling political environment but is affected by conflict and which received a shorter period of UK governance assistance.

This link between central and sector improvements required active coordination and collaboration between programmes -SLGP, SPARC and PERL-ARC (central processes) and CUBE, ESSPIN, TDP (education) and PATHS1/2, MNCH2, W4 Hand Lafiya (health) (sectoral processes). Interviews and reviewed documents provided several examples of supportive complementarity between programmes (also evidenced in Derbyshire and Williams, 2021). However, if UK governance and sector programmes do not work consistently across central and sector processes, they can push and pull State Governments in opposite directions in terms of policy, planning and budgeting. For example, the case studies found examples of ESSPIN encouraging excessive allocations for education, given state's overall budget envelopes during MTSS processes, or SAVI/PERL-ECP and MNCH2 supporting advocacy campaigns to fund

free MNCH services, while SPARC/PERL-ARC were concerned about overall financial affordability and the integrity of budget processes. (See Annex 1, Boxes 4 and 9 which provide more details on the benefits and challenges of programme coordination in Jigawa and Kaduna, respectively.)

While all four State Governments increased the share of their budgets for health and for education (except Yobe with regard to education), it is hard to fully evidence a causal chain from UK governance interventions to these significant outcomes. The research has not been able to confirm the underlying reasons behind this trend, so it was not possible to establish how this might be related to core governance improvements. A hypothesis that general confidence in improved policy, planning and budgeting processes combined with external state-level pressure encouraged these sector increases cannot be demonstrated as only Jigawa and Kaduna had improved core processes and in Yobe (though more limited), but not in Kano which also saw increases in the share of health and education budgets. Wider factors, well beyond UK governance programmes' interventions, are likely to be at play. These are explored in Box 6, distinguishing between incentives to increase allocations during a period of real term growth in revenues from the ones to maintain high allocations (most credibly due to the difficulty of reducing health and education sectors personnel).

### Box 6 Understanding increases in state health and education budgets from a fiscal perspective

One of the most consistent trends across all four states supported by PERL and its predecessor programmes was the increased share of state budgets dedicated to health and education. As a result, all states were spending more in real terms in 2018 on health and education than they were in 2004, even though overall spending has declined with the value of federal transfers.

There are two questions: (i) why did allocations increase? and (ii) why did they remain high in a tighter fiscal environment since 2015?

The real terms growth in revenues for all four states in the early part of the study period allowed a significant expansion of health and education spending. Jigawa, Kano and Kaduna increased wage spending as a share of the sector budget over time (to a greater extent than administration personnel). The political motives for prioritising health over other sectors are not evident, given the low political salience of these sectors. The research has explored the following explanations:

- global and federal pressures to make these sectors state priorities (see chapter 3)
- conditional donor financing of these sectors
- development partners programmes that supported citizens demand for improved health and education services, and activities to monitor of these sectors, raising their political relevance.

The most probable fiscal reason why allocations remained high is that the growth in wage spending has been difficult to reverse when revenues fall, most notably around 2015. Health and education are among the largest employers within the State Governments, which has also meant education and health spending has grown further as a share of the overall budget. When revenues started to decline, development and operational budgets were restricted more than wage budgets. Regardless of the political prioritisation of the sectors, states chose to protect wage budgets from harsh cuts by increasing personnel spending in nominal terms but below the level of inflation, while operational and development budgets often shrank more dramatically. The distribution of rents through appointments of teachers and medical personnel could be another political incentive. The result is a budget that further prioritises health and education due to the large health and education payroll.

Development partners funding for capital expenditure is often off-budget; as a result, its effect on health and education allocations cannot be analysed in the same way.

Source: Research team analysis

There is a clear association between aggregate budget execution rates and budget execution rates for health and education. This association appears to be strongest in Jigawa, where gains in aggregate budget execution have clearly been translated into similar improvements in the health and education sectors. It suggests that overall improvements in budgeting are important for sector-level spending. Equally, in states where budget execution rates have not improved significantly, like Kano, sector budgets continue to be under-executed, though there are cases where sector-level budgets perform better or worse than the overall state budget (as was the case in Yobe). Weak budget credibility has not prevented states from significantly increasing overall levels of social spending as a share of the budget, though Jigawa has raised spending more in relative terms than the other states, except for Kano where education spending grew significantly in 2017 and 2018. The impact of greater budget credibility on the execution of policy or the efficiency of funding flows could not be assessed with the data available and could be explored further in the future.

However, the research could not find sufficient evidence of a credible and necessary causal chain between core governance interventions influencing sector governance and outcomes in terms of targeting primary service delivery levels. Overall increases in state funding for health and education across all the states did not always reach the primary levels. It should be noted that these are LGA-level functions, so state budget spending is additional to grants provided to the lower tiers of government, and also that budget data at this level of disaggregation is less reliable. Nonetheless, the data suggests that Jigawa and Yobe (from a very low base) have both increased spending on **basic education** as a share of the overall and sector-level budget, while Jigawa and Kaduna (since 2016) have also done so for primary health care. The connection to core governance interventions is not clear-cut, but confirms some of the general patterns already noted. Nor is there sufficient data to determine whether additional spending by states has had a significant impact on the availability, equity or quality of services in these sectors.

Turning to the second causal pathway to improving funding for service delivery, core governance reforms have enabled states to attract financing through aid or federal transfers (from the World Bank through programmes such as SFTAS, Saving One Million Lives (SOML) or Better Education Service Delivery for All (BESDA) and through federal transfers, such as Universal Basic Education Commission, UBEC). SFTAS funds are not earmarked and so are available for spending in any sector, including health and education (although there is no guarantee and tracking of SFTAS funds to ensure this happens). Improved coordination among development partners (in Kaduna since 2015 in particular) is another strategy to increase sector funding. (See Annex 1, Boxes 6 and 7 on how Kaduna has attracted international funds). Harnessing those funds in a way that can enhance a Governor or State Government's political credibility is one of the incentives identified in the case studies. Overall, while PERL-supported states have been able to attract funding during recent crises through SFTAS, this has not nearly compensated for the scale of the oil price shock.

Hypothesis: governance interventions can contribute to adequate human resources for service delivery which is a necessary condition for service delivery improvements (if staff are qualified, have been re-trained, take up and remain in their post, and are incentivised to perform). Governance programmes can, in theory, influence policies and processes that affect all aspects of civil service HRM (including for service delivery, or harmonising across professional groups such as doctors or teachers, in order to control the overall salary bill).

### Finding: The research could not find sufficient evidence of a credible and necessary causal

chain between core governance outcomes directly influencing sector governance and outcomes in terms of HRM over the period. Improvements in HRM in health and education could not be traced back to state-wide changes in HRM as these did not demonstrate progress (based on the indicators used by UK programmes themselves) despite being a consistent area of UK support. The service delivery chain could also improve from one sector to another or from 'downstream' towards 'upstream' (e.g. education HRM improvements could ripple out the wider public service). Overall, more research and more innovation by PERL on improving the management of human resources at state level may be warranted, taking into account the differentiated nature of patronage systems.

Hypothesis: governance interventions can stimulate political interest and therefore political and bureaucratic action (which a *necessary condition* for improved services) in response to non-state actors (CSOs, media) and legislators (SHoA) – i.e. E&A interventions. Two causal pathways can be identified: (i) a general and long-term improvement in non-state actors' capacities, which are then applied to specific health or education issues and (ii) facilitating specific health and education processes that enable citizens' voices to be heard and influence politico-bureaucratic action on those issues.

In both cases, these would require a sufficiently open political and civic context, in which a range of views can be expressed without fear of repression or retribution. This was found in all the states, and increasingly so during the period (though more constrained in Kano). A sufficient level of civil service capacity to respond to demands is also needed, mostly found in all the states, and improving according to interviews (though governance programmes indicators do not rate PSM adequately to confirm it). By working simultaneously with state and non-state actors, SPARC/SAVI and PERL (composed of both ARC and ECP) have ensured UK governance programmes did not ignore one side of the relationship.

#### In all four states, SAVI and PERL-ECP have facilitated initiatives to strengthen civil society

both to engage in the budget or more generally to hold the State Government to account (for example, PMP in Jigawa and the Voice and Accountability Platform and Constituency Clusters in Yobe, which are described in Annex 1, Boxes 3 and 10 respectively). UK governance programmes have also supported more organised, transparent and participatory budget processes which can enable resource allocation that is more in line with social needs (regardless of sector).

Similarly, SAVI and PERL-ECP have engaged with SHoAs and media on both general accountability and specific-budget processes. Sector programmes have benefited from this wider improvement in the environment, as well as better access to governance programmes (e.g. SPARC or PERL facilitated budget releases by engaging relevant politicians/officials).

Finding: While there is a plausible association between core governance E&A interventions and sector outcomes (through influencing contextual factors over the medium rather than short term), the research cannot demonstrate if change is most likely to start from this core governance 'enabling environment' or from sector/problem-specific interventions. Governance interventions have cumulatively influenced the wider enabling environment for CSOs, media and SHoA to operate (both their capacities and State Governments' responsiveness). They can be considered to be influencing the wider state context and relevant contextual factors, and in this way influence a range of intermediate outcomes among the service delivery chain, and the longer-term sustainability impact of aid. But it should not be assumed that 'upstream' non-state capacity (e.g. to participate in policy-making or budgets) then trickles to 'downstream' capacity which can then be applied to service delivery issues. In Jigawa, CBOs that came to constitute PMP started by monitoring local infrastructure projects, and only later became constituted as a state-wide network also involved in policy and delivery for health and education, among other issues. The shift was from 'downstream' to 'upstream' capacity.

#### In addition, the research clearly demonstrates the constant potential tension between core governance E&A and sector objectives. Citizens' Charters of Demands in Yobe provide an example of communities seeing their needs better reflected and potentially better implemented (as they engage in project monitoring). However, these processes will not necessarily lead to improvements in health and education (which are UK policy goals) because priorities defined by citizens and the UK government may not coincide. It would also seem that focusing on a collaborative state-citizens approach around 'invited spaces' (i.e. government-led processes) has had the unintended effect of reducing the options and modalities available to civil society partners to set agendas independently of government. For example, PERL finds it difficult to support more diffuse social movements, such as the #EndSARS protests against police brutality in autumn 2020.

In all the states, SAVI and PERL have facilitated sector-specific processes, for example health or education advocacy platforms (SAVI) and health and education technical working groups (PERL Jigawa, involving government, civil society, media and others in multi-stakeholder coalitions). Case studies of their interventions (presented in Annex 1) identified **partial contributions** to sector intermediate outcomes, for example by encouraging the release of funds to health facilities and schools, or the recruitment of teachers and nurses. The link between interventions and outcomes can be causally assumed through the stimulation of those state– society mechanisms examined above (in particular the motivation generated by new **'spaces and processes', 'new skills and innovation' and 'eyes and ears' mechanisms**).

Under the State Level Programme suite (2008-2016), it seems that governance E&A interventions operated on sector issues at state level (e.g. SAVI and state advocacy platforms) while UK sector programmes focused on grassroots citizens' engagement (e.g. PATHS2 and ESSPIN at health facility or school levels) without making the links from grassroots into policy-making, and sometimes operating at cross-purposes. By contrast, PERL has been able to facilitate linkages between state and community-level monitoring of service delivery such as Kaduna Maternal Accountability Mechanism (KADMAM) for health and Kaduna State Basic Education Accountability Mechanism (KADBEAM) for education in Kaduna (Derbyshire and Williams, 2021 and Annex 1, Box 8). This evolution means that it will be easier not only for the governance programmes to influence service delivery ('downstream'), but also to track their influence at the service delivery level (and thereby add to the evidence base and inform 'upstream' choices).

Finding: The partial contribution of UK governance programmes' targeted sector governance interventions to sector outcomes can be demonstrated with a higher degree of certainty. The causal chain is shorter than from core governance to sector outcomes, and the interventions tend to be more clearly problemfocused. A plausible ToC can be constructed based on the evidence to link improved sectoral human resources to teaching quality and education outcomes, and to health provision and health outcomes for women and girls. Human resources for primary health (all states except Yobe) and for basic education (Jigawa and Kaduna only) have improved despite the lack of progress across all states on central government human resources (according to indicators). Improvements in the training, recruitment and deployment of frontline health workers and teachers, in particular in remote rural areas, would seem more closely associated with improved service delivery, and have been supported by PERL working with TDP and MNCH2 in particular.

Finding: In our case studies and in a dedicated LEAP report, the most clearly evidenced links between core governance and sector governance reforms take place when governance programmes collaborate with sector programmes. UK health and education programmes often have their own governance reform components making collaboration crucial. In addition, the UK government developed targeted programmes to address specific blockages related to health workers and teachers (W4H and TDP). By collaborating with these subsector programmes, SAVI, SPARC and PERL have been able to make a contribution to improved sectoral human resource management. These results were even more evident under PERL, which had the mandate and resources, through its Partnership Fund supporting specific collaborations with sector programmes, to address these issues. In Jigawa, PERL is facilitating Technical Working Groups on health and education which are directly influencing policy,

such as on teachers' recruitment and training. However, most governance programmes rarely have such a specific-sector mandate and may not have the skills to do so. As Derbyshire and Williams (2021) found, DFID/FCDO sector advisers have sometimes raised concerns about governance programmes working in sectors without sector programme partners – where they lack the technical skill and access that sector programmes (by definition) should possess.

Finding: Health and education outcomes can improve independently of governance or sector governance outcomes and supportive interventions, but improvements are likely to be short-lived without attention to wider systems. While they are not always political priorities, health and education programmes can deliver political benefits to Governors and state politicians, since they can be associated with public commitments, concrete visible infrastructure or benefits to specific communities. Improvements in health and education can potentially generate 'political credit' for Governors because they benefit large populations or through targeted support for their electoral base. They can also be accepted simply because they have 'low political cost': if an initiative does not challenge political interests (e.g. patronage networks or other sources of political security) and could potentially support their political reputation and attract external funding, then State Government MDAs may be receptive to technical assistance associated with development partners' programmes.

In Kano, health and education outcomes improved despite weaker governance performance, which can be explained from a political economy perspective. State Governors have prioritised popular and visible state schoolfeeding and the Free and Compulsory Basic and Post-Basic Education programmes ('political credit') and accept World Bank or other development partners' health and education funding, channelled through vertical programmes. UK governance programmes have also provided assistance to access federal funds. These targeted efforts do not affect patronage networks, and do not seek to transform the sectors over the longer term. Nonetheless, it is possible that funding by development partners of service delivery, without governance reforms, contributed to sustainable change in terms of citizens expectations, which in turn could potentially drive demand for continuously improving service - something identified in Kano and to be researched across other states. (Annex 1, Box 14 provides more details on political incentives in Kano.)

Sector programmes are likely to be much more attractive than governance programmes to State Governments. Health and education programmes often provide large amounts of funding through which to support service delivery (even if Lafiya does not, this is not the case across the board). Sometimes such programmes take over governments' own responsibilities (as may be the case in Kano). UK health and education programmes, and programmes funded by a number of other major donors, directly finance improvements in health and education services, including infrastructure, drugs and equipment, staff pre-service and in-service training and scholarships. Moreover, some World Bank grants for health and education services are incorporated into state budgets in ways that are not necessarily transparent.

By contrast, it can be harder for UK governance programmes to demonstrate their value to State Governments as they offer longer-term benefits in terms of sustainability or better targeting of resources but not visible benefits and have clear drawbacks. They do not fund service delivery, equipment or training which can more quickly improve services for which politicians can claim credit (e.g. the benefits of a MTSS or a participatory budget process will not be immediately obvious). The short-term political cycle-driven attention of State Governments (and parallel short-term DFID/FCDO pressures for UK programmes to demonstrate results to UK taxpayers) militate against longer-term institutional development programmes. Sector programmes with large budgets can - and do incentivise the political elite and civil society to collaborate. Core governance programmes work at a slower pace to try to shift wider state-citizen relationships, core government processes and increase core government technical capacity. Far from offering the kind of material incentives provided by sector programmes, as a PERL state team member reflected, governance programmes offer only 'bitter pills'. Occasionally, as in Kano, such governance reforms might go against the political incentives that drove education programmes (see Annex 1, Box 14).

It is a source of frustration to governance programme staff that there is not more of a concerted effort across UK governance, health and education programmes - and across donor support as a whole - to use the 'carrot' of financing for improvements in service delivery to incentivise the 'stick' of governance reforms necessary to sustain such improvements over the longer term. Without this kind of coordination, service delivery programmes are in danger of undermining the ability of core governance programmes to secure genuine commitment from government and civil society to work on the long-term changes necessary for reforms to be sustained. As a result, service delivery reforms are likely to be short-lived.

## 6.3 For whom have there been improvements?

The realist synthesis research approach focuses on incentives along the service delivery chain as well understanding who will benefit from intermediate and final outcomes. It therefore helps to pinpoint the respective roles of politicians, bureaucrats, media and civil society as well as citizens in reform processes.

Finding: The research had insufficient data to assess the contribution of UK governance programmes to the gender and inclusion sensitivity of outcomes. Because of the limited number of interventions and relative paucity of data on gender and social inclusion (until more recently in PERL), the research did not fully unpack the contextual and causal mechanisms at play to improve outcomes for specific groups in terms of core governance and sector outcomes.

A more open political environment as well as greater civil society capacity across Nigeria creates an enabling **context** for more demands to be expressed and heard from different social groups.

The case studies and a LEAP study (Pasanen and Asubiaro, 2021) did identify **some relevant interventions.** In most of the states, UK governance programmes supported the development of gender and disability policy and/or legislation following federal initiatives. For example, **Jigawa** was the first Northern State to adopt a gender policy (in 2013) but it was not followed through by implementation measures. Jigawa also adopted a policy (2016) and law (2017) for PWD supported by an action plan, a Rehabilitation Board and dedicated budget lines. This contributed to more evidence of concrete measures for PWD, such as access to healthcare and education, vocational training, access to the public-service jobs and social protection payments. PERL attributes these results to the combination of more confident CSOs advocating PWD rights, institutionalisation of participation in policy, planning and budgeting process, and an implementation steering committee (PERL, 2020i). In **Kaduna**, Inclusive Community Development Charter consultation processes are capturing PWD priorities. PERL supported the development of a policy framework for the implementation of the Ability Trust Fund for People Living with Disability. The Executive Director of the Disability Trust Fund is part of PERL's Women in Government mentoring programme.

Under PERL, a two-pronged strategy has been adopted, focusing on (i) women in governance interventions led by PERL-ARC (mentoring for women in government), which would appear to be motivating mainly the **'skills and innovation' mechanisms,** while (ii) PERL-ECP is prioritising participatory processes which include women and other social groups **('new spaces' as well as 'new skills' mechanisms)** (Pasanen and Asubiaro, 2021).

Finding: An association can be identified between sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in health and education processes and sensitivity to gender equality and social inclusion in core governance processes.

This could indicate that UK support to core policy process might contribute to UK sector-specific engagement (e.g. if MTSS or annual performance reviews incentivise greater attention to gender or social inclusion). It is, however, also plausible that different sector policy processes might be more sensitive to gender and social inclusion for reasons unrelated to core governance processes (e.g. sector political economy issues, international advocacy and funding for girls' education or MNCH funding). They could influence policy processes more generally. Greater impact has been achieved by services that directly benefit women and girls, such as maternal healthcare and girls' education, but these do not seem to have depended on wider gender policies/laws. UK programmes, both sector and governance, consistently focused on these UK policy objectives, and together with wider factors, would have contributed to these improvements in service delivery.

### 6.4 Which combinations of factors affected outcomes?

Finding: The research shows that political contextual factors and political incentives are always at play in the documented state-level governance, health and education initiatives or reforms. They are *necessary conditions*. As explained in Chapter 3, Governors are the most powerful state-level actors. The nature of each state's political settlement shapes Governors' room for manoeuvre; that is, how Governors and associated elites make deals with other elites, and seek to meet the expectations of their social bases by providing access to state resources and distributing public goods and services.

UK programmes therefore need to have the ability to understand these political factors, and design interventions that will trigger responses at the various points of the service delivery chain that they aim to influence. This is not a new finding in the wider governance literature, but the distinctive ability of UK programmes to identify or create opportunities and stimulate change is a particular strength, which is further analysed in Chapter 7.

Table 9 summarises which causal mechanisms where associated with relevant interventions, contextual factors and outcomes in the four case studies (Annex 1). Table 9 Illustrations of causal mechanisms from the case studies

	Causal mechanisms	Case studies' examples linking this primary causal mechanism with interventions, contexts and outcomes
<b>Political incentives</b> Necessary in all instances of significant change	<b>'Personal political</b> <b>credit-claiming'</b> <i>More likely associated</i> <i>with visible,</i> <i>concrete changes in</i> <i>service delivery or</i> <i>infrastructure</i>	Politicians need to consider donor-supported initiatives or reforms as beneficial to their political reputation as well as ability to strengthen the civil service to deliver their agenda. El-Rufai in Kano and Lamido in Jigawa both sought political credit through <b>more competent</b> <b>administratio.</b> In general internal improvements to state systems are less likely to generate political credit than investment. In sector governance or <b>service delivery</b> (e.g. health funds released, teachers recruited) which can be associated with a Governor or Commissioner (such as education in Jigawa, Kaduna or Kano).
	<b>'Constituency</b> <b>linkages'</b> Subcategory of the political credit mechanism	This mechanism is potentially present due to patronage systems (by definition 'clients' expect benefits from their 'patrons') but militates against system-wide reforms, such as HRM or budget execution (that would reduce patronage). In the research, it was most visible when <b>SHOA members</b> were motivated to act in support of health or education initiatives that provided visible benefits to their constituencies, for example in female staff for health initiatives in Jigawa and beyond. <b>Participatory budgeting processes</b> can also appeal because of the mechanism: Yobe Community Charters of Demand enable politicians to appear responsive to their communities.
	<b>'Broader-based</b> <b>political legitimacy'</b> <i>Rarer but associated</i> <i>with potentially</i> <i>longer-lasting,</i> <i>institutionalised</i> <i>changes</i>	The deep and sustained governance and service delivery <b>improvements</b> <b>in Jigawa</b> are associated with a state-building and broader political legitimacy agenda, in particular under Governor Lamido, which drove the most significant reforms with a long-lasting legacy across the four states. A more targeted example is provided by the <b>Yobe Community</b> <b>Charters of Demand</b> which, in a conflict-affected context, can be seen by politicians as a tool to build trust with disaffected populations (beyond targeted benefits to their communities).
	<b>'Low political</b> <b>cost'</b> Associated with less conducive environments	This mechanism offers the most powerful explanation of political incentives in non-conducive environments, such as <b>Kano health and education initiatives</b> (which are disconnected from wider governance reforms which would be politically too costly).

	Causal mechanisms	Case studies' examples linking this primary causal mechanism with interventions, contexts and outcomes	
<b>Financial incentives</b> Present in many but not all cases of change – seem associated with incentivising state actors	<b>'Accessing federal funds'</b> <i>Requires further evidencing</i>	The case studies documented this mechanism in <b>health and</b> <b>education counterpart funding</b> in all the states (e.g. Kano case study). However, we did not find as much evidence for governance reforms, although it may exist). Federal governance frameworks (e.g. PFM, procurement, SHoA financial independence) could incentivise change as a form of peer pressure / standard-setting ( separate mechanism) but the primary motivation had to come fre state politicians (e.g. Lamido or El-Rufai).	
	'Accessing international funds (through meeting programme conditions or through better aid coordination)' Evidenced in all states (not the coordination element)	5	

	Causal mechanisms	Case studies' examples linking this primary causal mechanism with interventions, contexts and outcomes		
Bureaucratic incentives Present in all cases of internal state processes change – requires sufficient trust and autonomy from political	<b>'Politico- bureaucratic reform ownership'</b> Evidenced in conducive contexts, activated by political incentives	Programmes and interventions are more or less able to stimulate ownership; it depends greatly on how assistance is offered. The first years of <b>SLGP were process-oriented</b> as documented in Jigawa PFM, pension and procurement reforms, as well as the <b>SPARC PFM</b> <b>self-assessments</b> . Where policy areas were imposed by DFID/FCDO, or technical reforms were part of a standard programme package, this mechanism was not activated (e.g. State Development Plans in Kano or in Kaduna pre-2015).		
leadership	'Innovators': 'state- building', 'early adopters' and 'peer pressure' Evidenced in newer, poorer states or after a change in leadership.	Programmes and interventions can stimulate (but not always sustain) change by appealing to the desire to innovate, improve, and even to do better than others. There are numerous examples in <b>Jigawa</b> (PFM, procurement, pensions reform) where the state sought to out-do others. In Jigawa and <b>Yobe</b> , a commitment to build a new state was found among politicians, civil servants and civil society representatives. <b>Kaduna</b> post-2015 PFM reforms were also motivated in this way, e.g. SFTAS ranking		
	<b>'New skills and awareness'</b> Used in some way in most interventions	Some mechanisms operate more clearly at the individual level, such as the feeling of empowerment through acquiring new skills or an improved ability to deliver a mandate. One illustration was <b>Kano</b> <b>SHoA</b> members' awareness of their role but a similar motivation will be found in <b>CSOs or civil service</b> initiatives that use mentoring or training (e.g. PMP members in Jigawa developing procurement monitoring skills or mentoring of senior women by PERL-ARC). For sustainable change, this mechanism needs to be associated with more enduring mechanisms that will help institutionalise new ways of working, such as the adoption of new norms.		
	<b>'Routinisation'</b> Used in institutionalised processes	This mechanism is relevant to the institutionalisation of new ways of working. It was most evident across <b>PFM reforms</b> , such as on budget preparation and transparency as documented in the Yobe budget reform case study. It applies to civil servants but also to those seeking to influence reforms and can find new entry points.		
	Causal mechanisms	Case studies' examples linking this primary causal mechanism with interventions, contexts and outcomes		
---	---	--		
State-society relations incentives Favourable political contexts during the period (less so in Kano). E&A dimensions present in most outcomes. Programmes mostly used constructive engagement approaches.	<b>'New public spaces</b> <b>and processes'</b> <i>Used in almost all</i> <i>documented cases</i>	This mechanism is most evident across budget transparency and participation interventions as well as health and education accountability platforms under SAVI and PERL in Jigawa, Kaduna and Yobe but not in Kano. It is a characteristic of UK programmes' <b>demand–supply integration</b> adopted by SAVI and PERL's <b>multi- stakeholder coalitions</b> .		
	<b>'Insider status'</b> Complemented 'new spaces' as an informal channel	This complementary mechanism was visible in most cases where SAVI or PERL-ECP supported <b>advocacy platforms</b> (such as health or education budget releases following personal meetings with governors, commissioners or SHoA members). However, one- off disbursements did not always constitute a strategy to achieve sustained changes.		
	<b>'Eyes and ears'</b> Complemented 'new spaces' through evidence and credibility	This complementary mechanism ensured that CSOs and media motivated by 'new public spaces' had evidence from their monitoring and credibility when they participated in state processes. For example, the <b>Yobe Voice and Accountability Platform</b> and Constituency Clusters, or various examples of media interventions across the states.		
	<b>'Eyes and ears' with</b> <b>'voice and teeth'</b> <i>Complemented 'new</i> <i>spaces' with sanction</i> <i>power</i>	Jigawa institutionalised combination of <b>Due Process Bureau and</b> <b>PMP</b> alongside a CSO monitoring role with sanctions set by a government body to contribute to an improved procurement system which seems to be incentivising private-sector behaviour. There were fewer examples in the case studies.		
	<b>'Naming and shaming'</b> <i>An alternative to collaborative approaches, rarely used</i>	The research identified very few confrontational examples, with <b>Kaduna Know Your Budget</b> the most commonly cited. The close SAVI/SPARC collaboration, PERL as an integrated programme, and DFID/FCDO's desire to maintain good relationships with State Governments, all militate against using these strategies in programme interventions.		

# 7 UK governance programmes' ways of working

Research question 4: How have UK-funded programmes' ways of working contributed to changes in governance, health and education service delivery?

a. How have the programmes' ways of working evolved over time?

b. How (and whether) have they followed TWP principles by adapting to changing context and ensuring a 'good fit' with the political economy?

c. How have UK-funded programme management structures and processes supported or undermined effective working practices? (i.e. internal and collaboration with other programmes)

d. How have UK government incentives supported or undermined effective working practices? (i.e. general DFID policy changes, specific decisions in Nigeria, and specifically for these programmes)

This chapter summarises key aspects of the ways in which UK governance programmes in Nigeria have operated since 2000, which influenced their contribution to governance, health and education changes reviewed in previous chapters.

The chapter focuses on three issues: (i) the extent to which governance programmes have been 'thinking and working politically' (TWP) as well as (ii) the management systems and processes which made TWP possible (section 7.1); and (iii) the nature and effectiveness of governance programmes' collaboration with UK health and education programmes (section 7.2). It concludes with brief comments on gender and social inclusion and State–Federal linkages, which were within the research scope but for which less evidence was found of a consistent approach contributing to results (section 7.3).

### Main findings:

- For over 15 years, UK governance programmes in Nigeria have been at the forefront of seeking to understand the political economy of their contexts, tailor interventions accordingly, and work in politically smart and adaptive ways. This is the main reason why they were able to achieve the range of contributions to outcomes analysed in Chapter 6. Based on these UK governance programme experiences, important and internationally recognised lessons have been documented and disseminated inside DFID/FCDO, and globally across TWP communities of practice.
- There have, however, been significant management and systems barriers preventing the consistent and effective application of well-known TWP lessons. In particular, the 'authorising environment' created by the UK Government has become increasingly constraining in recent years, for instance in demands to demonstrate short-term results and associated contract-management tools such as Payment by Results (PbR). As a consequence, UK governance programmes probably have achieved less than their full potential. FCDO needs to consider its room for manoeuvre given the UK political context.

 In order to ensure that governance interventions contribute to sector outcomes, DFID/FCDO has encouraged close collaboration between its governance, health and education programmes over the past two decades. There are many examples of programmes working together in a complementary and mutually supportive manner, and some results clearly derive from these synergies. There are, however, gaps and missed opportunities in cross-programme collaboration. Ultimately FCDO needs to incentivise continuous collaboration from the design stage through to implementation and learning, and back strong State Government-led coordination of development partners. This will ensure greater coherence between governance and sector objectives across a State Government's entire international assistance portfolio, not just between UK programmes.

# 7.1 Thinking and working politically

## Box 7 What does thinking and working politically (TWP) mean?

As international development actors have stepped up efforts to think and work in more contextually aware ways, some core principles have begun to emerge about what this might mean in practice. While there are no set criteria or methods, core TWP principles include approaches that are:

- locally led
- grounded in contextual realities and an understanding of incentives for change
- problem- rather than solution-driven
- adaptive, flexible and iterative
- anchored in deliberate experimentation through strategic bets and evidence-based learning which inform decisions and adaptations
- based on trust and relationship-building across all relevant stakeholders
- more open to risk
- staffed with people who have deep contextual knowledge and networks and feel comfortable with the political nature of development
- anchored in a role of international development actors as facilitators and brokers of locally led reform processes rather than simply as funders or implementers
- focused on changing behaviours, not just formal rules.

Sources: Taken from Aston and Rocha Menocal (2021) based on TWP (2015); Global Partners Governance (2015); Rocha Menocal (2014)

DFID Nigeria established its reputation as a thought-leader on applied PEA through its 2003–2005 Drivers of Change (DoC) studies which challenged the received orthodoxy **about development programming** (Heymans and Pycroft, 2005). The studies were part of the first generation of PEAs by DFID to encourage the use of contextual analysis to inform programme design and implementation with a view to challenging the status quo in favour of poorer and marginalised communities. DoC analysis questioned the prevailing orthodoxy of supporting state-led reform in Nigeria through technical assistance and capacity-building. It argued instead for an Issues-Based Approach which recognised that the actions and roles of individuals and organisations were part of a larger set of power relations shaping the prospects and scope for reform; that generic capacity-building was unable to generate significant change; and that the development industry itself had to change. This Issues-Based Approach resonates strongly with more recent TWP principles and related approaches described in Box 7, notably in its focus on the importance of understanding and engaging with the realities of the political context, identifying locally prioritised issues and problems as critical entry points, and working with multi-stakeholder coalitions. DoC thinking has strongly influenced the approach taken by UK governance programmes in Nigeria since the mid-2000s, as summarised in Box 8. Within DFID, Nigeria governance programmes (and the governance advisers who designed them) became influential, and contributed to the uptake of TWP approaches in other DFID country programmes such as in Myanmar and Nepal (Piron et al., 2016), and also globally (through different TWP communities of practice). DFID Nigeria programmes did not, however, become as radical as the authors of the DoC studies had hoped. While SAVI, SPARC and PERL contained elements of the approach, they retained the more traditional use of technical assistance, capacity development and could not directly challenge elites' vested interests in maintaining the status quo (Williams et al., 2021b).

# Box 8 Thinking and working politically: evolution and evaluation of approaches

**2001–2018: SLGP** started to support Issues Based Projects from 2003, in accordance with Drivers of Change (DoC) recommendations. Practical service delivery pilot projects involved government and non-government actors working together on tangible issues with local traction, designed to make the role of governance reform visible to beneficiaries and galvanise support for systemic reform. The State Case Studies report (Annex 1) provides successful examples from Kano and Jigawa.

**2008–2016: SPARC and SAVI** invested significantly in PEA, and were at the forefront of embedding an applied participatory approach to PEA in their work and decision-making. Joint state-level PEAs were initially conducted by external consultants, but increasingly by SPARC and SAVI state teams, enabling staff and partners to analyse the power relations that shaped change in their respective states and to use this knowledge to inform their decision-making. SPARC used PEAs to determine the reform commitment of State Governments, shaping a graduated menu of support options. SAVI supported frontline staff and partners to draw on their political economy understanding to 'work politically' in shaping their own workplans and agendas for change. These experiences have been well documented. **2016–2023: PERL** was explicitly designed as a TWP programme with decentralised decisionmaking, with the intention of enabling state teams to navigate the politics of their context, identify local priorities for issue-based working, assess the feasibility and effectiveness of alternative reform strategies and learn and adapt accordingly. LEAP has reviewed the extent to which it has been able to operate as a TWP programme.

Sources: Booth and Chambers (2014); Chambers et al. (2015); Williams et al. (2019); Aston and Rocha Menocal (2021)

UK governance programmes have, however, been designed to understand their contexts as well as stakeholders' incentives to drive potential change, and to tailor interventions to stimulate changes in behaviour. Numerous examples have been documented through the research, presented in the complementary State Case Study report (Annex 1). Kaduna provides the most striking example: when the political environment changed in 2015, SPARC and SAVI initially, and then PERL, were quickly able to adjust to the new positive reform environment, and to capitalise on the technical capacities and processes they had developed with civil servants and non-government partners between 2006 and 2015. While the programmes have offered the same staring point of PFM, PSM and E&A 'menu' (as documented in the core indicators monitored over time), there have been some differentiations, such as the Jigawa PMP CSOs network or the Yobe Accountability Platforms.

**Finding: Even with this less radical vision for programming, this research did not always find a consistent implementation of TWP** principles in practice, despite visible design commitments to TWP. Of note:

 An even greater diversity of programme interventions across the case-study states could have been expected of programmes oriented towards addressing locally salient issues and problems. Some programmes were found to have offered a very similar package of support to State Governments with contrasting reform environments, suggesting a 'solutionsoriented' menu, for example SPARC, reviewed by Chambers et al. (2015). Continued support to Kano State since 2005 with the same package as Jigawa State, in an environment clearly not as conducive to reform, seems puzzling from a TWP perspective (though it makes sense from the political perspective of the UK Government given Kano State's national importance). While a LEAP review of UK governance programming in the North East found that PERL was able to address some drivers of conflict in Yobe, including through more transparent and participatory budgeting, and was able to engage with humanitarian assistance (Laws et al., 2021), even more tailoring to local dynamics and opportunities could have been expected of a politically savvy and adaptive programme. Overall, state teams chose from a broad range of options and had more room to innovate than non-TWP programmes, but the main menu was limited and the parameters set by DFID/FCDO increasingly constraining.

 The case studies could not identify many recent major decisions on the strategic direction of programme interventions based on PEAs. The stakeholders' responsiveness

 central to SLGP's original design – was curtailed as it had been seen to lead to a

 scattergun approach (DFID, 2008). Issuesbased programming did not become the central DFID Nigeria approach after 2003, despite DoC studies recommendations. While conducted regularly, PEAs now appear to have become a tool used more tactically than strategically under PERL, informing with whom to talk, and how to steer an ongoing intervention rather than big choices. Established DFID/FCDO priorities have limited programmes' room for manoeuvre based on their own analysis of context and opportunities.

 Although programmes demonstrated some level of flexibility to respond to changes in their context, they demonstrated less ability to learn and adapt on the basis of experience on strategic priorities and directions, or much wider thematic choices. Examining PERL's response to COVID-19, Sharp et al. (2021) did identify financial flexibility and the ability to adjust workplans, which was useful as PERL already worked in the health sector. An external review found that SPARC demonstrated considerable flexibility in its ability to adapt to different state-level contexts and move resources between states and workstreams, but at the same time had a tendency to fall back on predefined technical models and a limited capacity to experiment (Chambers et al., 2015). A recent analysis of PERL's structure and systems similarly found limitations to learning (Aston and Rocha Menocal, 2021).

Factors that explain why programmes were designed and able to work in TWP ways can be identified at three levels: in terms of (i) DFID/ FCDO policy priorities and management; (ii) programme implementers' management systems and processes; and (iii) characteristics of statelevel frontline delivery staff.

# Enabling DFID/FCDO management factors include:

- An organisation-wide commitment to championing PEAs and TWP since the early 2000s, as documented in Piron et al. (2016), informed by the Nigeria DoC studies, and reiterated as recently as the DFID Governance Position Paper (2019).
- Sustained long-term commitment to and consistent investment in addressing governance as an enabler or barrier to development and poverty reduction in Nigeria.
- Value given to DFID staff technical expertise in programme design, implementation oversight and reviews. Programme design processes were based on analysis of context and on evidence on what worked well and less well in Nigeria as well as in similar governance programmes internationally. Senior Responsible Owners are technical experts based in Nigeria, able to engage with the complexities of TWP governance programming.
- Long-term and sustained commitment to the four case-study states, coupled with DFID/FCDO political engagement with State Governors who determine so much of what is feasible in the reform space. (See Box 9).
- State/Regional DFID/FCDO representation, liaising with and between state-level programme teams and with State Governments.
- Continuity of service providers: DAI (previously HTSPE) implemented SLGP, SPARC and PERL-ARC while Palladium (previously GRM) implemented SAVI and PERL-ECP, which helped ensure that existing knowledge and experience could be capitalised on and that momentum and relationships were not lost.
- Between 2003 and 2007, allowing SLGP flexibility in selecting issues on which to work.

• For SAVI and PERL, permitting tangible results to be judged retrospectively through outcome mapping, rather than being predetermined.

# Enabling programme-level management factors include:

- Decentralised decision-making to State Teams.
- From 2008, recruiting Nigerians as State Team Leaders who were better able to navigate their own context than expatriates.
- SAVI/ECP careful staff recruitment: staff from the relevant state with a direct stake in change; staff with facilitation skills; staff teams representing the constituencies SAVI/ECP aim to bring together.
- Considerable continuity of staff across the three generations of governance programmes.
- Support to frontline staff (and partners) to conduct and regularly review participatory PEA.
- Built-in flexibility to reallocate resources in their workplans.
- Some innovative approaches to incentivise multi-stakeholder coalitions, such as under SAVI avoiding 'the pitfalls of a donor-driven approach

by "taking money off the table" as it did not provide grants (Booth and Chambers, 2014).

### Enabling frontline staff delivery

- Deep contextual knowledge and networks.
- The long-term presence of locally recruited staff coupled with decentralised programme decisionmaking has enabled frontline staff to build very good, close and trusting working relationships. Government and non-government partners have included civil servants, particularly from the Ministry of Budget and Planning, civil society groups, media personnel and organisations and SHoA politicians and civil servants.
- As partners have changed roles, moved jobs or been promoted, these relationships have been maintained and UK governance programmes' networks have extended, often into higher and more powerful levels of State Governments.
- Staff extensive networks and understanding of formal and informal political processes often position them as brokers who can help others navigate the complex dynamics of State Government and SHoA.

## Box 9 20 years of UK collaboration with Jigawa State

Of the four 'focal states' selected by DFID in 2000 (one per geographical zone), only Jigawa has received continuous UK assistance across a wide range of sectors for 20 years. Jigawa State Government and its senior officials have proved adept at using UK support effectively and at demonstrating sufficient reform commitment across three Governorships. As a result, DFID/FCDO has become, to some extent, part of the Jigawa's institutional landscape (making it particularly difficult to separate contextual factors and mechanisms). If the UK were to end its partnership, a number of governance processes seem sufficiently well established that they would endure. Jigawa remains one of Nigeria's poorest states combined with a sufficiently reform-oriented government, which for the UK government justifies continued human development and other forms of assistance.

The UK influence can be explained by the sheer size of UK assistance relative to the state budget. Notwithstanding the bias in respondents interviewed for this study who had benefited from DFID support, they also described a special relationship with DFID in qualitative terms, not just financial. For example, a non-state actor explained: '*DFID provided the framework for reform. They did trainings and capacity building for all the actors which is a driving force for reform in governance, health and education. They help also to ensure ownership of all programmes. They always insist that reforms must be owned by the government and the people*'.

However, management factors have also constrained programmes' ability to operate in TWP ways, with an increasingly constraining authorising environment. Of note:

### DFID/FCDO management

- Changes to financial allocations to Nigeria have been driven by UK domestic considerations, 'forming an arc' (Williams and Owen, 2020). This included a fast scaling up in the early 2010s to contribute to the UK's overall increase in ODA to 0.7% of Gross National Income (GNI) (leading to expansion into Yobe and other states), contrasting with rapidly decided and severe cuts in 2021 when the GNI target was reduced to 0.5% (which, for example, entailed pulling PERL out of Yobe after ten years). Not only will the cuts stop ongoing investments as PERL focuses even more on education and health in Jigawa, Kano and Kaduna, but they will also damage broader relationships in these states and across Nigeria built over 20 years, which have been a considerable success factor.
- Increasing influence of the results agenda and value for money concerns since the early 2010s, as well as the greater use of PbR, have tended to limit adaptiveness and to reduce the space, incentives and willingness to experiment. PERL, as a PbR programme, has experienced these tensions which are not always easy to navigate (Aston and Rocha Menocal, 2021).

- Technical and management oversight decisions by DFID/FCDO have not always incentivised programmes towards TWP. For example, from 2008 and the start of the SLP suite, DFID stipulated that governance programmes should work mostly on health and education issues, reflecting DFID policy priorities rather than momentum for reform in every state. PERL's design envisaged that PERL's portfolio of sectoral issues would shift towards addressing more challenging issues relating to economic management, the fiscal crisis, private-sector development and anticorruption efforts. During the programme's first year, however, DFID asked PERL to focus mainly on health and education.
- Other DFID/FCDO incentives and management decisions have been in tension with the programme's stated focus on learning and adaptation, although PERL retains an output dedicated to learning. In 2017, DFID took process-based indicators out of the PERL results framework to focus only on reporting high-level results, rather than creating incentives on *how* the programme would work. A ToC proposition on behaviour change was also taken out, which has made it more difficult to explain programme adaptation.
- The creation of a merged FCDO in 2020 will change the strategic and management direction given to PERL and any successor

governance programmes, potentially giving even greater attention to domestic UK political priorities over responsiveness and adaptation to state-level opportunities, which are at the heart of TWP principles.

### Programme-level management

- PERL has a complex three-pillar management structure to bring together different implementing partners to address supplyside (ARC), demand-side (ECP) and learning and evidence (LEAP) issues as part of an overarching £133m programme without a consortium lead. This has generated internal incentives that complicate programme management and delivery. It is a transactionsheavy programme, requiring a great deal of coordination at different levels, as the three pillars have to be consulted on strategic, workplan and delivery decisions before these are approved by DFID/FCDO.
- While systems have been put in place for programme coordination, commercial rivalries between implementing partners are an unavoidable consequence of a competitive procurement system. This has sometimes undermined the implementation of lessons from previous programmes, and militated against a fully coherent approach (for example to gender and social inclusion).
- As a consequence of contracting the pillars separately, each implementing partner has a separate contract, milestone payments and reporting procedures, which again incentivise commercial competition, for example in reporting results.
- Under the DFID/FCDO results agenda, programme management has been

- incentivised to focus on reporting upwards to DFID/FCDO rather than downwards accountability to local stakeholders.
   Reporting for milestone payments in particular distorts the ability to take risk, learn and adapt.
- As a result, PERL has often lacked sufficient authority and autonomy to make decisions that might more actively respond to contextual analysis and emerging learning. For example, the FCDO instructed PERL to focus on health and education issues even when these were not the most locally salient from a PEA perspective.
- Decisions to scale up or scale down assistance to the North East came from FCDO, not the programme's own analysis. PERL's experience illustrates the tensions and trade-offs between FCDO's portfolio level objectives (e.g. to improve health and education across Nigeria, and in this way contribute to the global Sustainable Development Goals) vs the need to ground programmatic decisions on issues that are more salient and politically viable in a given context.

### Frontline staff

- The flipside of staff continuity is a degree of path dependency: established ways of doing things and established partnerships have the potential to undermine innovation.
- Staff can also find it difficult to discontinue investments in a long-term core governance process, characterised by year-on-year incremental improvement and slow building of trust.
- In 2020, DFID budget cuts were explained by COVID-19, followed in 2021 by radical FCDO cuts to PERL. They both increased workloads and undermined staff morale by causing uncertainty.

Overall, more recent UK government policies and processes, and the incentives they create for programme management and delivery, are increasingly preventing UK governance programmes in Nigeria from operating in TWP ways. Given the report's main findings that these programmes achieved most results when they tailored their interventions to a deep understanding of the context, and through their cumulative learning over nearly 20 years, the consequence is that DFID/FCDO incentives might be preventing their programmes from achieving their full potential. Significant cuts and changes in UK policy priorities in 2021 indicate that this trend is unlikely to be reversed in the near future.

## 7.2 Governance and sector programmes working together

This research has analysed the contribution of governance programmes to health and education

outcomes. The tensions between large sector programmes, able to provide financial support for service delivery, and smaller governance programmes, pushing for politically difficult measures, means that collaboration between sector and governance programmes is critical if the latter are to make a demonstrable contribution to sector outcomes (in particular when those programmes are funded by the same bilateral donor such as FCDO).

The UK government has consistently championed collaboration between its governance, health and education programmes on the grounds that sustainable improvements to health and education services are dependent on reforms to State Government's central financial and HRM processes. Box 10 sets out the evolution of working relationships between UK governance, education and health programmes, and observations on their effectiveness.

## Box 10 Evolution of approaches

2001–2008: SLGP support to governance reform was complemented by UK support to education reform provided by CUBE, and to health reform provided by PATHS. Each of these had their own governance reform outputs and directly funded some health and education improvements. Collaboration between programmes was encouraged by DFID but there were no formal coordination mechanisms. Core and sectoral governance reform initiatives appear to have been largely separately developed with some tensions over MTSSs. The SLGP Project Completion Report (PCR) expressed concern that the costed MTSSs developed with the support of PATHS and CUBE were insufficiently embedded into rigorous and affordable budget frameworks. Responding to DoC findings, from 2003, SLGP initiated Issues Based Projects on practical issues concerning service delivery, with a few focusing on health and education in partnership with PATHS and CUBE. The SLGP PCR notes some successes in improving service delivery through IBPs - but recognised that the wider governance reform issues they were designed to promote, such as improved State Government resource allocation, re-allocation of roles and responsibilities, and setting service-level norms, were yet to be taken up fully.'The reality is that complex changes in policy content and direction often take longer to be adopted than originally envisaged (DFID, 2008).

**2008–2016:** DFID launched SAVI and SPARC the successor programmes to SLGP, PATHS and CUBE simultaneously in the same states, including Jigawa, Kaduna, and Kano, in a carefully planned response to experience of limited coordination between the first-generation programmes. Known as the State Level suite of Programmes (SLP), second-generation programmes comprised: SPARC, SAVI, ESSPIN (education sector reform) and PATHS2 (health sector reform). In 2011, SPARC and SAVI moved into three new states including Yobe without PATHS2 and ESSPIN, and forged a constructive working relationship with PRRINN-MNCH (maternal and child health).

The SLP programmes were expected to have a high level of coordination and achieve a collective impact on their common purpose 'to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of utilisation of Nigeria's resources to meet the Millennium Development Goals'. SPARC, PATHS2 and ESSPIN collaborated principally on MTSS development. SAVI supported civil society, media and SHoA partners to work in loose issuebased Advocacy Partnerships and, under guidance from DFID, most partnerships focused on health and education to complement the work of PATHS2 and ESSPIN. Although there were many examples of joint work and increased financial and human resources allocated to the health and education sectors coinciding with these interventions, the SLP final evaluation found limited evidence that improvements in governance processes had led to improvements in service delivery, and noted that the planned level of synergy and collective impact between governance and sector programmes had not materialised. (IMEP, 2017: iii). 2016-present: The PERL design incorporated a renewed emphasis on an Issues Based Approach involving multi-stakeholder supply and demand partnerships working together with sector and subsector programmes on particular service delivery issues. There were substantial delays in contracting successor programmes to PATHS2 and ESSPIN. For health, Lafiya, replacing PATHS2, finally started in 2020, while in the education sector, the Partnership for Learning for All in Nigerian Education (PLANE), replacing ESSPIN, had yet to start though it had been approved in 2019. This limited PERL to collaborating with two smaller subsector programmes: MNCH2 (maternal and child health), and TDP (teacher recruitment and training). ARC contributed to these partnerships' expertise in aspects of policy formulation, organisational development and corporate planning, and ECP facilitated the engagement of civil society groups, the media and SHoA politicians in policy influencing, planning, advocacy and community-level monitoring. MNCH2 and TDP both closed in 2019, leaving PERL with no health and education programme partners until the start of Lafiya in 2020. NENTAD (2017–2022), the UK humanitarian assistance and transition to development programme in Yobe, Borno and Adamawa, was also expected to work with PERL in supporting this transition. In 2020, however, the NENTAD annual review confirmed that this transition was no longer expected during the programme's lifetime, and collaboration has been challenging throughout.

Finding: Collaboration has been critical to the effectiveness of the contributions of governance programmes to improvements in health and education governance and service delivery. Key facilitating factors have been, in some instances: effective external leadership and management of coordination by DFID/ FCDO and/or by State Governments (notably by the Kaduna State Government since 2016); programme incentives to collaborate, specified in results frameworks; and, most commonly, enabling conditions for collaboration at point of delivery including decentralised decisionmaking to State Teams and good interpersonal relationships between programme staff.

# Overall, however, the pattern of collaboration has been variable and

**patchy** – pursued on an opportunistic and selective basis, and focused on a limited range of largely 'upstream' PFM issues and processes. Significant practical challenges and disincentives to collaboration include: increasing fragmentation in the timing and geographical footprint of governance, health and education programmes; lack of a collective strategic vision on the relationship between achieving service delivery results and governance reform results in the context of significant direct donor funding for service delivery; lack of collective strategic vision on what issues programmes should work on together and how they should collaborate; and commercial competition between service providers (Derbyshire and Williams, 2021).

### Critical weaknesses include:

- The focus on a limited range of issues (particularly 'upstream' planning and PFM) and limited collaboration on improving budget execution, monitoring 'downstream' implementation of service delivery and on strengthening PSM in the sectors.
- Limited connection between accountability systems established by sector programmes

at the point of service delivery to the accountability and advocacy frameworks supported by core governance programmes that are connected with state-level policy processes.

- Evidence of duplication between governance and sector programmes, particularly in relation to voice and accountability initiatives, which have sometimes worked at cross purposes.
- The use of contradictory funding modalities and operational practices. While governance programmes have been strongly focused on making resources available to health and education through the state budget, the sector programmes often resorted to direct funding of health infrastructure and services, partially bypassing the government systems that core governance programmes are designed to strengthen.
- Some examples of sector and governance programmes adopting incompatible policy positions, for example on policies of free service provision.

FCDO and other development partners which seek to influence sustainable health and education service delivery through governance programming have to incentivise collaboration between their programmes, starting from the design process. Governance programmes achieve demonstrable sector results only if they influence or work with (but not against) larger sector programmes. 'Upstream' reforms to PFM or PSM systems may not reach the point at which citizens access services as there are too many intermediary variables. Sector programmes' advocacy to increase State Governments' sector allocations can undermine wider budget credibility and their overall policy agenda.

Elements of an approach to make governance programmes continuously relevant to sector objectives include: ensuring a governance and PEA when service delivery blockages are identified; designing complementary or integrated sector and governance programmes to address them jointly; incentivising collaboration throughout implementation (between programmes as well as between development partners' teams); and ensuring combined learning as well as monitoring. DFID/FCDO has demonstrated the management and technical capacity to operate in these ways in the past; as UK ODA is severely reduced in Nigeria, incentives to collaborate may increase.

Ultimately, coordination of development partners by State Governments (including across governance and sector programmes operating in their states) will be the best incentive. This is the clear lesson from Kaduna State (see Box 6 in Annex 1).

# 7.3 Gender and social inclusion, and federal-state linkages

Two issues from our initial research scope are not included in our analysis of ways of working as there was limited data and the documented results were not as significant as other dimensions.

Partial finding: Questions relating to gender and social inclusion were integral to our research, but we found this to be a weak feature of governance programmes' interventions, ways of working and documented impact. Gender and social inclusion were not priorities for governance programmes when SLGP was designed in 2000. While there has been some integration of this agenda, such as in SAVI's and PERL-ECP's attention to diversity in advocacy platforms, progress on state laws and policies on gender and PWD, or mentoring of senior women by PERL-ARC, they have not been fully mainstreamed in programmes' ways of working. A study on PERL's women and governance interventions (Pasanen and Asubiaro, 2021) has identified some examples of gender mainstreaming and targeted interventions, but it notes the lack of integration between PERL-ARC and PERL-EC, missed opportunities, partially incorporated mainstreaming, and limited staff and financial resourcing.

Partial finding: Our research did not explore federal-state linkages in detail, but we found

**limited evidence that vertical programme linkages had exerted a significant impact on state-level outcomes**. This was confirmed by a parallel study on PERL which found that federal-level work has progressed slowly, and expectations about the potential for reform and synergies at the state level had not been met (Aston and Rocha Menocal, 2021). A fuller planned study by LEAP on successive programmes' approaches to federal-level could not take place due to FCDO budget cuts in 2021.

# 8 Conclusions, lessons and recommendations

Research question 5. What are the main lessons learned about which approaches to supporting change in governance and service delivery are most effective under what conditions and for whom?

Research question 6. What recommendations may be drawn for the design and delivery of governance interventions in Nigeria and beyond, by FCDO and the broader international development community?

## 8.1 Conclusions and lessons

Over 20 years, UK governance programmes have contributed to demonstrable and sustainable improvements in important dimensions of governance and service delivery in the four states. The evidence identifies a mix of partial and firm contribution of UK governance interventions to improvements in core governance outcomes, and partial contribution of UK governance interventions to sector outcomes when then were targeted to specific health and education issues.

As noted by the World Bank (2011), institutional reforms take a generation – 20 years or more. Jigawa State, which benefited from the longest period of support, showed the most improvements, not only in core governance but also in health and education governance, while Yobe State, with both a shorter period of support and affected by conflict, achieved fewer sustained changes, mostly restricted to core governance reforms rather than service delivery. Kaduna **State** achieved the second-highest number of governance improvements after Jigawa State, with a significant reform drive in the post-2015 period, building on some of the initiatives supported by UK programmes during the ten previous years. By contrast, **Kano State** achieved the most health and education final outcomes improvements without many governance improvements.

1. How can governance reforms come about and be sustained over time?

Political economy contextual factors, and programmes' ability to understand and make use of them to support change, are the most important determinants of whether and how external governance programmes were likely to influence core governance or service delivery processes. International and Nigeriawide factors, such as oil prices, negatively affected the fiscal space for service delivery, yet even so states increased their health and education budgets. Among political factors, reduced political competition and factionalism were related to State Governors' greater ability to implement broader-based or efficiency agendas, without the threat of undermining their patronage base, and therefore appeared to be the best predictor of reform prospects.

UK governance programmes did not directly change the state-level political context in which they operated, but they clearly contributed to some institutional transformations which explain sustained improvements. They contributed to creating new dynamics between key stakeholders (in particular between citizens' representatives, the bureaucracy and politicians) on specific issues or in relation to new processes. Most progress on outcome indicators was made when there were elements of E&A, that is participation, transparency and accountability. Where new norms and processes have become embedded in State Governments' ways of working and citizens' expectations, and appear to have become sustained over time, UK programmes can claim to have contributed to changes to the 'rules of the game', that is to institutional change. Examples include a number of reforms in Jigawa, such as well embedded policy-planning-budget processes, and procurement system collaboration between the State Government Due Process Bureau and the civil society PMP. In Kaduna (post-2015) and Yobe (2011-2020), changes are still relatively recent, but participation in budget processes is particularly well institutionalised and can influence statesociety relations.

The second and third generations of UK governance programmes were explicitly designed to ensure the collaboration between supply- and demand-side interventions. They avoided confrontational advocacy strategies, and instead developed coalitions between politicians, officials, sector professionals, citizens groups and media. This strategic decision has been validated by the finding that most sustained changes included E&A components, even in relation to core state processes such as budgets. The main lesson for other governance programmes, and development assistance programmes in general, is to never focus solely on reform internal to government systems without considering how participation, transparency and accountability will also be promoted. There are pros and cons regarding integrating supply and demand within a single programme (e.g. PERL) or maintaining

them in separate programmes (e.g. SAVI and SPARC), as the former can reduce the scope for more creative civil society voices outside agendas set by governments, whereas the latter can lead to disjointed and inconsistent interventions and objectives. What would seem to matter the most is that at a portfolio level UK and other development partners do not ignore one side of the relationship.

Differentiated progress on different aspects of PFM, PSM and E&A in this report should not be taken as evidence that they are either always or never worthwhile. The starting point should be strategic thinking about what are the critical barriers to development and what is politically feasible and technically sound in a particular context. For example, based on our research, it would be easy to conclude that PSM, and HRM initiatives in particular, deserve less support. The report does not draw this broad conclusion, not only because this finding may be due to deficiencies with indicators and other data sources. PSM reforms are exceptionally politically sensitive but often approached in a technical fashion. Yet the political conditions for their success are not common, given the role of the political power of appointments in sustaining support for incumbents from their base. There will be contexts when PSM interventions are more likely to be successful, and could be justifiably supported. Linking them to 'downstream' service delivery activities as well as to external accountability processes is likely to increase their chances of success, based on this report's evidence that most successful PFM interventions had an E&A element (such as participation in budget and procurement processes).

Gender and inclusion is where governance programmes more clearly fall short if they focus only on systems and processes, and do **not consider different service users from the outset**. UK governance programmes could have been more explicit in their strategy about which citizens their civil society partners represent, their relative political power and how their advocacy may generate change for different social groups. A political strategy on how to improve gender equity (or equity more generally for other social groups) would be useful, applying the same energy and political insight as in other aspects of PERL's work.

# 2. How do governance reforms contribute to service delivery improvements?

The research can only evidence association (rather than a firm or partial contribution) between general core governance interventions and sector governance improvements, with PFM and E&A much better evidenced than PSM factors. Improving funding flows and accountability are necessary conditions for services to be delivered. A plausible connection can be made with UK governance interventions which strengthened these 'upstream' core systems, and which, as a result improved 'downstream' health and education services: (i) improving a State Government's capacity to plan, allocate and use financial resources (PFM), as well as (ii) improving its capacity to engage with and respond to external pressures through different types of accountability channels (E&A).

Targeted 'downstream' interventions by governance programmes provide stronger evidence of UK governance contributions to service delivery. There was strong evidence when SPARC, SAVI and PERL supported processes to address specific barriers to health or education delivery (such as funding reaching health facilities or schools, trained teachers or nurses staying in their post or accountability constraints) and when they collaborated with relevant UK health and education programmes. Older successful examples from SLGP included issues-based projects on concrete issues (water governance in Kano and water procurement in Jigawa; see Annex 1, Box 12).

Ultimately, governance programmes that aim to develop sustainable capacity in specific sectors need to be able to flex between 'upstream' and 'downstream'. While the research used the 'service delivery chain' as the basis for its mid-level ToC and it was a useful heuristic tool to unpack the different effects of UK interventions and interactions along the chain, there is a danger that it is interpreted too simplistically. Governance for service delivery should not limit itself to centre of government; it does not only start 'upstream' with policies or budgets following down to service delivery capacities. Core governance improvements can be stimulated by sector governance and service delivery improvements. Health and education sector programmes can also push for unsustainable or unaffordable measures, which 'upstream' governance programmes can help governments identify. Governance programmes add value by ensuring a more sustainable framework: not simply sequential steps along a 'service delivery' chain; but a series of potentially mutually reinforcing interventions.

The contrasting experience of Kano with Jigawa, Kaduna and Yobe is that service delivery can improve, over the short to medium term, in the absence of improved governance, but that long-term, sustained improvements in service delivery probably do require core governance reform. Kano Governors' political insecurity motivated either visible education programmes that would give them 'political credit' with their support base (e.g. school feeding), or accepting development partners' sector programmes because of their 'low political cost' and appeal to poor rural populations. Health and education outcomes can improve without deep governance reforms, sustained by international funding from development partners. Some World Bank funding, which passes through states' budgets, may in fact inflate these health and education budgets, and give the appearance that services are funded to a greater degree by states' own resources than they are.

Ultimately, development partners can 'buy' health and education outcomes. This means that improved service delivery is not simply derived from State Governments' more effective use of their resources - the shared objective of DFID/FCDO governance programmes in Nigeria, as noted in Chapter 1. In the short term, development partners can fund service delivery (e.g. vaccination programmes, building schools, training nurses and teachers), which can lead to improved outcomes. But could improved access to health and education potentially generate citizens' expectations of continuously improving services, and in this way incentivise politicians to invest in systems to make this happen? There is anecdotal evidence in the State Case Studies, for example of Governor Ganduje in Kano, having to continue to reinstate his political rival's school-feeding programme, or Jigawa needing to increase funding for free MNCH services because of their popularity. Further research on this would be useful, to test whether Governors can win the support of the rural poor by providing tangible government services, and in this way make effective and sustainable service delivery systems politically salient issues (not just patronage-based delivery by State Governments or vertical programmes by development partners).

3. What are the ways in which programmes operate and reform processes are managed that are most likely to contribute to sustained governance and service delivery improvements?

The main operational implication is that development partners' governance and sector programmes need the capacity to think and work politically. This is not a new message, yet it is still not mainstreamed in development, and may become even harder for FCDO to implement. The TWP 'second development orthodoxy' (Teskey, 2017) remains in tension with the political economy of development cooperation. In recent years, UK government development policies and processes, and the incentives they create for programme management and delivery, are making it increasingly challenging for UK governance programmes in Nigeria to operate in TWP ways. Given the report's main findings that these programmes achieved most results when they tailored their interventions to a deep understanding of the context, and through their cumulative learning over nearly 20 years, the consequence is that DFID/FCDO incentives might be preventing their programmes from achieving their full potential. Working politically to support locally led change, which is more likely to be sustainable, requires autonomy for country offices and implementing organisations, space to learn and not just to report back, and staff with both technical knowledge and relationship skills. Drastic cuts, organisational restructuring, and changes in UK policy priorities in 2021 indicate that this trend is unlikely to be reversed in the near future.

The realist synthesis inspired methodology used by the research has demonstrated its value-added for TWP programmes: it opens up the 'black box' of incentives that can motivate the behaviour changes that can drive institutional change. This helps unpack 'political will' assumptions too often made by programmes to justify their objectives and ways of operating, regardless of how realistic they appear. Identifying and testing 'causal mechanisms' could be used not just in evaluations, but also in design, implementation, learning and adaptation processes. While the relevance of political and wider incentives is well acknowledged in the literature, there are fewer studies examining how interventions can contribute to changes by stimulating specific incentives in practice, taking different aspects of the context into account. It is therefore a useful methodological addition to the practice of thinking and working politically, and adaptive management.

## 8.2 Recommendations

To international development partners:

- 1. Invest for the long term 10 to 20 years combining support for both state and nonstate actors. Development partners, such as bilateral agencies or the World Bank, may only allocate programme budgets for shorter cycles, but their development assistance is likely to continue over the long term (even if in different forms). As the UK in Nigeria has shown, consistently investing in the same places and on similar issues contributes to results. Long-term relationships and trust are critical, built over years of collaboration. There are very few 'quick wins' in institutional reforms, and many reversals along the way. However, this report shows transformational changes can be achieved especially when interventions target how governments relate to their citizens, rather than only focusing on internal state processes. Long-term investments should therefore include both state and non-state partners.
- 2. Ensure programmes have the strategic-level mandate, managerial capacity and frontline staff skills to pursue politically savvy **opportunities.** To be more than aspirations in design documents, TWP requires not only programmes with the right staff and adaptive management systems, but most importantly, an 'authorising environment' to operate in politically savvy, adaptive ways. This means less time on upwards reporting, more time on analysing, testing, learning and sharing. And in the new COVID-19 context which requires localising development now more than ever, successful programmes will be the ones with staff well embedded in the states, cities or rural areas where they live and work, with enough autonomy and delegated responsibilities.
- 3. Take PEA to the next level by unpacking 'causal mechanisms'. In some programmes, PEAs have at times become a tick-box exercise even when staff have an in-depth understanding of the political context which shapes how they operate. PEA reports can be required in contracts and delivered quickly during inception phases, but then not used during implementation. Drawing on the insights of the realist synthesis approach, this Flagship report has shown how incentives can be not only used to design interventions that provide the reasonings or resources to make change happen. Monitoring, evaluation and learning systems can then assess the relevance of causal mechanisms at play, and inform strategic decisions.
- 4. Give governance programmes the ability to flex between core governance and service delivery issues. There is a tendency for governance programmes to focus on 'upstream' issues, such as state systems and processes, and not engage with how these systems actually influence the lives of citizens. The Flagship evidence shows more sustainable results are

likely with E&A elements to the approach. This could mean, for example, including 'downstream' elements in centre of government programmes, to ensure a feedback loop between how services are provided and policy processes. Let programmes select the best entry points for change, even if they are not conventional or part of the expected 'menu' of sectors/policies designed in a programme document.

- 5. Incentivise greater collaboration between governance and sector programmes. UK governance programmes made a greater contribution to sector outcomes when they worked closely with sector programmes. Development partners can manage tensions and rivalries between programmes implemented by different companies or grantees by putting the right incentives in place. This can include, for example, results framework objectives shared by governance, health and education programmes. How development partners organise themselves also sends messages to implementers and programme partners. Technical advisers shared across governance and sector teams can contribute to greater coherence. The ultimate goal should always be government-led coordination of these programmes, to build their longer-term capacity, but barriers to collective action makes it particularly difficult.
- 6. Incentivise greater attention to gender and to social inclusion, beyond disability issues, in governance programming. Governance programmes need to ask systematically: who benefits, who is excluded, why, and what can be done about it? They also need to differentiate between different civil society groups – whom do they claim to represent, and for whom do they actually speak? This is no longer a question of gender and social inclusion mainstreaming; these issues should be explicitly embedded

within the mandate of all governance programmes, broadening beyond gender and PWD which are more commonly prioritised. This will reinforce attention to service users and accountability issues, more likely to contribute to sustained institutional change.

### To FCDO:

- 7. Empower and resource FCDO teams to enable TWP programmes. There is a fear that the creation of FCDO in 2020 will affect the ability of the UK development programme to support locally led change by centralising decision-making in London. Budgets have been severely cut, and many technical experts are leaving the new organisation. FCDO must ensure that decision-making autonomy is maintained with country teams so they can respond to local priorities and retain advisory staff with the right skills and mindset. Even with reduced budgets, FCDO country teams and programme implementers can design and manage programmes that respond to local priorities and incentives. As the evidence provided in this report shows, this is likely to lead to a better use of UK taxpayers' contributions, with more sustainable results that contribute to poverty reduction.
- 8. Re-imagine TWP for FCDO Nigeria. These significant UK policy and budget changes since 2020 mean that FCDO Nigeria must design and manage programmes in radically different ways. This will require FCDO Nigeria, and the governance team in particular, to navigate the new environment and experiment with creative solutions. Protecting the most significant governance investments, such as PERL, from further shortterm budget insecurity, and giving programme implementers and their delivery teams the

space to operate in TWP ways, is most likely to achieve FCDO Nigeria objectives for these programmes. Some changes are within the remit of FCDO Nigeria, such as encouraging more learning rather than upward reporting, and within the framework of FCDO Nigeria's strategic objectives, giving the teams leeway to experiment.

- 9.Incentivise stronger collaboration between PERL, Lafiya (health) and PLANE (the forthcoming education programme). FCDO Nigeria governance and human development teams should invest the time to develop and continuously send consistent messages to these large-scale state-level programmes. This will incentivise programme implementers to work in collaborative and complementary ways, drawing on 20 years of lessons summarised in this report.
- 10. Invest in impact data analysis. This research was possible because of the availability of impact-level data on core governance reforms and service delivery improvements covering parts of the period under review. However, data on final service delivery outcomes from 2018 onwards is limited. It has not been possible to assess fully the contribution of PERL to the longerterm trend and sustainability of health and education outcomes in the focal states. PERL's extension provides an opportunity to address this shortcoming which will need to be resourced. FCDO should consider collecting such data in other long-running programmes.

# To partner governments in Nigeria and beyond:

11. Explicitly set out the objectives for which you would like to receive assistance.

Programmes documented in this Flagship report achieved more results when they were aligned with political incentives. This lesson applies not only to development partners who should support locally led change, but also to local actors who need to select which development partners they want to work with, and around which shared objectives. Some development partners can even support the identification of shared objectives, such as through the participatory approach and self-assessments undertaken with SLGP support. If partner governments do not define their objectives, development partners will do it for them through their funding decisions.

- 12. Use TWP to decide how development partners can support your political objectives. TWP principles also apply to partner governments; they can use PEAs and 'causal mechanisms' to understand the incentives faced by the UK government and their other development partners, and the scope for politically-feasible and mutuallybeneficial collaboration.
- 13. Invest in the coordination of development partners. While it may initially appear beneficial not to share too much information with development partners, it can result in wasted resources; development programmes may compete with one another or support contradictory interventions. As demonstrated by Kaduna and Yobe States, state-led coordination of development and humanitarian partners can release more resources towards political leaders' objectives.

### To non-state partners in Nigeria and beyond:

14. Join coalitions to achieve your priorities. Most of the results documented in this report relied on some aspects of E&A interventions and were delivered through coalitions of state and non-state partners, including different types of CSOs developing relationships with media, political actors such as those in SHoA and government officials. By working in coalitions, they achieved more than they could have on their own.

15. Select development partners that can strengthen your skills, not just fund your activities. Local civil society groups need financial support to pay staff and undertake activities. In the search for funding, some organisations can lose sight of their main objectives. However, programmes such as SAVI and PERL have been able to offer something additional to funds: developing technical skills, such as understanding a budget, and learning to work through coalitions. These experiences can have longer-lasting benefits, such as gaining access to state-level decision-makers because of the technical credibility and relationships forged.

# Bibliography

- Adediran, S. (2015) 'Forces of educational policy change since 2000 in Nigeria'. ED/EFA/MRT/2015/ Pl/38 Background Paper Prepared for the Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2015. (http://nigeria-del-unesco.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/EFA-Achievements-and-Challenges.pdf).
- Adegbola, J. (2020) 'Edo poll: Matters arising'. Punch Newspaper, 4 October (https://punchng.com/ edo-poll-matters-arising).
- Adejo, I., Baines, S., Williams, E. and Watkins, F. (2009) 'Education sector support programme in Nigeria (ESSPIN) analysis of the role of Local Government Authorities and Local Government Education Authorities in supporting basic education in Nigeria'. Report Number ESSPIN 203.
- Adeloye, D., David, R.A., Olaogun, A.A., Auta, A. et al. (2017) 'Health workforce and governance: the crisis in Nigeria' *Human Resources for Health* 15(1): 1–8 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-017-0205-4).
- Adetula, V.A.O. (2008) 'Money and politics in Nigeria'. Abuja: International Foundation for Electoral System IFES-Nigeria (www.ifes.org/sites/default/files/moneyandpolitics\_final\_nigeria\_0.pdf).
- Ager, A.K., Lembani, M., Mohammed, A., Mohammed Ashir, G. et al. (2015) 'Health service resilience in Yobe state, Nigeria in the context of the Boko Haram insurgency: a systems dynamics analysis using group model building' *Conflict and Health* 9(1): 1–14 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s13031-015-0056-3).
- Ahmad, E. and Singh, R. (2003) Political economy of oil-revenue sharing in a developing country: illustrations from Nigeria. IMF Working Paper (WP/03/16). Washington DC: International Monetary Fund.
- **Ajala, T.** (2017) 'Gender discrimination in land ownership and the alleviation of women's poverty in Nigeria: a call for new equities' *International Journal of Discrimination and the Law* 17(1): 51–66 (https://doi.org/10.1177/1358229117700028).
- **Aja-Okorie, U.** (2013) 'Women education in Nigeria: problems and implications for family role and stability' *European Scientific Journal* 9(28): 272–282 (www.eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/ view/1897).
- Akindutire, I.O., Ayodele, J.B. and Osiki, P. (2011) 'Political leadership and the development of education programme in Nigeria: lessons for African nations' *Journal of Education and Practice* 2(8): 19–28 (https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/234633246.pdf).
- Ananaba, A., Sadiq, F.U. and Piron, L.-H. (2018) 'Health financing in Nigeria'. PERL-LEAP Study Report 58(1).
- Anderson, C., Fox, J. and Gaventa, J. (2020) How do donor-led empowerment and accountability activities take scale into account? Evidence from DFID programmes in contexts of fragility, conflict and violence. Working Paper Volume 2020, Number 536 (https://accountabilityresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/2020-Anderson-Fox-and-Gaventa-IDS-WP536\_Online.pdf).

- Andrews, M. (2010) How far have public financial management reforms come in Africa? CID Working Paper Series 208. Cambridge MA: Harvard University (www.hks.harvard.edu/centers/cid/publications/ faculty-working-papers/how-far-have-public-financial-management-reforms-come-africa).
- Andrews, M., Cangiano, M., Cole, N., De Renzio, P. et al. (2014) *This is PFM*. CID Working Paper Series 285. Cambridge MA: Harvard University (www.hks.harvard.edu/centers/cid/publications).
- **Angerbrandt, H.** (2018) 'Deadly elections: post-election violence in Nigeria' Journal of Modern African Studies 56(1): 143–167 (https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022278X17000490).
- **Anon.** (2018) 'Education financing: analysis and recommendations' *Nurse Educator* 14(5): 8,17 (https://doi.org/10.1097/00006223-198909000-00006).
- **Aston, T.** (2020) 'Boundaries, relationships, and incremental change'. Personal Blog (www.linkedin. com/pulse/boundaries-relationships-incremental-change-thomas-aston).
- **Aston, T.** (2020) 'W(h)ither sanctions?' Personal Blog (www.linkedin.com/pulse/whither-sanctions-thomas-aston).
- **Aston, T. and Rocha Menocal, A.** (2021) Understanding how PERL'sarchitecture and plumbing shape the programme's ability to think and work politically. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- Atun, R.A., Bennett, S. and Duran, A. (2008) 'When do vertical (stand-alone) programmes have a place in health systems?' World Health World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, Health Evidence Network and European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies (www. researchgate.net/publication/242573241\_When\_do\_Vertical\_Stand-Alone\_Programmes\_have\_a\_ Place\_in\_Health\_Systems).
- Bano, M., Crawfurd, L., Doherty, R. and Rai, S. (2016) 'Can education markets work for the poor? Potential learning from the Developing Effective Private Education in Nigeria (DEEPEN) Programme'. Abuja: EDOREN (https://edorennigeria.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/edoren-can-education-markets-work-for-the-poor.pdf).
- **Baunsgaard, T.** (2003) *Fiscal policy in Nigeria: any role for rules?* IMF Working Paper (WP/03/155). Washington DC: International Monetary Fund.
- Beach, D. and Pedersen, R.B. (2019) *Process-tracing methods: foundations and guidelines*. Ann Arbor MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Behuria, P., Buur, L. and Gray, H. (2017) 'Studying political settlements in Africa' African Affairs 116(464): 508–525 (doi: 10.1093/afraf/adx019).
- Bello, I., Othman, M.F. and Shariffuddin, M.D.K. (2017) 'Political economy of education financing in Nigeria' Asia Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies 5(6): 15–25 (www.researchgate.net/profile/ Ismail-Bello-5/publication/319528977\_Political\_Economy\_of\_Education\_Financing\_In\_Nigeria/ links/59b14d5fa6fdcc3f888de6d5/Political-Economy-of-Education-Financing-In-Nigeria.pdf).
- **Bennell, P., Anyanwu, S., Ayara, N., Ayuba, A. et al.** (2009) 'Nigeria: Education Public Expenditure Review a Synthesis of the Main Findings and Recommendations from Nine State Reports'. Report Number: ESSPIN 201 (www.esspin.org/reports/download/36-file-1253289201-esspin\_201\_anal.pdf).
- Bennett, A. and George, A.L. (2005) 'Process-Tracing and Historical Explanation' in A. Bennett and A.L. George (eds.) Case studies and theory development in the social sciences. Cambridge MA: MIT Press.

- **Birchall, J.** (2019) 'Legislation, policies and social exclusion in Nigeria'. K4D Helpdesk Report. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/ handle/20.500.12413/14810).
- Bischler, J. (2016) ESSPIN Composite Survey 3: Kaduna State Report. OPM.
- Blum, J., Manning, N. and Srivastava, V. (2012) 'Public sector management reform: toward a problem-solving approach' *Economic Premise 100*. Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl. handle.net/10986/17057).
- Bolaji, S. D., Campbell-Evans, G. and Gray, J. (2016) 'Universal basic education policy implementation in Nigeria' *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy* 13(2): 137–158 (https://doi.org/10.22804/kjep.2016.13.2.001).
- **Booth, D. and Chambers, V.** (2014) *The SAVI programme in Nigeria: towards politically smart, locally led development.* Research Report. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/the-saviprogramme-in-nigeria-towards-politically-smart-locally-led-development).
- **Booth, D.** (2016) *Politically smart support to economic development DFID experiences*. Research Report. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/politically-smart-support-to-economic-development).
- **BPSR** (2016) 'Rapid valuation and institutional assessment of the Universal Basic Education Commission (UBEC)'. Bureau for Public Sector Reforms.
- **Brechenmacher, S.** (2019) *Stabilizing Northeast Nigeria after Boko Haram*. Working Paper. Washington DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace (https://carnegieendowment. org/2019/05/03/stabilizing-northeast-nigeria-after-boko-haram-pub-79042).
- **Brierley, S.** (2020) 'Combining patronage and merit in public sector recruitment' *Journal of Politics* 83(1): 182–197 (https://doi.org/10.1086/708240).
- Bunse, S. and Fritz, V. (2012) *Making public sector reforms work: political and economic contexts, incentives, and strategies.* Policy Research Working Paper No. 6174.Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/12019).
- **Central Bank of Nigeria** (2019) '2019 Statistical Bulletin: domestic production, consumption and prices excel sheet' (www.cbn.gov.ng/documents/statbulletin.asp).
- **Chambers, V., Cummings, C. and Nixon, H.** (2015) 'Case study: State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability' London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/case-study-state-partnership-for-accountability-responsiveness-and-capability).
- Chete, L.N., Adeoti, J.O., Adeyinka, F.M. and Ogundele, O. (2017) Industrial development and growth in Nigeria: lessons and challenges. Learning to Compete Working Paper No. 8: Washington DC: Brookings Institution (www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/l2c\_wp8\_chete-et-al-1.pdf).
- **Christian Aid** (2018) *Doing accountability differently: A 'vertically integrated' approach*. London/ Abuja: Christian Aid (www.christianaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/Doing-Accountability-Differently-V2P-Governance-January2018.pdf).
- **Chukwuma, A., Bossert, T. J. and Croke, K.** (2019) 'Health service delivery and political trust in Nigeria' *Social Science and Medicine Population Health* 7(March), 100382 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100382).

- **CIRDDOC** (2018) 'Nigerian States Budget Transparency Survey'. Civil Resource Development and Documentation Centre Nigeria (https://statesbudgettransparencysurvey-ng.com).
- **Collaborative Africa Budget Reform Initiative** (2016) 'Increasing efficiency in the drug supply system in Nigeria' (www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/files/Documents/case\_study\_2016\_cabri\_health\_ dialogue\_increasing\_efficiency\_in\_the\_drug\_supply\_system\_in\_nigeria\_engl.pdf).
- **Collaborative Africa Budget Reform Initiative** (2018) 'The role of the legislature in the budget process: Kenya case study' (www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/files/Documents/CABRI-Legislature-CS-Kenya-ENG-WEB.pdf).
- **Copestake, J., Goertz, G. and Haggard, S.** (2020) 'The Veil of Ignorance Process Tracing (VoiPT) methodology'. Version 8, Prepared for a Symposium in Qualitative & Multi-Method Research.
- **Cummings, C., Bako, A., Tahirou, M., Rhissa, H. et al.** (2016) 'Collective action and the deployment of teachers in Niger: a political economy analysis'. Briefing. London: ODI (https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/10303.pdf).
- **Cummings, C.** (2020) 'Literature review for the flagship report on 20 years of UK governance programming in Nigeria'. PERL-LEAP internal report.
- Daigneault, P. (2016) 'Process tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool Andrew Bennett and Jeffrey T. Checkel', eds. Cambridge UK: Cambridge University Press, 2015, pp. 342' Canadian Journal of Political Science 49(4): 795–797 (doi:10.1017/S0008423916000895).
- **Derbyshire, H., Fraser, S. and Mwamba, W.** (2013) 'Thinking and Acting Politically: Supporting citizen engagement in governance: the experience of the State Accountability and Voice Initiative in Nigeria', Department for International Development (http://savi-nigeria.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Thinking-and-Acting-Politically\_FINAL.pdf).
- **Derbyshire, H., Fraser, S. and Mwamba, W** (2014) 'Rising to the challenge: supporting problem driven iterative adaptation and politically smart locally led approaches through a donor funded programme: the experience of the State Accountability and Voice Initiative in Nigeria', Department for International Development (http://savi-nigeria.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/ DFID\_SAVI\_brief\_Challenge\_Online.pdf).
- **Derbyshire, H., Barr, J. and Mwamba, W.** (2016) 'Moving Targets, Widening Nets: monitoring incremental and adaptive change in an empowerment and accountability programme', Department for international Development (http://savi-nigeria.org/resource/moving-targets-widening-nets-monitoring-incremental-adaptive-change-empowerment-accountability-programme).
- **Derbyshire, H. and Williams, G.** (2021) 'Effective collaboration between governance and sector programmes assessment of the evidence on what works'. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- **De Lay, S., Mills, L., Jadeja, K. and Lucas, B.** (2015) Public financial management evidence mapping. GSDRC, University of Birmingham (www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence).
- De Renzio, P., Andrews, M. and Mills, Z. (2011) Does donor support to public financial management reforms in developing countries work? An analytical study of quantitative cross-country evidence. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/does-donor-support-to-public-financial-management-reforms-in-developing-countries-work-an-analytical-study-of-quantitative-cross-country-evidence).
- **Devarajan, S., Khemani, S. and Walton, M.** (2014) 'Can civil society overcome government failure in Africa?' *World Bank Research Observer* 29(1): 20–47 (https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkto08).

- **DFID** (n.d.) DFID's Education Programmes in Nigeria.
- DFID (2006) SLGP Output to Purpose Review.
- DFID (2008) SLGP End of Project Review.
- DFID (2013) MNCH2 Annual Review.
- DFID (2016) PATHS2 Project Completion Report.
- DFID (2017) ESSPIN Project Completion Report.
- DFID (2018a) M4D Project Completion Report.
- DFID (2018b) W4H Annual Review.
- DFID (2019a) TDP Project Completion Report.
- DFID (2019b) MNCH2 Annual Review.
- DFID (2019c) GEP Annual Review post 2018.
- **DFID** (2019d) *Governance for growth, stability, and inclusive development*. DFID Governance position paper (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment\_data/file/786751/Governance-Position-Paper2a.pdf).
- DFID (2000) Nigeria Country Strategy Paper.
- Dirisu, O., Akinola, A., Okereke, E., Unumeri, G. et al. (2019) Assessment of human resources for health, hiring, deployment, and retention procedures and practices in Nigeria's Cross River and Bauchi States. Population Council (www.popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2019RH\_ HRforHealthHiringNigeria.pdf).
- **Doing Development Differently** (n.d.) A pilot for politically savvy, locally tailored and adaptive delivery in Nigeria (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/423981468185963704/ text/102161-WP-P151718-Box394822B-PUBLIC-Nigeria-PEIA-Summary.txt).
- Domingo, P., Holmes, R., O'Neil, T., Jones, N. et al. (2015) Women's voice and leadership in decision-making: assessing the evidence. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/womens-voice-and-leadership-assessing-the-evidence).
- EDOREN (2016) The Universal Basic Education Reforms: A review. Abuja.
- **Emmel, N.** (2013) Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: a realist approach. London: Sage.
- **Enfield, S.** (2019) Gender roles and inequalities in the Nigerian labour market. K4D Helpdesk Report. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/14727).
- **ESSPIN** (2014) Introducing modern education into Islamic schools in Northern Nigeria: a report on ESSPIN's 1st Phase Experience 2008-2014.
- ESSPIN (2017) ESSPIN End of Programme Report.
- **Federal Republic of Nigeria** (2007) National human resources for health strategic plan (2008 to 2012) (www.who.int/workforcealliance/countries/Nigeria\_HRHStrategicPlan\_2008\_2012.pdf).
- Felix, A. and Rosa Gomes da Silva, E. (2010) 'A gestão documental como suporte ao governo eletrônico: caso da Secretaria de Estado da Saúde de Santa Catarina (SEs/SC)' *Revista Democracia Digatal e Governo Eletrônico* 1(2): 36–50 (https://buscalegis.ufsc.br/revistas/index.php/observatoriodoegov/article/view/19).
- **Fox, J.** (2015) 'Social accountability: what does the evidence really say?' *World Development* 72: 346–361 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.03.011).

- **Fox, J.** (2020) 'Contested terrain: International development projects and countervailing power for the excluded' *World Development* 133, 104978 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.104978).
- Fritz, V., Verhoeven, M. and Avenia, A. (2017) Political economy of public financial management reforms. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/28887).
- Gaduh, A., Pradhan, M., Priebe, J. and Susanti, D. (2020) Scores, camera, action? Incentivizing teachers in remote areas. RISE Working Paper 20/035 (https://doi.org/10.35489/BSG-RISE-WP\_2020/035).
- **Gbadebo-Smith, O., Thomas, D. and Pierce, J.** (2006) 'Lessons Learned Review of SLGP's Support to Improved Policy and Strategy', SLGP Lesson Learning Report Number 905.
- **Gheorghe, A., Brikci, N., Ngwaru, T., Lievens, T. et al.** (2015) Improving technical efficiency in health spending in Africa. Keynote paper (www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/files/Documents/ events\_2016\_cabri\_health\_dialogue\_efficiency\_in\_health\_spending\_engl.pdf).
- Goryakin, Y., Revill, P., Mirelman, A., Sweeney, R. et al. (2017) Public financial management and health service delivery: a literature review. London: ODI (https://cdn.odi.org/media/ documents/11463.pdf).
- **Green, D. and Kirk, T.** (2020) DV455 : Advocacy, Campaigning and Grassroots Activism, 2020/21 Course Guide and Reading List How to Use the Reading List Becoming Power-Literate (https:// oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Green-and-Kirk-DV455-course-manual-2020-21-public.pdf).
- **Grigoli, F. and Kapsoli, J.** (2018) 'Waste not, want not: the efficiency of health expenditure in emerging and developing economies' *Review of Development Economics* 22(1): 384–403 (https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.12346).
- **Guerzovich, M.F. and Poli, M.** (2020) 'How social accountability strengthens cross-sector initiatives to deliver quality health services?' Global Partnership for Social Accountability Note 17. Washington DC: World Bank (https://gpsaknowledge.org/ uncategorized/how-socialaccountability-strengthens-cross-sector-initiatives-to-deliver-quality-health-services).
- **Guerzovich, F., Poli, M. and Fokkelman, E.** (2020) The learning crisis and its solutions lessons from social accountability for education. GPSA Note 13. Washington DC: World Bank Group (https://gpsaknowledge.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/gpsa-not-13-education.pdf).
- **Hadley, S. and Miller, M.** (2016) *PEFA: What is it good for? The role of PEFA assessments in public financial management reform.* Discussion Paper (https://odi.org/en/publications/pefa-what-is-it-good-for-the-role-of-pefa-assessments-in-public-financial-management-reform).
- Hadley, S. and Miller, M. (2018) The challenges of institutional reform: lessons from two decades of PFM reforms (www.odi.org/events/3608-cape-conference-2013-budget-pfm).
- **Hafez, R.** (2018) *Nigeria health financing system assessment*. Health, Nutrition and Population Discussion Paper. Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/30174).
- Haggai, M.P. (2010) 'Basic education and education for all in Nigeria: the role of multinational corporations' *Journal of Global Initiatives: Policy, Pedagogy, Perspective* 4(1): 95–103 (https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/jgi/vol4/iss1/6).

- Hallerberg, M. and Scartascini, C. (2015) 'When do governments improve fiscal institutions? Lessons from financial crisis and fiscal reform in Latin America' *Economica* 16(1): 41–76 (www.researchgate.net/publication/318115863\_When\_Do\_Governments\_Improve\_Fiscal\_ Institutions\_Lessons\_from\_Financial\_Crisis\_and\_Fiscal\_Reform\_in\_Latin\_America).
- Hallerberg, M., Scartascini, C. and Stein, E. (2009) 'The budget process as a political arena' in M. Hallerberg, C. Scartascini and E. Stein (eds.) Who decides the budget? A political economy analysis of the budget process in Latin America. Washington DC: Inter-American Development Bank (https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/document/Who-Decides-the-Budget-A-Political-Economy-Analysis-of-the-Budget-Process-in-Latin-America.pdf).
- Harris, D., Kooy, M. and Jones, L. (2011) *Analysing the governance and political economy of water and sanitation service delivery*. Working Paper 334. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/ files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/7243.pdf).
- Heymans, C. and Pycroft, C. (2003) Drivers of change in Nigeria: a preliminary overview (http://gsdrc.org/docs/open/doc27.pdf).
- **Hickey, S.** (2019) The politics of state capacity and development in Africa: reframing and researching 'pockets of effectiveness. Pockets of Effectiveness Working Paper No. 1 (https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3467520).
- **Hickey, S. and Kelsall, T.** (2020) 'The three Cs of inclusive development: context, capacity and coalitions'. 30 September, ESID Blog (www.effective-states.org/the-three-cs-of-inclusive-development-context-capacity-and-coalitions).
- Hickey, S. and King, S. (2016) 'Understanding social accountability: politics, power and building new social contracts' *Journal of Development Studies* 52(8): 1225–1240 (https://doi.org/10.1080/00220 388.2015.1134778).
- Hickey, S., Hossain, N. and Jackman, D. (2019) 'Identifying the political drivers of quality education: a comparative analysis' in S. Hickey and N. Hossain (eds.) *The politics of education in developing countries; from schooling to learning*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (DOI:10.1093/ 0s0/9780198835684.003.0009).
- Hirvi, M. and Whitfield, L. (2015) 'Public-service provision in clientelist political settlements: Lessons from Ghana's urban water sector' *Development Policy Review* 33(2): 135–158 (https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12095).
- ICAI (2012) DFID's Education Programmes in Nigeria. Report 16 November (https://icai.independent. gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/ICAI-Nigeria-Education-report.pdf)
- IMEP (2012) SAVI Mid-Term Review.
- IMEP (2013) SPARC Annual Review.
- IMEP (2014) SPARC Annual Review.
- IMEP (2017) Final Evaluation of the DFID Nigeria State Level Programmes: Final Evaluation Report, Independent Monitoring and Evaluation Project for the DFID Nigeria State Level Programmes (IMEP). Volume 1: Executive Summary and Main Report (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/678856/Independent-Monitoring-and-Evaluation-Project-for-the-DFID-Nigeria-State-Level-Programmes-IMEP.pdf).

- **International Budget Partnership** (2018a) *Budget credibility: what can we learn from budget execution reports?* (www.internationalbudget.org/publications/guide-to-transparency-ingovernment-budget-reports-).
- **International Budget Partnership** (2018b) Budget credibility: what can we learn from PEFA reports? (www.internationalbudget.org/wp-content/uploads/budget-credibility-what-can-we-learn-from-pefa-reports-ibp-2018.pdf).
- Independent Evaluation Group (2008) Public Sector Reform: What Works and Why? An IEG evaluation of World Bank Support. Washington, DC: World Bank. (https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/6484).
- **Jigawa State Government** (2006) Guide to pensions reforms: lessons from Jigawa State. Dutse: Ministry for Salaries and Pensions Administration.
- Jigawa State Government (2016) Comprehensive Development Framework 2. Dutse: Directorate of Budget and Economic Planning (www.jsbepd.org/downloads/Jigawa%20State%20CDF-Second%20Edition.pdf).
- Kelly, L. (2019) Barriers and enablers for women's participation in governance in Nigeria. Helpdesk Report. Knowledge, evidence and learning for development (https://assets.publishing.service.gov. uk/media/5d430c8eed915d09ddbd354a/596\_Nigerian\_Women\_Governance.pdf).
- **Kelsall, T.** (2011) 'Going with the grain in African development? *Development Policy Review* 29(SUPPL. 1): s223–s251 (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7679.2011.00527.x).
- **Kelsall, T.** (2018) *Thinking and working with political settlements: The case of Tanzania*. Working paper 541. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/thinking-and-working-with-political-settlements-the-case-of-tanzania).
- Khan, M. (2010) Political Settlements and the Governance of Growth-enhancing Institutions (https://eprints.soas.ac.uk/9968/1/Political\_Settlements\_internet.pdf).
- Kristensen J.K., Bowen, M., Long, C., Mustapha, S. and Zrinski, U. (eds.) (2019) *PEFA*, *Public Financial Management*, and Good Governance. World Bank Group International Development in Focus series (www.pefa.org/sites/pefa/files/resources/downloads/9781464814662.pdf).
- Laws, E. and Marquette, H. (2018) Thinking and working politically: reviewing the evidence (https://twpcommunity.org).
- Laws, E. (2020) Strengthening PERL VFM: approach paper. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- Laws, E., Ochogwu, J. and Arquilliere, A. (2021) Governance and fragility: a case study on PERL in North-east Nigeria. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- **LeVan, A.C.** (2014) Dictators and democracy in African development: the political economy of good governance in Nigeria. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- LeVan, A.C., Page, M.T. and Ha, Y. (2018) 'From terrorism to talakawa: explaining party turnover in Nigeria's 2015 elections' *Review of African Political Economy* 45(157): 432–450 (https://doi.org/10.1 080/03056244.2018.1456415).
- Lewis, P. and Watts, M. (2013) *Nigeria: the political economy of governance*. DDD Discussion Paper. Abuja: World Bank.
- Lewis, P. and Watts, M. (2015) 'The politics of labor policy reform' in *The politics of policy reform in Nigeria* (Issue February).

- Long, C. (2019) 'PFM and perceptions of corruption' in Kristensen J.K., Bowen, M., Long, C., Mustapha, S., and Zrinski, U. (eds), Public Financial Management, and Good Governance, World Bank Group International Development in Focus series (www.pefa.org/sites/pefa/files/resources/ downloads/9781464814662.pdf).
- Manning, N. (2014) 'How can we measure state capacity? Do you start upstream or downstream?' World Bank Governance for Development blog (http://blogs.worldbank.org/governance).
  Maternal Figures (n.d.) Database (https://maternalfigures.com/kano).
- Mccullough, A., Hennessey, G. and Lacroix, A. (2020) Reconstructing our understanding of the link between services and state legitimacy. Secure Livelihoods Research Consortium. London: ODI (https://securelivelihoods.org/wp-content/uploads/SLRC-ServicesStateLegitimacy-Report-May2o-Proof11.pdf).
- McDonnell, E. (2017) 'Patchwork Leviathan: how pockets of bureaucratic governance flourish within institutionally diverse developing states' *American Sociological Review* 82(3): 476–510 (https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0003122417705874).
- **Mohan, G.** (2019) 'Pockets of effectiveness: the contributions of critical political economy and state theory' *SSRN Electronic Journal* 118: 1–22 (https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3467513).
- Mshana, Y., Thomas, D. and Bertram, S. (2007) Review of Wudil Water Project in Kano State, SLGP Consultants Report.
- **Musa, G.M.** (2016) 'Negotiating mutuality through peace accords: Kaduna State as a case study' *Peace & Change* 41(4): 452–474 (https://doi.org/10.1111/pech.12202).
- Mustapha, R. (2005) Ethnic Structure, Inequality and Governance of the Public Sector in Nigeria. CRISE working paper no 18. Oxford; Centre for Research on Inequality, Human Security and Ethnicity, Elizabeth House (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ media/57a08c97ed915d3cfd0014aa/wp18.pdf).
- Nash, M., Tyrrel, L. and Teskey, G. (2020) *Applying political economy thinking to sector programming*. ABT Governance briefing note series (https://abtassocgovernancesoapbox.files. wordpress.com/2020/07/briefing-note-issue-5-1.pdf).
- NBS (2019) 'Poverty and Inequality in Nigeria' National Bureau of Statistics Report.
- NBS (2020) 'Labour Force Statistics: Unemployment and Underemployment Report Q2 2020'
- **Orji, N.** (2008) 'Power-sharing. the element of continuity in Nigeria politics' PhD Thesis, Central European University (http://politicalscience.ceu.edu/sites/politicalscience.ceu.hu/files/basic\_page/field\_attachment/nkwachukwu-julius-orji.pdf).
- **O'Neil, T. and Domingo, P.** (2016) *Women and power: overcoming barriers to leadership and influence*. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/women-and-power-overcoming-barriers-to-leadership-and-influence).
- **Odewale, A.D.** (2019) 'Local government and primary education in Nigeria: an overview' *International Journal of Arts and Humanities* 8(4): 138–146 (https://doi.org/10.4314/ijah.v8i4.13).
- House of Commons (2016) DFID's programme in Nigeria: Second Report of Session 2016–17. House of Commons International Development Committee. HC 110. London (https://publications. parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmintdev/110/110.pdf).
- **Ogbonna, A.** (2018) 'Update: names of APC senators who defected to PDP' *Vanguard News*, 24 July (www.vanguardngr.com/2018/07/update-names-of-apc-senators-who-defected-to-pdp).

- **Ogundipe, S.** (2018) 'Kano Governor Ganduje caught on video receiving dollars from suspected contractors' *Premium Times*, 14 October (www.premiumtimesng.com/news/headlines/290358-kano-governor-ganduje-caught-on-video-receiving-dollars-from-suspected-contractors.html).
- **Ojo, J.** (2008) 'Money politics, political corruption and local government elections in Nigeria' in V.A.O. Adetula (ed.) *Money and politics in Nigeria*. Abuja: International Foundation for Electoral System IFES-Nigeria (www.ifes.org/sites/default/files/moneyandpolitics\_final\_nigeria\_0.pdf).
- **Ololajulo, B.O.** (2016) "'Eating with one spoon": zoning, power rotation and political corruption in Nigeria' *African Studies* 75(1): 153–169 (https://doi.org/10.1080/00020184.2015.1129139).
- **Okpene, G.** (2017) 'The impact of political and economic conditions in the functioning of Nigeria's excess crude account' *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development* 8(24): 118–122 (www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEDS/article/view/40377/41523).
- **Onoka, C.A., Hanson, K. and Hanefeld, J.** (2015) 'Towards universal coverage: a policy analysis of the development of the National Health Insurance Scheme in Nigeria' *Health Policy and Planning* 30(9): 1105–1117 (https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czu116).
- **Onuoha, F.C., Nwangwu, C. and Ugwueze, M.I.** (2020) 'Counterinsurgency operations of the Nigerian military and Boko Haram insurgency: expounding the viscid manacle' *Security Journal* 33: 401–406 (https://doi.org/10.1057/s41284-020-00234-6).
- **Onyekwena, C., Uzor, E., Oloko, T., and Adeniran, A.** (n.d.) *Financing Basic Education in Nigeria: What are the feasible options?* Backround paper – the learning Generation. Washington DC: International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (http://cseaafrica.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/Financing-Basic-Education-in-Nigeria-3.pdf).
- **Osaghae, E.E. and Suberu, T.** (2005) *A history of identities, violence, and stability in Nigeria*. CRISE Working Paper 6 (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08c984ofob652ddo0141e/wp6.pdf).
- **Osakede, U.A.** (2020) 'Public health spending and health outcome in Nigeria: the role of governance' *International Journal of Development Issues* 20(1): 25–112 (https://doi.org/10.1108/IJDI-10-2019-0169).
- **Outhred, R. and Turner, F.** (2020) Prospective evaluation of GPE's country-level support to education (www.globalpartnership.org/sites/default/files/document/file/2020-02-gpe-country-level-prospective-evaluation-Year-2-Nigeria.pdf).
- **Oxfam International** (2017) *Inequality in Nigeria: exploring the drivers*. Oxfam International (www. oxfam.org/en/research/inequality-nigeria-exploring-drivers).
- **Pasanen, T., Akpojivobi, M., and Onodugo, V.** (2020) Evaluation of PERL's regional hub approach. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- Pasanen, T. and Asubiaro, W. (2021) Strengthening women's role in governance. PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- Pawson R. and Tilley N. (1997) Realistic Evaluation. London: Thousand Oaks and Sage.
- **Pawson, R., Greenhalgh, T. Harvey, G. and Walshe, K.** (2004) *Realist Synthesis: An Introduction.* ESRC Research Methods Programme University of Manchester RMP Methods Paper 2/2004.
- Pawson, R. (2013) The science of evaluation: a realist manifesto. London: Sage.
- PERL-LEAP (2017a) Public sector reform in Nigeria: what works? Research Report.

**PERL-LEAP** (2017b) The home-grown school feeding programme: a case study of Kano State: what can we learn for public policy reform? Research Report.

PERL-LEAP (2017c) A case study of the implementation of the 2014 Nigeria Health Act.

PERL-LEAP (2019a) Repository for DFID and other Governance Programmes in Nigeria.

- PERL-LEAP (2019b) Operational Strategies for all DFID Governance Programmes in Nigeria.
- **PERL** (n.d.) PERL Kaduna Results Story.
- PERL (2019a) Contextual political economy analysis of Kaduna State.
- **PERL** (2019b) LFTAS citizen engagement in local government reform.
- PERL (2019c) Study of Change in Public Financial Management 2004-2019.
- PERL (2019d) PERL ARIES Self-Assessment.
- PERL (2019e) PERL Most Significant Learn and Adapt Case study.
- PERL (2019f) Updated Context Political Economy Analysis of Kano State 26.09.19
- PERL (2019g) PERL Mid-Term Review.
- PERL (2019h) PERL Most Significant Change Results Story (Outcome Level): Budget reforms.
- PERL (2019i) Jigawa State Political Economy Analysis.
- **PERL** (2019j) Federal Political Economy Analysis June 2019.
- PERL (2019k) Service delivery impact case study: health new results story, Year 2 (2018/2019).

**PERL** (2020a) Rapid evidence synthesis on the results of DFID support to governance reform in Jigawa, Kaduna and Kano (2002–2019). PERL-LEAP Research Report.

- PERL (2020b) Case Study 1: Kaduna Education Reforms (2009–2019).
- PERL (2020c) PERL Governance Assessment (2017-2019) on PFM and PSR processes.
- **PERL** (2020d) PERL Most Significant Change Case Study 2019 2020: MSC 2020/5. Partnership between the Kaduna State Government and Development Partners.
- PERL (2020e) Joint reflection presentation Health.
- PERL (2020f) PERL MS Case Study 7, Evolution of Community Development Charters, May 2020.

**PERL** (2020g) PERL Most Significant Change Case Study 2019–2020: MSC 2020/3 - Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano and Yobe states have successfully accessed World Bank SFTAS performance-based grants, a reflection of reformed PFM systems and an incentive to improve them further.

**PERL** (2020h) Most Significant Change Case Study 8 2019–2020: MSC 2020/8 – Citizen monitoring and ongoing technical support is potentially bringing an important element of accountability into the Kano State Government flagship Free Compulsory Education programme.

**PERL** (2020i) Most Significant Change Case Study 2019–2020: MSC 2020/13 – Implementation of State PWD Law and Improved Opportunities for PWD in Jigawa State.

- PERL (2020j) Most Significant Change Case Study 2019–2020: MSC 2020/12 Accountability Mechanisms to Ensure Free and Better Quality Maternal, Neo-natal and Child Health Care Services – 22 May 2020.
- **PERL** (n.d.) Political economy analysis for federal government level 2019.
- **PERL** (2021a) Most Significant Change Stories Jigawa Due Process and Project Monitoring (MSC 2021 JG-5).
- **PERL** (2021b) Most Significant Change Stories Jigawa Education Reforms (MSC 2021 JG-3).
- PERL (2021c) Most Significant Change Stories Jigawa Health Reforms (MSC 2021 JG-4).
- PERL (2021d) Most Significant Change Stories Jigawa State Fiscal Transparency (MSC 2021 JG-7).

- PERL (2021e) Most Significant Change Stories Kaduna Budget Reform (MSC 2021 KD-1).
- PERL (2021f) Most Significant Change Stories Kaduna Local Governance (MSC 2021 KD-3).
- **PERL** (2021g) Most Significant Change Stories Kaduna Domestic Resource Mobilisation (MSC 2021 KD-4).
- PERL (2021h) Most Significant Change Stories Kaduna Health Reform (MSC 2021 KD-5).
- PERL (2021i) Most Significant Change Stories Kaduna Education Reform (MSC 2021 KD-6).
- PERL (2021j) Most Significant Change Stories Kano Education Reforms (MSC 2021 KN-5).
- PERL (2021k) Most Significant Change Stories Kano Health Financing Reform (MSC 2021 KN-7).
- PERL (2021) Most Significant Change Stories North East Budget Reforms (MSC 2021 NE-1).
- **PERL** (2021m) Most Significant Change Stories Yobe locally-led coordination of recovery efforts (MSC 2021 NE-3).
- Piron, L.-H., Baker, A., Savage, L. and Wiseman, K. (2016) Is DFID getting real about politics? A stocktake of how DFID has adopted a politically-informed approach. DFID Discussion Paper. London: Governance, Open Societies and Anti-Corruption Department (https://thepolicypractice. com/sites/default/files/2020-05/is-dfid-getting-real-about-politics-final-report-march-2016.pdf)
- Piron, L.-H., Ogunbayo, D. and Alutu, U. (2017) Jigawa health sector governance reform. PERL-LEAP Research Report. (www.perlnigeria.net/storage/casestudies/January2018/ WOhMLwi7NTjz1plEsvem.pdf).
- **Punton, M., Vogel, I. and Lloyd, R.** (2016) *Reflections from a realist evaluation in progress: scaling ladders and stitching theory.* CDI Practice Paper 18, Brighton: IDS (www.ids.ac.uk/publications/ reflections-from-a-realist-evaluation-in-progress-scaling-ladders-and-stitching-theory).
- **Rao, K.D., Ramani, S., Hazarika, I. and George, S.** (2014) 'When do vertical programmes strengthen health systems? A comparative assessment of disease-specific interventions in India' *Health Policy and Planning* 29(4): 495–505 (https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czt035).
- **Rasul, I. and Rogger, D.** (2018) 'Management of bureaucrats and public service delivery: evidence from the Nigerian civil service' *Economic Journal* 128(608): 413–446 (https://doi.org/10.1111/ ecoj.12418).
- **Roberts, F.O.N., Nabofa, M.Y. and Odumosu, O.** (2009) *Religions and development in Nigeria: a preliminary literature review.* Working Paper 31. Religions and Development Research Programme, University of Birmingham.
- **Rohwerder, B.** (2019) Disability stigma in the Disability Inclusive Development (DID) programme countries: an overview of the evidence. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (https://core. ac.uk/download/pdf/287772289.pdf).
- **Roll, M.** (2015) 'Pockets of effectiveness: review and analytical framework' in M. Roll (ed.) *The politics of public sector performance: pockets of effectiveness in developing countries.* Abingdon: Routledge.
- **Roy, P.** (2017) 'Anti-corruption in Nigeria: accepting the constraints, and moving forward'. Briefing Paper. Anti-Corruption Evidence (ACE) Research Consortium. SOAS, University of London (https://ace.soas.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ACE-BriefingPaper002-NG-AntiCorruption-171027-LowRes.pdf).

- Saleh, K., Gauthier, B. and Pimhidzai, O. (2020) 'Resource tracking for primary health care in selected states in Nigeria: findings from a prospective public expenditure tracking survey' in H. Wang and P. Berman (eds.) *Tracking Resources for Primary Health Care* (www.worldscientific. com/doi/10.1142/9789811212413\_0007).
- **SAVI** (n.d.) Maternal and child health reform, Kano State (http://savi-nigeria.org/casestudy/ maternalchildhealthreformkano).

SAVI (2015) VFM Analysis – Annual Progress Report.

- Scott, A. and Seth, P. (2013) The political economy of electricity distribution in developing countries: a review of the literature. London: ODI (https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/8332. pdf).
- **Seye, A.** (2021) 'Buhari vs Nigerian media: Facts about media freedom under APC government' *Daily Post*, 21 July (https://dailypost.ng/2021/07/21/buhari-vs-nigerian-media-facts-about-media-freedom-under-apc-govt).
- Sharp, S., Nwachukwu, T. and Srivatsa, S. (2021) Lessons learned from PERL and partners' response to the Covid-19 Crisis. PERL-LEAP Research Report (www.perlnigeria.net/new-version/ resources-for-partners/lessons-learned-from-perl-and-partners>-response-to-the-covid-19-crisis).
- **Sidel, J.T. and Faustino, J.** (2019) *Thinking and working politically in development: coalitions for change in the Philippines.* Mandaluyong city: The Asia Foundation.
- Slater, D. (2008) 'Can Leviathan be democratic? Competitive elections, robust mass politics, and state infrastructural power' *Studies in Comparative Internetional Development* 43, 252–272 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s12116-008-9026-8).
- **SPARC** (2012) Political economy analysis for nine states including summary of strategic implications. Final report.
- SPARC (2016a) State-level governance trend data.
- **SPARC** (2016b) Kano State synthesis: reform journey 2008–2015.
- SPARC (2016c) Jigawa State synthesis: reform journey 2008–2015 (draft).
- **SPARC-SAVI** (n.d.) Lesson from multi-year planning and budgeting in Kaduna State: a historical reflection on the 2010 budget cycle.
- SPARC-SAVI (2009) Political economy analysis Kano State.
- **SPARC-SAVI** (2015) SPARC-SAVI partnership political economy update.
- **Steenbergen, V.** (2016) EDOREN thematic research on 'identifying, recruiting and deploying effective teachers'. Abuja: EDOREN (www.nigeria-education.org/edoren/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/edoren\_thematic\_research\_identifyin\_recruiting\_deploying\_teachers\_jan-24\_2017\_2-51pm.pdf).
- **Steenbergen, V. and Hill, P.-S.** (2016) *Primary school teachers in North-Western Nigeria: policy goals, objectives and challenges.* EDOREN Teacher Synthesis Report (www.nigeria-education.org/ edoren/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/january-18th-2nd-edit\_edoren\_north-western-nigeria.pdf).
- **Steenbergen, V., Nnodu, I., Nwachukwu, T. and Nyager, S.** (2016) Public Financing of Basic Education in Nigeria: an analysis of government budgeting and expenditures on basic school improvement in ESSPIN programme states. Oxford Policy Management and ESSPIN.
- **Tejuoso, O., Alawode, G. and Baruwa, E.** (2018) 'Health and the legislature: the case of Nigeria' *Health Systems and Reform* 4(2): 62–64 (https://doi.org/10.1080/23288604.2018.1441622).

- **te Velde, D., Booth, D., Leipziger, D., and Uneze, E.** (2016) 'Supporting economic transformation in Nigeria' ODI briefing paper (https://odi.org/en/publications/supporting-economic-transformation-in-nigeria).
- **Teskey, G.** (2017) *Thinking and working politically: are we seeing the emergence of a second orthodoxy?* Governance Working Paper Series, Issue 1. Abt Associates (www.abtassociates.com/insights/ publications/white-paper/thinking-and-working-politically-are-we-seeing-the-emergence-of).
- **The Asia Foundation** (2018) 'MEL in adaptive programming: expanding the state of the art'. Practitioner's Forum, 5–6 June, The Makati Shangri-La Hotel, Manila (http://hdl.handle. net/11540/9430).
- **United States Agency for International Development** (2018) 'Local governance activity increases responsiveness of state and local officials to civil society participation' (www.usaid.gov/nigeria/ press-releases/09-06-2018-usaid-local-governance-activity-increases-responsiveness).
- **Usman, Z.** (2019) 'The successes and failures of economic reform in Nigeria's post-military political settlement' *African Affairs* 119(474) (https://doi.org/10.1093/afraf/adz026).
- Uzochukwu, B., Onwujekwe, O. and Mbachu C. (2015) 'Implementing the Basic Health Care Provision Fund in Nigeria: a framework for accountability and good governance'. Health Policy Research Group Policy Brief (https://resyst.lshtm.ac.uk/sites/resyst/files/content/ attachments/2018-08-22/Implementing%20the%20Basic%20Health%20Care%20Provision%20 Fund%20in%20Nigeria.pdf).
- Waddington, H., Sonnenfeld, A., Finetti, J., Gaarder, M. et al. (2019) 'Citizen engagement in public services in low- and middle-income countries: a mixed-methods systematic review of participation, inclusion, transparency and accountability (PITA) initiatives' *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 15(1–2) (https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1025).
- **Warren, D.T.** (2014) 'The politics of labor policy reform' in J.A. Jenkins and S.M. Milkis (eds.) *The politics of major policy reform in postwar America*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Watts, M. (2004) 'Resource curse? Governmentality, oil and power in the Niger Delta, Nigeria' *Geopolitics* (https://doi.irg/10.1080/14650040412331307832).
- Wehner, J. and de Renzio, P. (2013) 'Designing fiscal institutions: the political economy of PFM reforms' in R. Allen, R. Hemming and R. Potter (eds.) *The international handbook of public financial management*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Welham, B., Barnes-Robinson, K., Mansour-Ille, D. and Okhandiar, R. (2018) 'Gender-responsive public expenditure management: public finance management introductory guide'. Policy Brief. London: ODI (https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/12188.pdf).
- Welham, B., Hart, T., Mustapha, S. and Hadley, S. (2017) *Public financial management and health service delivery*. Research Report. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/public-financial-management-and-health-services-delivery).
- **Wescott, C.G.** (2011) 'World Bank support for public financial management: conceptual roots and evidence of impact' *SSRN Electronic Journal* (https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1169783).
- Westhorp, G., Walker, B., Rogers, P., Overbeeke, N. et al. (2014) Enhancing community accountability, empowerment and education outcomes in low and middle-income

*countries: a realist review*. London: EPPI Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ media/57a089f140f0b652dd0004a2/Community-accountability-2014-Westhorp-report.pdf).

- Whitfield, L., Therkildsen, O., Buur, L. and Kjær, A.M. (2015) *The politics of African industrial policy: a comparative perspective.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wild, L., Booth, D., Cummings, C., Foresti, M. and Wales, J. (2015) *Adapting development: Improving services to the poor*. Report. London: ODI (https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/9437.pdf).
- Williams, G., Owen, O., Duncan, A., Kingsmill, W. and Paterson, A. (2019) 'DFID governance programming in Nigeria: what difference has thinking and working politically made in practice?' *Development Policy Review* 37(S1): O33–O49 (https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12438).
- Williams, G. and Owen, O. (2020) FCDO governance programming in Nigeria: what difference has thinking and working politically made in practice? Working Paper 2. The Policy Practice (https://thepolicypractice.com/fcdo-governance-programming-nigeria-what-difference-has-thinking-and-working-politically-made).
- Williams, G., Cummings, C. and Kulutuye, S. (2021a) *The Impact of UK Governance Programming in Nigeria: Education Reforms in Kaduna* (2009–2020). PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- **Williams, G., Derbyshire, H. and Kulutye, S.** (2021b) *Lessons learned from operationalising issuesbased programming: the experience of UK programmes in Nigeria.* PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- Williams, G., Ingawa, N., Amakom, U. and Muhammed, A. (2021c) The Impact of UK Governance Programming in Nigeria: Budget Reforms in Yobe State (2011–2020). PERL-LEAP Research Report.
- **World Bank** (2008) *Nigeria: a review of the costs and financing of public education. Volume 2: Main Report.* Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/8001).
- **World Bank** (2011) *World Development Report 2011: Conflict, Security, and Development.* Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/4389).
- **World Bank** (2015a) *Governance and finance analysis of the basic education sector in Nigeria.* Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/23683).
- **World Bank** (2015b) Programme appraisal document: Program for Results to support The Saving One Million Lives Initiative (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/742331467999078066/ pdf/Nigeria-Program-for-results-to-support-the-saving-one-million-lives-initiative-technicalassessment-report.pdf).
- **World Bank** (2017) Political economy analysis: state fiscal management and accountability in Nigeria. State Fiscal Transparency, Accountability and Sustainability Program for Results, Analytical paper, 7.
- World Bank (2017a) Kaduna State Economic Transformation Program-for-Results 2017–2021 (KSET-PfR) (http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/551311498183420726/pdf/P161998-PD-06-01-17-06012017.pdf).
- World Bank (2017b) Nigeria Partnership for Education Project (P143842), Implementation Status & Results Report (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/447511468097747224/pdf/Nigeria-Nigeria-Partnership-for-Education-Project-P143842-Implementation-Status-Results-Report-Sequence-01.pdf).
- **World Bank** (2018a) Nigeria biannual economic update: investing in human capital for Nigeria's future (www.worldbank.org/en/country/nigeria).

- **World Bank** (2018b) *Resource tracking in health in Nigeria: case study from Niger and Ekiti States* (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/30198).
- **World Bank** (2018c) Overview of the World Development Report 2018: learning to realize education's promise. Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/10986/28340).

World Bank (2020a) Disability inclusion in Nigeria: a rapid assessment. Washington DC: World Bank.

- **World Bank** (2020b) Community participation and teacher accountability: improving learning outcomes in remote areas of Indonesia. Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle. net/10986/33807).
- **World Bank** (2020c) 'Nigeria Development update: rebuilding after COVID-19' World Bank website (www.worldbank.org/en/country/nigeria/publication/nigeria-development-update-rebuilding-after-covid19).
- World Health Organization (2008) 'Nigeria still searching for right formula' *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 86(9): 663–665 (https://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.08.020908).
- Wong, G., Westhorp, G., Manzano, A., Greenhalgh, J. et al. (2016) 'RAMESES II Reporting Standards for Realist Evaluations', *BMC Medicine* 14(1) (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0643-1).
- Yip, W. and Hafez, R. (2015) Improving health system efficiency: reforms for improving the efficiency of health systems: lessons from 10 country cases. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/185989/WHO\_HIS\_HGF\_SR\_15.1\_eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y).

#### **Reviewed websites**

Health Partners International (http://healthpartners-int.co.uk/our-projects/partnership-fortransforming-health-systems-1-nigeria)
Ibrahim Index of African Governance (https://mo.ibrahim.foundation/iiag)
Nigerian National Bureau of Statistics (www.nigerianstat.gov.ng)
PERL (www.perlnigeria.net)
SAVI (http://savi-nigeria.org)
SPARC (http://sparc-nigeria.com)

# Annex 1 List of Interviewees

## Jigawa

Name	Designation
Abubakar Dalha	Former SPARC, State Team Lead, PERL (ARC)
Isa Surajo	Former PATH1 and MNCH2, State Team Lead PERL (ECP)
Rasheed Adebesin	Former SPARC and former Reform Manager, Jigawa State, PERL (ARC); South West Regional Hub, PERL (ARC)
Abdulahi Barde	Former Team Lead W4H
Abubakar Kender	Former Team Lead PATHS2
Ahmad Mustapha	Former Team Lead, ESSPIN
Audu Grema	Former DFID Jigawa and DFID Northern Nigeria Representative
Habeeb Saleh	Former Team Lead, TDP
Dr Hassana Adamu	Former Jigawa State Commissioner for Health, former DFID Jigawa Coordinator, now Lafiya
Dr Kabir Ibrahim Aliyu	Fomer Jigawa Ministry of Health, Executive Secretary, Jigawa State Primary Health Care Development Agency
Adamu Muhd Garun Gabas	Formerly Permanent Secretary, Budget, Permanent Secretary Government House
Yushau Muhammad	Director Planning Research and Statistics, Ministry for Local Government
Aminu Sarkin Hatsi Kudai	Former Director Budget, retired
Ado Hussaini	Director General Due Process & Project Monitoring Bureau
Abdullahi Yunusa	Director General, State Educational Inspectorate and Monitoring Unit
Hajiya Lami Danjani	Director Social Mobilisation, SUBEB
Muhd Inuwa Tahir	Retired from Office Head of Service
Alhaji Muhammad Musa Umar, Dan malikin Gumel	Member, Friends of Democracy Nigeria, Former Permanent Secretary/Ag Secretary to the State Government
Alh Muhammad Muhammad Katanga	Director Planning Research and Statistic State House of Assembly, Secretary House Committee on Health; SAVI and PERL focal person in the SHoA
Alh Aminu Dan mallam	Co-Chair Open Government Partnership, Citizens
Muhammad Garba Malam Madori	Former General Manager, Radio Jigawa
Isa Mustapha	Project Monitoring Partnership
Alh Danjuma Yakubu	Member, Steering Committee, Open Government Partnership (CSO), long career in Jigawa education sector

Name	Designation
Nafisa Halliru	Primary Education-SUBEB/Women Empowerment

## Kaduna

Name	Designation
Ashiru Sani	State Team Lead, PERL (ARC)
Abel Adejor	State Team Lead, PERL (ECP)
Dr Zainab Muhammad-Idris	Former MNCH2 Team Lead, former PATHS2 Team Lead
Mallam Auwal Musa Waziri	State Primary Health Care Management Board; formerly Government staff at facility, ward, LGA and state levels
Chris Umebese	Kaduna State Team Lead, SPARC
Badamasi Musa	Deputy Director, Planning and Budget Commission; former Co-Chair Evidence Committee, KADMAM
Mustapha Jumare	KADMAM and Open Government Partnership Co-Chair (CSO)
Hannatu Ahuwan	Former Kaduna State Programme Manager, M4D

### Kano

Name	Designation
Auwalu Hamza	Former SLGP and SPARC (Jigawa), Jigawa and Kano State Team Lead, PERL (ARC)
Jibrin Giginyu	Former SAVI (Jigawa), State Team Lead, PERL (ECP)
Salisu Yusuf	Civil Society Person – Health
Hafsat Kolo	Civil Society Person – Health
Mairo Bello	Civil Society Person – Education
Akibu Hamisu	Civil Society Person – Education
Olalekan Saidi	Former Team Lead ESSPIN, former Team Lead TDP
Nabila Ismail	Former PATHS2 Officer
Munzali Mustapha	Director of Planning, Research and Statistics, SUBEB
Maryam Umar	Former W4H Officer

## Yobe

Name	Designation
Yusuf Jajere	Regional Team Lead, North East, PERL (ARC)

Name	Designation
Elizabeth Sara	Regional Team Lead, North East, PERL (ECP)
Amina Abdullahi Abubakar	Director of Planning, Research and Statistics of Yobe State of House of Assembly
Atiku Yola	Programme Manager, Yobe EU Resilience Project, Save the Children
Zanna Ali	MNCH2, Lafyia
David Lominyo	Humanitarian Affairs Officer, Head of Sub-Office
Dr Mohammed Goje	Executive Secretary, Yobe State Emergency Management Agency
Baba Shehu	Chairman, Network of Yobe Civil Society Organisation
Gambo Garba Mohammed	Executive Director, Taimako Community Development Initiative
Ibrahim Baba Saleh	Journalist, Daily Trust Newspaper
Ishaku Adamu	Humanitarian and Recovery Platform
Mohammed Baba Kucici	Network of Yobe Civil Society Organisation
Dr Lawan Cheri	Lecturer, Federal Polytechnic, Damaturu
Muazu Alhaji Modu	Voice and Accountability platform – Spotlight Transparency Initiative

## Other PERL staff

Name	Designation
Ifeanyi Peters	National Team Lead, PERL (ARC)
Adiya Ode	National Team Lead, PERL (ECP)
Myani Bukar	National Team Lead, PERL (LEAP)
Ordu Obibuaku	Technical Director, PERL (ARC)
John Mutu	Technical Director, RERL (ECP)
Mark Walker	Former Team Lead SPARC, Technical Adviser PERL (ARC)
Dr Stephen Fraser	Former SLGP and SAVI, Technical Director PERL (ECP)
Margarita Aswani	Former Technical Director, PERL (ARC)
Daniel Bijimi	Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Advisor, PERL (ARC)
Sylvanus Nabena	Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Advisor, PERL (ECP)
Adewale Agbojo	Team Lead, South West Regional Hub, PERL (ECP)